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Ohio Casualty
Corporation is the
holding company of
The Ohio Casualty
Insurance Company,
which is one of six
property-casualty
subsidiary companies
that make up Ohio
Casualty Group’

The Ohio Casualty
Insurance Company
was founded in 1919
and is licensed in 49
states. Ohio Casualty
Group is ranked 48th
among U.S. property—
casualty insurance
groups based on net
premiums written
(Best's Review, July
2004). The Group's
member companies
write auto, home and
business insurance.
Ohio Casualty
Corporation trades on
the NASDAQ Stock
Market under the
symbol OCAS and had
assets of approximate-
ly $5.7 billion as of
December 31, 2004,

2004 Highlights

¢, Our underwriting results were the best in 24 ye
All Lines statutory combined ratio was 98.4%, a‘}’
improvement over 2003. :

C Operating income* I
increased 119.2% Statutory Net Income
compared to 2003 Combined Ratio| Per Share**
108, 2,00,
(> Ohio Casualty
Corporation stock 106} 789
appreciated 33.7% 108, 1.80}
during the year,
significantly better 102 160
than indexes for the 100} '
insurance industry and —
R %t [98.4%
broad financial markets. ' 1.40¢
96L
(> Book value per share
was up 10.7%, or more $ar 1.20}
than $2 per share for 92| $1.18
the year. | gl 2004 |, o020 |, PN

O Cost Structure Efficiency
initiative efforts during 2004 resulted in a projected annual
savings of $25.5 million for 2005.

0 In May 2004, Beth Riczko was named President, Insurance
Operations, overseeing the three operating segments and claims
operation. In addition, Mike Winner was named Chief Financial
Officer of the Corporation.

¢ In June 2004, the Company completed a $200 million Senior
Note offering, providing further financial flexibility to the
Corporation.

¢ In December 2004, Standard & Poor’s affirmed its ratings and
upgraded its outlook from stable to positive. Fitch, Moody’s
and A.M. Best all reaffirmed their ratings.

* Represents a non-GAAP financial measure. See Reconciliation of Net Income to
Operating Income in Management's Discussion and Analysis.

** Diluted Net Income Per Share has been restated for 2003 as required, in accordance
with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Consensus 04-8 “The Effect of Contingently
Conuvertible Debt on Diluted Earnings Per Share.”




Dear Fellow Shareholders,

In 2004, your Company’s
financial results were
the best we’ve had

in decades. This
accomplishment was
recognized with a
return of more than
33% for Ohio Casualty
Corporation stock. We
can state with confi-
dence that we have
turned the corner on the
critical challenges we
faced four yed‘rs\ago and
are aimed squately at
the opportunitiés ahead.

At that time, we
announced a strategic
plan aimed at restoring

]
!
i

our financiat-strength,
finding new ways to
operate more profitably,
and making it easier for
agents to market our
products and services to
their customers. Our
principal goal — then and
now — 1is to create bet-
ter value for you, our
shareholders. We have
made significant
progress in reaching this
goal, especially in
restoring profitability.

Focus on profitability

All three of our property-casualty insurance
operating divisions reported an underwrit-

ing profit in the fourth quarter of 2004 — the

first time we have accomplished that since
the creation of the divisions in 2001. All
three components of the overall statutory
combined ratio improved, with the full year
ratio of 98.4% almost eight points better
than the prior year. Our improved results
reflect strategies we developed then and
have executed relentlessly since that time, as
well as excellent leadership and hard work

by employees and the independent agents

- ‘
Stanley N. Pontius, Lead Director (left),
In May of 2004, we announced a significant and Dan R. Carmichael, CPCU, President
change in management of our operating and Chief Executive Officer
units with the appointment of Beth Riczko
to the new position as President, Insurance Operations. Formerly Chief

who sell our products.

Operating Officer of the Personal Lines Division, Beth now oversees
operations of the three operating segments — Personal, Commercial and
Specialty Lines — and Claims. The new structure has allowed us to improve
our marketing and service efforts to agents and collaboration between the
underwriting and claims units.

Throughout the year, we reaped the benefits of disciplined pricing and under-
writing we have instituted the past four years. Leveraging our use of predictive
modeling, better data, and a deep awareness of our markets has helped us
retain profitable accounts and write new business that meets our guidelines. We
also have seen positive results stemming from prior geographic repositioning
and strengthening of our independent agency management efforts. Going for-
ward, we plan to enhance these competencies to help us grow profitably, while
maintaining our underwriting and pricing discipline.

We accelerated our efforts to reduce expenses in 2004 through several key
initiatives. We completed a nine-month effort to review and improve major
transactional and project-based processes. This initiative resulted in improved
service, more efficient workflow, and staffing reductions. Early in the year, we
announced changes to our retirement plan that resulted in reduced costs while
adding several plan enhancements. We continue to centralize Commercial
Lines policy processing, while maintaining expert field personnel to fully
serve agents and policyholders.

Continued on page 2




Letter to Shareholders - continued from page 1
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We continue to improve our financial strength and
credit ratings. In December 2004, Standard & Poor’s
affirmed its ratings and upgraded its outlook from
stable to positive. Fitch, Moody’s and A.M. Best
reaffirmed their ratings.

Our commitment to technology as a tool for
improving service and processes remains strong.
We have been recognized as technology leaders in
the property and casualty arena, and our list of
awards from industry groups for these efforts con-
tinues to grow.

The active participation of our Board of Directors
has been a key contribution to our turnaround
success. In 2002, we began efforts to add new
outside directors to broaden the knowledge and
experience level of our Board.

We met the additicnal internal control and compli-
ance requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404
and have accomplished this objective.

Stock Performance
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The year 2004 represents a major turning point in terms
of the renewed profitability and increased financial
strength of your Company. But turning the corner does
not mean our journey has ended. You can expect us to
make further progress in 2005 against the operational
and financial goals, even if markets soften, as expected.
We will accomplish those objectives by maintaining our
intense focus on profitable growth through quality
underwriting and pricing; continuing to improve
processes and service as we reduce expenses; furthering
technology as a tool for productivity and efficiency; and
strengthening our agency relationships. We are already
executing detailed plans in each of those areas, building
on the successes of the past year as we move forward in
2005 and beyond.

On behalf of our employees and Board members,
we thank you for your continued support of Ohio
Casualty Corporation.

Sincerely,

Dan R. Carmichael, CPCU
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Stanley N. Pontius
Lead Director

On our cover: A symbol for strength and
value — Our Annual Report design this year
centers on what has been called the single most
magnificent coin in U.S. history: the $20 gold
1907-1933 Double Eagle Saint-Gaudens Liberty.

Commissioned by President Theodore Roosevelt,

the Double Eagle has been praised for its center-
piece beauty and is widely touted as a symbol

| for financial strength and value.




£ three operating segments rewsried an
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Our Personal, Commercial and Specialty Lines divisions
worked together with our Claims operation to deliver
the right mix of products, pricing and service for agents
and policyholders. We improved the efficiency and
effectiveness of our policy processing and claims
handling. With an eye toward providing responsive
field support and cultivating agency relationships, we
fine-tuned our staffing to place an increased emphasis
on agency-dedicated marketing representatives and
underwriters. In 2004 we continued our efforts to
provide broad-based marketing support to agents.

In addition to providing quality marketing materials
and co-branding opportunities, we reaffirmed our
efforts to help agents heighten their visibility through
Trusted Choice® - a national marketing brand for
independent agents.

Continuing our commitment to reducing expenses

and improving service through the use of technology,
during 2004 we introduced system enhancements and
other services to assist agents. A growing number of
agents expressed a desire to outsource the task of pro-
viding routine policyholder service. In response, we
established our Commercial Service Center and contin-
ued the growth of our Personal Lines Service Center.
Agents are responding to the Service Center option and
the ofhe;f tools we offer as a way to leverage their
resources and compete more effectively.

Continued on page 4

Operational Review

The Commercial Service Center began operation in 2004 with
three pilot agencies — including the Roeding Group Companies
of Crestview Hills, KY. Using the Center to serve its small-to-
medium-sized commercial accounts is more cost-efficient for
the agency. The Service Center staff provides seamless, con-

‘ venient service for policyholders — while maintaining the visi-
bility of the agency’s brand. Pictured above, the group includes,
standing, from left: Roeding CL Accounts Manager Misty

Webster; Roeding CL Marketing Underwriter Roberta Stamper;

0CG Regional Manager Bob Fehrenbach; and Roeding
Operations Manager Dan Scherff; seated, left: Roeding Group
Companies President Steve Roeding; and 0CG Commercial
Service Center Manager Debbi Crawford.




ended 2004 with a statutory com-
bined ratio of 99.3%. As a key component of the
Commercial Lines strategy, the retention of attractive
renewal business at appropriate pricing levels is gener-
ating solid growth and improved profitability.

Despite the impact of catastrophes,

has experienced steady improvement in underwriting
results — ending the year with a statutory combined
ratio of 97.6%. As a result of our continued support of
new technologies in Personal Lines, a number of agents
can now quote and issue policies in real time — directly
from their agency management systems.

Overall, ended the year with a 97.2%
statutory combined ratio. The Fidelity and Surety
(Bond) operation continued its stellar performance,
marked by outstanding profitability and slow but
steady growth. Commercial Umbrella faced challenges
in an increasingly competitive market.

Agent Christine Shaffner, right, of the Socorro Insurance
Mart, Inc. of Socorro, NM, is pictured with policyholder
Miran Brown. Along with her husband Donald, Miran owns
Sundance Gifts. When an unusual hailstorm struck in
October, the roof of the gift shop was damaged — along
with many other properties in town. “The response from
Ohio Casualty to this disaster was just fantastic,” Christine
recalls. “The claims reps were in town immediately to help

the victims. Word has spread, and because of that response

| had people come to me specifically to get insurance with
Ohio Casualty.” Claims Representative Gary George, who
handled storm claims in the area, comments on his cus-
tomer service philosophy: “I handle each claim with the
thought of helping policyholders get back to their ‘normal’
life as quickly as possible. Quick response is key, and so is
attitude. Support for the individuals involved is crucial.”

Commercial Lines ........ 993% ..... 112.3%
Specialty Lines ........... 97.2% ...... 77.2%
| Personal Lines ........... 976% ..... 105.6%
AllLines ................. 98.4% ..... 106.1% |-

The operation faced a challenging year. Three
major hurricanes affected policyholders in Florida and
other East Coast states, and the Midwest experienced a
severe winter storm. Our Claims staff uses cutting-
edge technology to help us respond to policyholders as
quickly as possible. Workflow improvement efforts
paid off in 2004 through our ongoing efforts to reduce
claims handling and legal expenses.
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PART |

Item 1. Business

(a) General Development of Business

Ohio Casualty Corporation (the Corporation) was incorporated in Ohio in 1969. With its predecessors, the
Corporation has been engaged in the property and casualty insurance business since 1919. The Corporation
has six direct and indirect subsidiaries which are collectively known as the Ohio Casualty Group (the Group).
The Group actively writes commercial, specialty and personal lines business in over 40 states. The Group
consists of:

s The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company (the Company);
* West American Insurance Company (West American);
+ Ohio Security Insurance Company (Ohio Security);

+ American Fire and Casualty Company (American Fire);
* Avomark Insurance Company (Avomark); and

e Ohio Casualty of New Jersey, Inc. (OCNJ).

On December 1, 1998, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of
the commercial lines division of the Great American insurance Company (GAl) and certain of its affiliates. The
major lines of business included in the acquisition were workers’ compensation, commercial multi-peril,
umbrella, general liability and commercial auto.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, OCNJ entered into an agreement to transfer its obligation to renew private
passenger auto business in New Jersey. This transaction effectively exited the Group from the New Jersey
private passenger auto market beginning in March of 2002. Under the terms of the transaction, OCNJ agreed to
pay $40.6 million to a third party, Proformance Insurance Company (Proformance), to transfer its renewal
obligations. The before-tax amount of $40.6 million was charged to income in the fourth quarter of 2001 with
payments made over the course of twelve months beginning in early 2002. The contract further stipulated that a
premiums-to-surplus ratio of 2.5 to 1.0 must be maintained by Proformance on the transferred business during
the periods of March 2002 through December 2004. If this criteria is not met, OCNJ will have to pay up to a
maximum cumulative amount of $15.6 million to Proformance to maintain this premiums-to-surplus ratio. For
further discussion on this transaction, see ltem 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operation on page 19 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Corporation continually evaluates the competitive environment within the insurance industry. Most high
performing insurance companies, including a number of peer companies, have achieved combined ratios in the
low 90% to 100% range. Also, the surplus positions of many of these companies have strengthened, while at
the same time investment income growth has been constrained by the low yields on new investments. in
addition, the industry took less aggressive price increases in 2004 in most insurance product lines and had an
increased focus on the quality of reinsurers. Recognizing that improved industry results may mean further price
competition, the Corporation has taken steps in 2004 to achieve improved profitability through expense reduction
initiatives while maintaining disciplined underwriting and pricing.

In September 2003, the Corporation announced its Corporate Strategic Plan for the 2004-2006 time frame. The
plan brings together five broad objectives to help achieve the Corporation’s Vision to be a leading super regional
Property and Casualty carrier providing a broad range of products/services through independent agents and
brokers. The broad objectives include the ability to generate above market growth, produce competitive loss
ratios, create a competitive expense structure, achieve a competitive return on equity and improve credit ratings
and financial flexibility. Competitive advantages include strong agency relationships, especially with key agents,
and technology platforms that wiil provide superior operating flexibility. Technology is being leveraged to make it
easier for agents to do business with the Group and to increase pricing and underwriting sophistication.




item1. Continued

(b) Financial Information About Segments

The revenues and operating profit of each reportable segment for the three years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 are set forth in Item 15, Note 13, Segment Information, in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on pages 67 and 68 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The combined ratios and
component ratios for each reportable segment for the three years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are
presented in ltem 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation on
pages 29 and 30 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Narrative Description of Business
Segment Description
Commercial Lines Segment

The Group’s Commercial Lines segment accounted for 57.0%, 55.0% and 52.6% of net premiums written in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, consisting of the following product lines:

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Workers' compensation $132.9 $1324 $143.9
Commercial auto 2335 228.3 2134
General liability 89.5 834 845
CMP, fire and inland marine 372.3 348.5 3204

Total Commercial Lines $828.2 $792.6 $762.2

These product lines include:

¢ Workers’ compensation insurance - insures employers for their obiigations to provide workers' compensation
benefits as required by applicable statutes, including medical payments, rehabilitation costs, lost wages, and
disability and death benefits. These policies also provide coverage to employees for their liability exposures
under the common law;

s Commercial automobile insurance - insures policyholders against third party liability reiated to the ownership
and operation of motor vehicles used in the course of business and property damage to insured vehicles.
These policies may provide uninsured motorist coverage, which provides coverage to insureds and their
employees for bodily injury and property damage caused by an uninsured party;

+ General liability insurance - insures policyholders against third party liability for bodily injury and property
damage, including liability for products sold and covers the cost of the defense of claims alleging such
damages; and

 Commercial multi-peril insurance (CMP) - insures a business against risks from property, liability, crime and
boiler and machinery explosion losses.

Specialty Lines Segment

The Group's Specialty Lines segment accounted for 9.3%, 11.4% and 12.4% of net premiums written in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, consisting of the following product lines:

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Commercial umbrella $ 87.1 $120.9 $132.6
Fidelity and surety 48.4 439 456
Farmowners - 0.1 1.7

Total Specialty Lines $135.5 $164.9 $179.9




Item1. Continued
These product lines include:

 Commercial umbrella insurance - indemnifies policyholders for liability and defense costs which exceed
coverage provided by the underlying primary policies, typicaily commercial automobile and general liability
policies, and provides coverage for some items not covered by underlying policies; and

+ Fidelity and surety - insures against dishonest acts of bonded employees and the non-performance of
parties under contracts, respectively.

Personal Lines Segment

The Group’s Personal Lines segment accounted for the remaining 33.7%, 33.6% and 35.0% of net premiums
written in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, consisting of the following product lines:

(in_millions) 2004 2003 2002
Personal auto incl. personal umbrelia $294.1 $296.8 $3245
Personal property 196.1 187.3 182.0

Total Personal Lines $490.2 $484.1 $506.5

These product lines include personal automobile and homeowners’ insurance sold to individuals.
Marketing and Distribution

The Group is represented by approximately 3,400 independent insurance agencies with approximately 5,300
agents. These agents also represent other unaffiliated companies which may compete with the Group. The six
claim, underwriting and service offices operated by the Group assist these independent agents in producing and
servicing the Group's business.

Certain agencies that meet established profitability and production targets are eligible for “key agent” status. At
December 31, 2004, these agencies represented 16.2% of the Group’s total agency force and wrote 39.8% of its
book of business. The policies placed by key agents have consistently produced a lower loss ratio for the Group
than policies placed by other agents.

The Group targets small business customers for its Commercial Lines segment. The Group’s typical
Commercial Lines customer is a small business with a limited number of employees that needs to conveniently
purchase a package of coverages. For the year 2004, this Commercial Lines customer group, categorized by
commercial liability premium volume, included approximately 76% contractors/artisans, 10% mercantile, 8%
building/premises, and 6% manufacturers. The Group believes this small business customer group offers an
opportunity to achieve superior underwriting results through development and maintenance of strong agent and
customer relationships and application of the Group’s underwriting and pricing expertise.

The Group markets its Specialty Lines segment predominately to policyholders who have purchased commercial
automobile and general liability policies and have a need for additional coverage under umbrella policies to
cover costs which might exceed the underlying policies limits or are not covered under such policies.

The Group markets personal automobile insurance primarily to standard and preferred risk drivers. Standard
and preferred risk drivers are those who have met certain criteria, including a driving record which reflects a low
historical incidence of at-fault accidents and moving violations of traffic laws. The Group does not target “non-
standard” risk drivers who fall outside these criteria.




item1. Continued
Competition

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. The Group competes on the basis of
service, price and coverage. According to AM. Best, based on net insurance premiums written in 2003, the
latest year for which industry-wide comparison statistics are available:

+ more than $415 billion of net premiums were written by property and casualty insurance companies in the
United States and no one company or company group had a market share greater than approximately
11.2%; and

¢ the Group ranked as the forty-eighth largest property and casualty insurance group in the United States.

Regulation
State Regulation

The Corporation's insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulation and supervision in the states in which they are
domiciled and in which they are licensed to transact business. The Company, American Fire, Ohio Security and
OCNJ are all domiciled in Ohio. West American and Avomark are domiciled in Indiana. Collectively, the
Corporation's subsidiaries are licensed to transact business in all 50 states and the District of Columbia.
Although the federal government does not directly regulate the insurance industry, federal initiatives can impact
the industry.

The authority of state insurance departments extends to various matters, including:

s the establishment of standards of solvency, which must be met and maintained by insurers;

o the licensing of insurers and agents;

+ the imposition of restrictions on investments;

e approval and regulation of premium rates and policy forms for property and casualty insurance;
o the payment of dividends and distributions;

o the provisions which insurers must make for current losses and future liabilities; and

» the deposit of securities for the benefit of policyhoiders.

State insurance departments also conduct periodic examinations of the financial and business affairs of
insurance companies and require the filing of annual and other reports relating to the financial condition of
insurance companies. Regulatory agencies require that premium rates not be excessive, inadequate or unfairly
discriminatory. In general, the Corporation's insurance subsidiaries must file all rates for personal and
commercial insurance with the insurance department of each state in which they operate.

State laws also regulate insurance holding company systems. Each insurance holding company in a holding
company system is required to register with the insurance supervisory agency of its state of domicile and furnish
information concerning the operations of companies within the holding company system that may materially
affect the operations, management or financial condition of the insurers. Pursuant to these laws, the respective
departments may examine the parent and the insurance subsidiaries at any time and require prior approval or
notice of various transactions including dividends or distributions to the parent from the subsidiary domiciled in
that state.

These state laws also require prior notice or regulatory agency approval of changes in control of an insurer or its
holding company and of other material transfers of assets within the holding company structure. Under
applicable provisions of indiana and Ohio insurance statutes, the states in which the members of the Group are
domiciled, a person would not be permitted to acquire direct or indirect control of the Corporation or any of its
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insurance subsidiaries, unless that person had obtained prior approval of the Indiana Insurance Commissioner
and the Ohio Superintendent of Insurance. For the purposes of Indiana and Ohio insurance laws, any person
acquiring more than 10% of the voting securities of a company is presumed to have acquired “control” of that
company.

Nationai Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC)

The Corporation’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to the general statutory accounting practices and reporting
formats established by the NAIC. The NAIC also promulgates model insurance laws and regulations relating to
the financial condition and operations of insurance companies, including the Insurance Regulating Information
System.

NAIC model laws and rules are not usually applicable unless enacted into law or promulgated into regulation by
the individual states. The adoption of NAIC model laws and regulations is a key aspect of the NAIC Financial
Regulations Standards and Accreditation Program, which also sets forth minimum staffing and resource levels
for all state insurance departments. Ohio and Indiana are accredited.

The NAIC has developed a “Risk-Based Capital” model for property and casualty insurers. The model is used to
establish standards, which relate insurance company statutory surplus to risks of operations and assist
regulators in determining solvency requirements. The standards are designed to assess capital adequacy and
to raise the level of protection that statutory surplus provides for policyholders. The Risk-Based Capital model
measures the following four major areas of risk to which property and casualty insurers are exposed:

e asset and liability risk;
o credit risk;

e underwriting risk; and
o off-balance sheet risk.

The Risk-Based Capital model law requires the calculation of a ratio of total adjusted capital to Authorized
Control Level risk-based capital. Insurers with a ratio below 200% are subject to different levels of regulatory
intervention and action. Based upon their 2004 statutory financial statements, all insurance companies in the
Group exceeded the necessary statutory capital requirements.

Regulations on Dividends

The Corporation is dependent on dividend payments from its insurance subsidiaries in order to meet operating
expenses, debt obligations and to pay dividends. Insurance regulatory authorities impose various restrictions
and prior approval requirements on the payment of dividends by insurance companies and holding companies.
This regulation allows dividends to equal the greater of (1) 10% of policyholders’ surplus or (2) 100% of the
insurer's net income, each determined as of the preceding year end, without prior approval of the insurance
department.

Dividend payments to the Corporation from the Company are limited to approximately $138.3 million during 2005
without prior approval of the Ohio insurance department based on 100% of the Company's net income for the
year ending December 31, 2004. Additional restrictions limiting the amount of dividends paid by the Company to
the Corporation may result from the minimum net worth and surplus requirements in the Corporation’s revolving
credit agreement as disclosed in Item 15, Note 16, Debt, on pages 69 and 70 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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Pooling Agreement

All of the Company's insurance subsidiaries, except OCNJ, have entered into an intercompany reinsurance
pooling agreement with the Company. The purpose of this agreement is to:

+ pool or share proportionately the results of property and casualty insurance underwriting operations through
reinsurance;

+ reduce administration expenses; and
» broaden each participating insurance subsidiary’s distribution of risk.

Under the terms of the intercompany reinsurance pooling agreement, all of the participants’ outstanding
underwriting liabilities as of January 1, 1984, and all subsequent insurance transactions were pooled. The
participating insurance subsidiaries share in losses in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were based on the following
percentages:

Insurance Subsidiary Percentage of Losses
The Company 46.75%
West American 46.75
American Fire 5.00

Ohio Security 1.00
Avomark 0.50

Effective January 1, 2005, the intercompany reinsurance pooling agreement was revised. The Company, the
lead company of the pool, will assume and retain 100% of the pool's underwriting experience, therefore there will
be no retrocessions to the Company’s insurance subsidiaries.

Investments

The distribution of the Corporation’s and the Group's invested assets is determined by a number of factors,
including:

e rates of return;

+ investment risks;

¢ insurance law requirements;

o diversification;

¢ liquidity needs;

e tax planning;

e general market conditions; and

* business mix and liability payout patterns.

Periodically, the investment portfolios are reallocated subject to the parameters set by management, under the
direction of the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors. Management evaluates the investment portfolio on
a regular basis to determine the optimal investment strategy based upon the factors mentioned above.
Throughout 2002 equity securities were sold, many of which had substantially appreciated in value compared to
earlier periods. This sale program was in response to a decision to reduce equity holdings in favor of investment
grade fixed maturities.

Assets relating to property and casualty operations are invested to maximize after-tax returns with appropriate
diversification of risk. As a result of improved underwriting profitability, the Corporation and Group began to
increase funds invested in tax exempt fixed maturities in 2004. This change will result in lower before-tax



item1. Continued

investment income, but will also be accompanied by a lower effective tax rate on investment income, due to the
tax-exempt status of the securities.

The portfolio strategy, with respect to common stocks, is to focus on large companies with dominant market
positions, excellent profitability and strong balance sheets. Equity securities are marked to fair value on the
consolidated balance sheets. As a result, shareholders' equity and statutory surplus fluctuate with changes in
the value of the equity portfolio. The effect of future stock market volatility is managed by maintaining an
appropriate ratio of equity securities to shareholders’ equity and statutory surplus.

See further detailed information and discussion on the results and liquidity of the Corporation and Group's
investment portfolio in the “Investment Results” section on pages 20-23 and the “Investment Portfolio” section on
pages 43 and 44 of Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operation, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Liabilities for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses (LAE) are established for the estimated ultimate costs of
settling claims for insured events, both reported claims and incurred but not reported claims, based on
information known as of the evaluation date. The estimated liabilities include direct costs of the loss under terms
of insurance policies, as well as lega! fees and general expenses of administering the claims adjustment
process. Because of the inherent future uncertainties in estimating uitimate costs of settling claims, actual
losses and LAE may deviate substantially from the amounts recorded in the Corporation’s consolidated financial
statements. Furthermore, the timing, frequency and extent of adjustments to the estimated liabilities cannot be
accurately predicted since conditions, events and trends which led to historical loss and LAE development and
which serve as the basis for estimating ultimate claims cost may not occur in the future in exactly the same
manner, if at all. As more information becomes available and claims are settled, the estimated liabilities are
adjusted upward or downward with the effect of increasing or decreasing net income at the time of the
adjustments. The effect of these adjustments may have a material adverse impact on the resuits of operations
of the Group.

The following tables present an analysis of losses and LAE and related liabilities for the periods indicated. The
first table represents the impact of current and prior accident years on calendar year losses and LAE. The
second table displays the development of losses and LAE liabilities as of successive year-end evaluations for
each of the past ten years.

Reconciliation of Liabilities for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
(in millions)

2004 2003 2002
Net liabilities, balance as of January 1 $2,131.3 $2,079.3 $1,982.0
Incurred related to:
Current year 958.1 993.3 1,045.4
Prior years (21.8) 34.1 844
Total incurred 936.3 1,027.4 1,129.8
Paid related to:
Current year 354.1 388.6 4236
Prior years 527.4 586.8 608.9
Total paid 881.5 975.4 1,032.5
Net liabilities, balance as of December 31 2,186.1 2,131.3 2,079.3
Reinsurance recoverable 570.3 496.5 354.4
Gross liabilities, balance as of December 31 $2,756.4 $2,627.9 $2,433.7
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Item1. Continued

The accounting policies used to estimate liabilities for losses and LAE are considered critical accounting policies
and are further discussed in the “Critical Accounting Policies” and “Loss and LAE” sections of Item 7,
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, on pages 31 and 39-41
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition loss and LAE liabilities are further discussed in Note 1J,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 9, Losses and Loss Reserves, in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 55 and 66 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Reinsurance

Reinsurance is a contract by which one insurer, called a reinsurer, agrees to cover, under certain defined
circumstances, a portion of the losses incurred by a primary insurer in the event a claim is made under a policy
issued by the primary insurer. The Group purchases reinsurance to protect against large or catastrophic losses.
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Group of their obligations to policyholders. The collectibility of
reinsurance depends on the solvency of the reinsurers at the time any claims are presented. The Group
monitors each reinsurer's financial health and claims settlement performance because reinsurance protection is
an important component of the Corporation’s financial plan. Each year, the Group reviews financial statements
and calculates various ratios used to identify reinsurers who no longer meet appropriate standards of financial
strength. Reinsurers who fail these tests are reviewed and those that are determined by the Group to have
insufficient financial strength are removed from the program at renewal. Additionally, a large number of
reinsurers are utilized to mitigate concentration of risk. The Group also records an estimated allowance for
uncoliectible reinsurance amounts, as deemed necessary. During the last three fiscal years, no reinsurer
accounted for more than 15% of total ceded premiums. As a result of these controls, amounts of uncollectible
reinsurance have not been significant. There are several programs that provide reinsurance coverage and the
programs in effect for 2005 are discussed in the “Reinsurance Programs” section of litem 7, Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, on page 42 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Seasonality
The Group’s insurance business experiences modest seasonality with regard to premiums written, which are
usually highest in January and July and lowest during the fourth quarter. Although written premium experiences
modest seasonality, premiums are earned ratably over the period of coverage. Losses and LAE incurred tend to
remain consistent throughout the year, unless a catastrophe occurs. Catastrophes can occur at any time during
the year from weather-related events that include, but are not limited to, hail, tornadoes, hurricanes and
windstorms.
Employees

At December 31, 2004, the Company had 2,190 employees of which approximately 1,300 were located in the
Fairfield and Hamilton, Ohio offices.

13



item 1. Continued
(d) Financial Information about Geographic Areas

The Group's business is geographically concentrated in the Mid-West and Mid-Atlantic regions. The following
table shows consolidated direct premiums written for the Group's ten largest states:

Ten Largest States
Direct Premiums Written
($ in millions)

Percent Percent Percent

2004 of Total 2003  of Total 2002  of Total
New Jersey $168.5 10.7 New Jersey $166.9 106 New Jersey $186.6 12.1
Pennsylvania 139.6 8.8 Ohio 140.1 89 Ohio 142.7 9.3
Ohio 135.7 8.6 Pennsylvania 129.1 82 Pennsylvania 119.0 7.8
Kentucky 1315 8.3 Kentucky 122.0 78 Kentucky 1154 7.5
Ilinois 75.6 48 Ilinois 81.1 52 [linois 79.5 5.2
North Carolina 75.5 48 North Carolina 77.7 49 North Carolina 75.2 4.9
Maryland 73.2 46 Maryland 70.2 45 Indiana 63.2 4.1
Texas 70.2 44 Texas 65.7 42 Maryland 61.8 40
Indiana 56.6 36 New York 63.3 40 New York 57.9 38
New York 549 35 Indiana 60.9 _39 Texas 55.9 _36
$981.3 6 62.2 $957.2 62.3

2.1 $977.0
(e) Available Information

The Corporation's internet website is www.ocas.com. The Corporation provides a hyperlink to the website of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, www.sec.gov, where the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to these reports (SEC
Reports) are available as soon as reasonably practicable after the Corporation has electronically filed or
furnished them to the SEC. The information contained on the Corporation's website is not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this report except as stated
in Part lit, ltem 10.

Item 2. Properties

The Corporation owns and leases office space in various parts of the country. The principal office buildings
consist of facilities owned in Fairfield and Hamilton, Ohio. These office buildings service all of the Corporation's
segments. The Fairfield, Ohio office building is subject to a mortgage with an outstanding balance of $3.2 million
as of December 31, 2004. For additional information related to the mortgage, refer to Footnote 16 in item 15 on
pages 69 and 70 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

item 3. Legal Proceedings

A proceeding entitled Carol Murray v. Ohio Casualty Corporation, The Ohio Casualty Insurance Co., Avomark
Insurance Co., Ohio Security Insurance Co., West American Insurance Co. (West American), American Fire and
Casualty Insurance Co., and OCNJ was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on
February 5, 2004. A motion to change venue was granted on May 25, 2004 with the proceeding assigned to the
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, Columbus, Ohio. The plaintiff, a former
automobile physical damage claim adjuster, originally sought to certify a nationwide collective action consisting
of all current and former salaried employees since February 5, 2001 who are/were employed to process claims
by policyholders and other persons for automobile property damage. The plaintiff has filed motions to expand
the definition to include claim specialists, representative trainees, and representatives performing claims
adjusting services. The complaint seeks overtime compensation for the plaintiff and the class of persons plaintiff
seeks to represent. The defendants deny the allegations made in the complaint and are vigorously defending
themselves.

14




item 3. Continued

A proceeding entitled Carol Lazarus v. The Ohio Casualty Group was brought against West American in the
Court of Common Pleas Cuyahoga County, Ohio on October 25, 1999. The Court ordered the case to proceed
solely against West American on July 10, 2003. The complaint alleges West American improperly charged for
uninsured motorists coverage following an October 1994 decision of the Supreme Court of Ohio in Martin v.
Midwestern Insurance Company. The Martin decision was overruled legislatively in September 1997. West
American filed a motion for summary judgment on December 16, 2003. Plaintiff fled a motion for class
certification on February 23, 2004. West American has responded to the motion for class cenrtification stating the
motion is untimely (filed more than four years after the initial complaint) and that Carol Lazarus failed to provide
sufficient evidence to satisfy the requirements for class certification.

A proceeding entitled Douglas and Carla Scott v. The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, West American,
American Fire and Casualty Company, and Ohio Security Company was filed in the District Court of Tulsa
County, State of Oklahoma and served on January 3, 2005. The proceeding challenges the use of a certain
vendor in valuing total loss automobiles. Plaintiff alleges that use of the database results in valuations to the
detriment of the insureds. Plaintiff is seeking class status and alleges breach of contract, fraud and bad faith.
The lawsuit is in its early stages and will be vigorously defended.

The proceedings described above and various other legal and regulatory proceedings are currently pending that
involve the Corporation and specific aspects of the conduct of its business. The outcome of these proceedings is
currently unpredictable. However, at this time, based on their present status, it is the opinion of management
that the ultimate liability, if any, in one or more of these proceedings in excess of amounts currently reserved is
not expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, liquidity or results of operation of the
Corporation. :

item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Shareholders

There were no matters submitted during the fourth quarter of the Corporation’s 2004 fiscal year to a vote of
Shareholders through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise.

15



PART 1l

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

(a) The Corporation's common shares, par value $0.125 per share, are traded on the Nasdag Stock Market
under the symbol OCAS. The following table shows the high and low sales prices for the Corporation's
common shares for each quarterly period within the Corporation's last three most recent fiscal years:

High/Low Market Price Per Share

(in dollars)
Quarter 1st 2nd 3rd 4th
2004 High 20.25 20.93 20.95 23.53
Low 17.00 17.80 18.47 19.30
2003 High 13.25 14.66 15.14 17.79
Low 11.38 11.58 12.95 14.13
2002 High 19.50 22.24 20.90 18.40
Low 15.00 18.21 15.56 11.01

(b) On March 1, 2005, the Corporation's common shares were held by 4,724 shareholders of record.

(¢) The Corporation's Board of Directors discontinued the Corporation's regular quarterly dividend in
February, 2001. For further discussion regarding restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Corporation, refer to Item 7, Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operation on page 33 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(d) Incorporated by reference herein from those portions of the Corporation's Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation for 2005 under the heading "Equity Compensation Pians."
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item 6. Selected Financial Data

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS

(all amounts are in accordance with GAAP unless
otherwise noted; number of weighted average shares
and dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Consolidated Operations
Premiums and finance charges earned $ 14468 $ 14244 $ 14505 $ 15067 $ 1,534.0
Investment income, less expenses 201.2 208.7 2071 2124 205.1
Investment gains (losses) realized, net 23.0 35.9 452 182.9 (2.9)
Total revenues 1,671.0 1,669.0 1,702.8 1,902.0 1,736.7
Total expenses 1,484.5 1,561.4 1,709.5 17756 1,866.4
Income (loss) before cumulative effect
of an accounting change 130.0 758 (0.9) 08.6 (79.2)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (1.6) - - - -
Net income (loss) $ 1284 § 758 §$ 0.9 $ 986 § (79.2)
Income (loss} after taxes per average share outstanding - diluted*
Income (loss) before cumulative effect
of an accounting change $ 191 § 118 $ (0.01) § 164 § (1.32)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.02) - - - -
Net income (loss) $ 189 $ 118 $ (0.01) $ 164 § (1.32)
Average shares outstanding - diluted* 71.5 70.2 60.5 60.2 60.1
Total assets $ 57150 $ 51689 $ 4,779.0 $ 45246 $ 44894
Total debt 383.3 198.0 198.3 2102 220.8
Shareholders' equity 1,294.9 1,145.8 1,058.7 1,080.0 1,116.6
Book value per share 20.82 18.80 17.43 17.97 18.59
Dividends per share - - - - 0.59
Property and Casualty Operations
Net premiums written' $ 14539 $ 14416 $ 14486 $ 14722 $ 15054
Net premiums earned 1,446.8 1,424.4 1,450.5 1,506.7 1,533.4
Statutory loss ratio? 53.8% 59.7% 62.2% 66.5% 72.8%
Statutory loss adjustment expense ratio® 10.7% 12.3% 15.7% 13.4% 11.6%
Statutory underwriting expense ratio® 33.9% 34.1% 34.9% 35.4% 34.8%
Statutory combined ratio® 98.4% 106.1% 112.8% 115.3% 119.2%
Property and casualty reserves
Unearned premiums $ 7165 §$ 7030 $ 668.7 $ 666.8 $ 696.4
Losses 2,269.6 2,163.7 1,978.8 1,746.8 1,627.6
Loss adjustment expenses 486.8 464 .1 454 9 4039 376.0
Statutory policyholders’ surplus® $ 9720 $ 8676 $ 7257 $ 7675 $ 8121

"Net premiums written are premiums for ali policies sold during a specific accounting period less premiums returned.

2Statutory loss ratio measures net losses incurred as a percentage of net premiums eamned based upon statutory accounting principals.

3Statutory loss adjustment expense ratio measures loss adjustment expenses as a percentage of net premiums earned based upon statutory
accounting principals.

4Statutory underwriting expense ratio measures underwriting expenses as a percentage of net premiums written based upon statutory accounting principals.

5Statutory combined ratio measures the percentage of premium dollars used to pay insurance losses, loss adjustment expenses and underwriting expenses
based upon statutory accounting principals.

GStatutory policyholders’ surplus is equal to an insurance company's admitted assets minus liabilities based upon statutory accounting principals.

*Adjusted for effect of EITF issue No. 04-8 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, see Footnote 10, Eamings Per Share.
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item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operation

Ohio Casualty Corporation (the Corporation) is the holding company of The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company
(the Company), which is one of six property-casualty companies that make up the Ohio Casualty Group (the
Group). All doliar amounts in this Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) are in millions unless
otherwise noted.

The following discussion of financial condition and results of operation highlights significant factors influencing
the consolidated results and financial position of the Corporation. This discussion should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements and related notes, all of which are integral parts of the following
analysis of the results of operations and financial position.

Executive-Level Overview ‘

The Corporation earns revenue by providing businesses and consumers with competitive insurance products
with high quality service and by income on funds invested. In 2004, the Corporation achieved meaningful
improvement in financial performance. Net income increased in 2004 compared to 2003 as a result of a better
priced book of business through realization of price increases in certain lines and an improved risk profile as a
result of more disciplined underwriting. The statutory expense ratio continued to improve as a result of expense
management initiatives. The statutory combined ratio was the best since 1980.

The 2004 All Lines statutory combined ratio improved to 98.4% compared to 106.1% in 2003 as a result of
significantly improved loss experience, including lower loss adjustment expenses (LAE) because of our cost
reduction programs, which are continuing into 2005. The improved loss experience is the result of disciplined
underwriting and enhanced pricing methodologies the Corporation continues to develop and implement. In
addition, the Corporation experienced favorable prior years reserve development for the first year since 1998.
While full year 2004 premiums increased only slightly when compared to the prior year, the Group’s risk profile
has improved as the focus was on disciplined underwriting, improving pricing methodologies and driving
operational efficiencies and expense reductions throughout the organization. The results of this focus and effort
are discussed throughout the following sections.

In September 2003, the Corporation announced its Corporate Strategic Plan for the 2004-2006 time frame. The
plan brings together five broad objectives to help achieve the Corporation’s Vision o be a leading super regional
Property and Casualty carrier providing a broad range of products/services through independent agents and
brokers. The broad objectives include abilities to generate above market growth, produce competitive loss
ratios, create a competitive expense structure, achieve a competitive return on equity and improve credit ratings
and financial flexibility. Competitive advantages include strong agency relationships, especially with key agents,
and technology platforms that provide operating flexibility. Technology is being leveraged to make it easier for
agents to do business with the Group and to increase pricing and underwriting sophistication. The Corporation
continues to execute against this plan and the Corporation’s results in 2004 are an indication that the plan and
its execution are working.

The key financial indicators management utilizes consist of statutory combined ratios and component ratios on
both a calendar year and accident year basis, gross and net written premium growth, impact of catastrophes,
renewal price increases and investment income growth.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Income

The Corporation reported net income of $128.4, or $1.89 per share, for 2004, compared with $75.8, or $1.18 per
share, for the year 2003, and a net loss of $0.9, or $0.01 per share, in 2002. The Corporation reported operating
income of $115.1, or $1.71 per share, for 2004, compared with $52.5, or $0.84 per share, for the year 2003 and
an operating loss of $30.3, or $0.50 per share, for 2002.
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Item 7. Continued

Management of the Corporation believes the significant volatility of realized investment gains and losses limits
the usefulness of net income (loss) as a measure of current operating performance. Accordingly, management
uses the non-GAAP financial measure of operating income (loss) to further evaluate current operating
performance. Operating income (loss), both in dollar amount and per share amount, is reconciled to net income
{loss) in the table below:

December 31
2004 2003 2002

Operating income (loss) $115.1 $52.5 $(30.3)
After-tax net realized gains 14.9 23.3. 29.4
Cumulative effect of accounting change (1.6) - -
Net income (loss) $128.4 $75.8 $ (0.9)
Operating income/(loss) per

share - diluted $1.71 $0.84 $(0.50)
After-tax net realized gains
per share - diluted 0.20 0.34 0.49
Cumulative effect of accounting change

per share — diluted (0.02) - . -
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $1.89 $1.18 $(0.01)

The Corporation adopted the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Consensus 04-8 “The Effect of Contingently
Convertible Debt on Diluted Eamings per Share” in December 2004 and as required by the EITF restated the
average diluted shares outstanding and diluted net income per share for each of the three years presented in
this MD&A using the “if-converted” method. The impact of the adoption of the EITF was a reduction to diluted
net income per share of $0.16 and $0.06 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
impact of this EITF on operating income per share was a reduction of $0.13 and $0.02 for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The year ended December 31, 2002 was not restated for either net
income or operating income per share as the Corporation incurred a net loss during that year, which resulted in
the calculation being anti-dilutive.

The improved financial results for 2004 were driven by significantly improved loss experience, including lower
LAE, a result of cost reduction programs that have been implemented. The improved loss and LAE ratios are
the result of disciplined underwriting and improved pricing methodologies, reduced claim frequency, a decline in
large losses (losses greater than $250,000 per loss) and favorable prior years reserve development.
Catastrophe losses decreased $0.3 in 2004 to $43.5. During 2004, underwriting and loss adjustment expenses
were impacted by increased severance and other related costs, primarily associated with the Cost Structure
Efficiency (CSE) initiative and expenses related to the Proformance transaction. As previously discussed, in
2001 OCNJ entered into a transaction which effectively exited the Group from the New Jersey private passenger
auto market. Based upon data through December 31, 2003 as provided by Proformance in the first quarter of
2004, the Group estimated and accrued $9.0 (of which $6.8 was paid in July 2004) related to this obligation.
During the second half of 2004, the Group accrued an additional $6.6. At December 31, 2004, the Group has
$8.8 accrued in the consolidated financial statements for any possible additional liability that may be incurred
based upon the final liability calculation using Proformance’s 2004 results. This amount, which is management's
best estimate of the liability, reflects the maximum additional amount that could be required to be paid to
Proformance. The Group expects to resolve the final settlement to be paid to Proformance relative to the
surplus guarantee in the first half of 2005. For additional information on this transaction, see Item 15, Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 8 on pages 64 and 65 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Decreases in personnel and sales related expenses led to the improved results for 2003 compared with 2002.
Staff reductions of 11.2% in 2003 compared to 2002 were the result of the claim department reorganization and
the Lexington and Indianapolis underwriting offices being consolidated into other locations. The loss ratio
improved in 2003 due to tighter underwriting standards and an improved risk profile. In addition, development
on prior accident years' losses and LAE decreased $50.3 before tax from 2002 to $34.1 before tax in 2003.
These improved results were offset by increased catastrophe losses during 2003. Catastrophe losses before tax
more than doubled to $43.8 in 2003 from $20.8 in 2002 resulting from storms that swept through the Midwest
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and the effects of Hurricane Isabel. During 2002, the increase in provision for prior accident years’ losses and
LAE totaled $84.4 before tax and was concentrated in the general liability, commercial auto and personal auto
product lines. The majority of the charge, $62.2 before tax, occurred in the third quarter and was primarily
related to construction defect claims for residential developers and contractors. The Group continues to address
this specific type of business for non-renewal. For further discussion, refer to the "Loss and Loss Adjustment
Expenses" section under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” on pages 39-41 of this MD&A.

Investment Results

Consolidated before-tax net investment income was $201.2 in 2004, compared with $208.7 in 2003 and $207.1
in 2002. The decrease in 2004 consolidated before-tax net investment income of $7.5 is attributable to
reinvestment yields being below average portfolio yields, the strategic decision to invest, or reinvest, more of the
portfolio into tax exempt fixed maturities, increased investment expenses attributable to outside management
fees and the allocation of interest income pertaining to investments held in the reinsurance treaty fund as part of
the Group's reinsurance program. This decrease is partially offset by larger average portfolio holdings during
2004 than in 2003 and a favorable amortization adjustment on certain fixed income securities, with a portion of
this adjustment representing a reclassification from realized gains. The change in investment strategy to invest
more into tax exempt securities is the result of improved profitability. This change in investment strategy will
result in the Corporation's and the Group’s before-tax investment income declining when compared to prior
periods when the strategy was to invest in taxable securities. As a result of this strategy, the Corporation’s and
the Group’s effective tax rate on investment income will be lower when compared to these prior periods.

The increase in 2003 consolidated before-tax net investment income of $1.6 is attributable to an increase in
investment assets held, partially offset by increased investment expenses attributable to the implementation of a
new investment accounting system, lower average yields on its fixed income portfolio, and increased investment
management fees from expanded use of outside investment managers. As part of a conversion to a new
investment accounting system in 2003, before tax investment income was reduced by $5.9 as a result of a
change in accounting estimate relating to amortization of interest only mortgage-backed and asset-backed
securities. Offsetting most of this charge was a $5.3 credit for interest received on a federal income tax
settlement.

Consolidated before-tax realized net investment gains amounted to $23.0, $35.9 and $45.2 for the years ended
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were no significant realized losses on
sales of securities.

In the first quarter of 2003, management decided to transfer a portion of its fixed maturity securities from the
available-for-sale classification into the held-to-maturity classification. This transfer was made as the
Corporation and the Group have both the ability to hold the securities to maturity and the positive intent to do so.
At December 31, 2004, the amortized cost of the held-to-maturity portfolio was $301.4.

Invested assets comprise a majority of the consolidated assets. Consequently, accounting policies related to
investments are critical. See further discussion of important investment accounting policies in the “Critical
Accounting Policies” section of this MD&A and in item 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote
1C on page 54 cf this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Corporation and the Group continually evaluate all of
their investments based on current economic conditions, credit loss experience and other developments. The
difference between the cost and estimated fair value of investments is continually evaluated to determine
whether a decline in value is temporary or other than temporary in nature. This determination involves a degree
of uncertainty. If a decline in the fair value of a security is determined to be temporary, the decline is recorded
as an unrealized loss, net of tax, in shareholders' equity. If there is a decline in a security's fair value that is
considered to be other than temporary, the security is written down to the estimated fair value with a
corresponding realized loss recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

The assessment of whether a decline in fair value is considered temporary or other-than-temporary includes

management's judgement as to the financial position and future prospects of the entity issuing the security. Itis
not possible to accurately predict when it may be determined that a specific security will become impaired.
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Future impairment charges could be material to the results of operations. The amount of the before-tax other-
than-temporary impairment charge recorded was $8.7, $10.5 and $10.9 for the years ended 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. This impairment charge represents less than 0.5% of the market value of the investment
portfolio at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Included in both the 2004 and 2003 impairment
charges were $5.1 and $5.9, respectively, related to fixed maturity securities issued by companies in the airline
industry, Delta Air Lines, Inc. and AMR Corporation specifically.

The following tables summarize for all available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities, the total gross
unrealized losses, excluding gross unrealized gains, by investment category and length of time the securities
have continuously been in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

2004
Available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses:
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized
Losses Losses Losses
Securities:
States, municipalities and
political subdivisions $187.8 $(0.7) $ - $ - $187.8 $(0.7)
Corporate securities 97.7 (1.1) 9.8 (0.3) 107.5 (1.4)
Mortgage-backed
securities:
Other 88.4 (1.2) 16.5 (0.3) 104.9 (1.5)
Total fixed maturities 373.9 (3.0) 26.3 (0.6) 400.2 (3.6)
Equity securities 9.6 0.7) - - 9.6 (0.7)
Short term investments 177.4 {(0.8) - - 177.4 (0.8)
Total temporarily impaired
securities $560.9 $(4.5) $26.3 $(0.6) $587.2 $(5.1)
Held-to-maturity securities with unrealized losses:
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized
Losses Losses Losses
Securities:
Corporate securities $ 85.8 $(1.0) $- $ - $ 858 $(1.0)
Mortgage-backed
securities:
Other 66.8 (0.7) 9.9 (0.1) 76.7 (0.8)
Total temporarily impaired
securities $152.6 $(1.7) $9.9 $(0.1) $162.5 $(1.8)
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2003
Available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses:
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized
Losses Losses Losses
Securities:
U.S. Government $14.8 $(0.1) $ - $ - $ 148 $ (0.1)
States, municipalities and
political subdivisions 9.0 (0.2) - - 9.0 (0.2)
Corporate securities 248.4 (6.5) 37.0 (1.9) 285.4 (8.4)
Mortgage-backed
securities:
Other 2422 (6.8) 18.2 (1.2) 261.4 (8.0)
Total temporarily impaired
securities $514.4 $(13.6) $56.2 $(3.1) $570.6 $(16.7)
Held-to-maturity securities with unrealized losses:
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized Fair Value Unrealized
Losses Losses Losses
Securities:
Corporate securities $106.0 $(1.8) $ 50 $(0.2) $111.0 $(2.0)
Mortgage-backed
securities:
Other 115.7 (1.9) 27.7 (0.6) 143.4 (2.5)
Total temporarily impaired
securities $221.7 $(3.7) $32.7 $(0.8) $254 .4 $(4.5)

Management believes that it will recover the cost basis in the securities held with unrealized losses as it has
both the intent and ability to hold the securities until they mature or recover in value. Securities are sold to
achieve management's investment goals, which include the diversification of credit risk, the maintenance of
adequate portfolio liquidity, a competitive investment yield and the management of interest rate risk. In order to
achieve these goals, sales of investments are based upon current market conditions, liquidity needs and
estimates of the future market value of the individual securities.

As part of its evaluation of the aggregate $6.9 unrealized loss on securities in the investment portfolio at
December 31, 2004, management performed a more intensive review of securities with a higher unrealized loss
percentage when compared with their cost or amortized cost. Based on this review of each security,
management believes that unrealized losses on these securities were temporary declines in value at December
31, 2004. in the table above, there are approximately 180 securities represented. Of this total, 7 securities have
unrealized loss positions greater than 5% of their market values at December 31, 2004, with none exceeding
25%. This group represents $0.8, or 11.6% of the total unrealized loss position. Of this group, 3 securities
representing approximately $0.6 in unrealized losses have been in an uprealized loss position for less than
twelve months. Of the remaining 4 securities in an unrealized loss position for longer than twelve months
totaling $0.2, management believes they will recover the cost basis of these securities, and has both the intent
and ability to hold the securities until they mature or recover in value. All securities are monitored by portfolio
managers who consider many factors such as an issuer's degree of financial flexibility, management
competence and industry fundamentals in evaluating whether the decline in fair value is temporary. In addition,
management considers whether it is probable that all contract terms of the security will be satisfied and whether
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the unrealized loss position is due to changes in the interest rate environment. Should management
subsequently conclude the decline in fair value is other than temporary, the book value of the security is written
down to fair value with the realized loss recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale and held-
to-maturity with an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2004, by contractual maturity, are shown below.
Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

2004
Available-for-sale: Amortized Estimated Unrealized
Cost Fair Value Loss
Due in one year or less $ - $ - $ -
Due after one year through five years 27.3 27.2 (0.1)
Due after five years through ten years 156.4 155.4 (1.0)
Due after ten years 113.7 112.7 (1.0
Mortgage-backed securities 106.4 104.9 (1.5)
Total $403.8 $400.2 $(3.86)
Held-to-maturity: Amortized Estimated Unrealized
Cost Fair Vaiue Loss
Due in one year or less $ 21 $ 21 $(0.0)
Due after one year through five years 240 23.8 (0.2)
Due after five years through ten years 52.3 51.7 (0.6)
Due after ten years 8.4 8.2 (0.2)
Mortgage-backed securities 77.5 76.7 (0.8)
Total $164.3 $162.5 $(1.8)

For additional discussion relative to the Corporation’s investment portfolio, see the “Investment Portfolio” section
under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” on pages 43 and 44 of this MD&A.

Agent Relationships Asset

The Corporation maintains an identifiable intangible asset referred to as "Agent Relationships.” See the “Critical
Accounting Policies” section of this MD&A on page 32 for additional information. In 2004, the before-tax
amortization and impairment costs related to this asset were $20.6 compared with $18.7 in 2003 and $79.7 in
2002. At December 31, 2004, the largest individual agent asset carrying value was $5.6, which represents the
maximum future impairment charge for an individual agent, compared to $5.9 at December 31, 2003. Based
upon historical performance of this agent, it is unlikely the agent will become impaired or cancelled in the near
term. For the approximately 250 individual agents remaining that represent the total agent relationships
intangible asset, the average asset carrying value as of December 31, 2004, was $0.5 which compares to
approximately 300 agents with an average asset carrying value of $0.5 at December 31, 2003. The larger than
usual impairment charge in 2002 was due primarily to the recognition that certain agents experienced sustained
premium revenue trends that were significantly different from prior estimates, resulting in changes in estimated
future cash flows for those agents.

Internally Developed Software

The Group has introduced into production, for certain lines of business, an internally developed software
application for issuing and maintaining insurance policies named P.A.R.1.S.5", a policy administration, rating and
issuance system. During 2004 and 2003, the Group capitalized application development costs associated with
the Personal Lines segment, which is expected to begin rollout in 2006. In addition, in December 2004, the
Group began rollout for the Specialty Lines segment. The Specialty Lines segment rollout is expected to
continue throughout 2005. During 2002, the Group substantially completed the rollout for the Commercial Lines
operating segment. A rollout begins when the application has been placed into service for one or more states
for an individual major product line and ends when the application is placed into service for the final state. The
rollout period can exceed one year for an individual major product line. The Group capitalizes costs incurred
during the application development stage, primarily relating to payroll and payroll-reiated costs for employees,
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along with costs incurred for external consultants who are directly associated with the internal-use software
project. The cost associated with this application is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of ten years from the date placed into service with before-tax amortization expense of $3.1, $2.6 and $1.3 for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Capitalized internally developed software costs (including P.A.R.1.S.*™ and
other internally developed software) and accumulated amortization are summarized in the table below:

2004 2003
Cost $55.2 $52.0
Accumulated amortization 11.4 7.2
Carrying value $43.8 $44.8

For additional information relative to the internally developed software, see the “Critical Accounting Policies”
section of this MD&A on page 32.

All Lines Discussion

Statutory Results

Management uses statutory financial data to analyze the Group's property and casualty results and insurance
industry regulators require the Group to report statutory financial measures. Management analyzes statutory
resuits of operations through the use of insurance industry financial measures including statutory loss and LAE
ratios, statutory underwriting expense ratio, statutory combined ratio, net premiums written and net premiums
earned. The statutory combined ratio is a commonly used gauge of underwriting performance measuring the
percentage of premium dollars used to pay insurance losses and related expenses. The combined ratio is the
sum of the loss, LAE and underwriting expense ratios. All references to combined ratio or its components in the
MD&A are calculated on a statutory accounting basis and are calculated on a calendar year basis unless
specified as calculated on an accident year basis. A discussion of the differences between statutory accounting
and generally accepted accounting principles in the United States is included in Item 15, Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, Footnote 15 on page 69 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Insurance industry financial measures are included in the next several sections of this MD&A that discuss
results of operations. Statutory surplus, a financial measure that is required by insurance regulators and used to
monitor financial strength, is discussed in the “Statutory Surplus® section of the "Liquidity and Capital
Resources" section on page 37 of this MD&A.

Premium Revenue Results

Premium revenue reflects premiums earned by the Group. The Group’s premiums are earned principally on a
monthly pro rata basis over the term of the policy. Management analyzes premium revenues primarily by
premiums written in the current period. Net premiums written differ from gross premiums written by premiums
ceded to reinsurers.

The table below summarizes property and casualty premiums on a gross and net basis compared with the same
period of the prior year for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively:

% Chg % Chg
December 31, 2004 2003
2004 2003 2002 vs. 2003 vs. 2002
Gross Premiums Written
Commercial Lines $ 856.2 $ 8244 $ 7966 3.8% 3.5%
Specialty Lines 251.5 271.9 2352 (7.5)% 15.6%
Personal Lines 496.7 494 1 520.6 0.5% (5.1)%
All Lines $1,604.4 $1,590.4 $1,552.4 0.9% 2.4%
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% Chg % Chg
December 31, 2004 2003
2004 2003 2002 vs. 2003 vs. 2002
Net Premiums Written
Commercial Lines $ 828.2 $ 7926 $ 762.2 4.5% 4.0%
Specialty Lines 135.5 164.9 179.9 (17.8)% (8.3)%
Personal Lines 490.2 484.1 506.5 1.3% (4.4)%
All Lines $1,453.9 $1,441.6 $1,448.6 0.8% (0.5)%

Statutory net premiums written increased $12.3 in 2004 to $1,453.9. The increase in statutory net premiums
written over 2003 reflects the Group's improved retention ratios and price increases. Net premiums written for
2004 include negative impacts for higher reinsurance costs and lower new business production. Net premiums
written totaled $1,441.6 in 2003 and $1,448.6 in 2002. The slight decline of net premiums written in 2003 when
compared to 2002 is primarily attributable to the Group's withdrawal from select markets and implementation of
stricter underwriting guidelines, including the non-renewal of certain construction defect related risks. In
addition, the decline in net premiums written from 2002 to 2003 reflects the impact of higher reinsurance costs.

The Group's business is geographically concentrated in the Mid-West and Mid-Atlantic regions. The following
table shows consolidated net premiums written for the Group's five largest states for each of the last three years:

All Lines Net Premiums Written Distributed by Top States

2004 2003 2002
New Jersey 11.5% 11.1% 12.5%
Pennsylvania 9.1% 8.5% 7.9%
Ohio 8.9% 9.2% 9.4%
Kentucky 8.8% 8.2% 7.7%
Hinois 4.9% 5.3% 5.3%

New Jersey remains the Group's largest state, with 11.5% of the total net premiums written during 2004, even
after the Group ceased writing in the New Jersey private passenger auto and personal umbrella markets in early
2002. The Group continues to underwrite other product lines in the New Jersey market.

Commercial Lines gross and net premiums written increased in 2004 and 2003, a result of policy renewal rate
increases as new business gross written premium has remained relatively flat. Renewal pricing increased
during 2004, 2003 and 2002, but the rate of increase slowed as the Commercial Lines segment approached
price adequacy and competitive pricing pressures in the marketplace have increased. The 2004 average
renewal price increase' was 5.0% for Commercial Lines direct premiums written, compared with 11.4% and
16.3% average renewal price increases in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Specialty Lines gross and net premiums written decreased in 2004, a result of lower new business production
and higher reinsurance costs in the commercial umbrella product line partially offset by growth in the fidelity and
surety product line. Net premiums written for the commercial umbrella product line decreased $33.8 or 28.0% in
2004 to $87.1, compared with $120.9 in 2003 and $132.7 in 2002. Fidelity and surety net premiums written
increased 10.2% to $48.4 million, compared to $43.9 million and $45.6 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Stricter underwriting guidelines for certain classes of business and market prices falling below what the Group
believes are acceptable levels, contributed to the decline in new business production for the commercial
umbrella product line. The net premiums written decline from 2002 to 2003 was impacted by higher reinsurance
costs, including the addition of a ceding commission and increased reinsurance rates per dollar of premium.
The addition of ceding commissions on the 2003 and 2004 reinsurance contracts causes a corresponding
increase to ceded premiums. Average renewal price increases for the commercial umbrella product line were
8.0%, compared to 18.1% in 2003 and 37.6% in 2002.

'When used in this report, renewal price increase means the average increase in premium for policies renewed by the Group. The average increase in premiums for
each renewed policy is calculated by comparing the total expiring premium for the policy with the total renewal premium for the same policy. Renewal price increases
include, among other things, the effects of rate increases and changes in the underlying insured exposures of the policy. Only policies issued by the Group in the
previous policy term with the same policy identification codes are included. Therefore, renewal price increases do not include changes in premiums for newly issued
policies and business assumed through reinsurance agreements, including Great American business not yet issued in the Group’s systems in 2002. Renewal price
increases also do not reflect the cost of any reinsurance purchased on the policies issued.
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Personal Lines gross premiums written remained relatively flat during 2004 and net premiums written increased
$6.1. Both gross and net premiums written were reduced in 2004 due to a refund of escrowed premiums for
North Carolina personal auto of $2.2. The personal auto including personal umbrella product iine net premiums
written decreased $2.7 to $294.1 in 2004 compared to $296.8 and $324.6 in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
decrease in Personal Lines gross and net premiums written from 2002 to 2003 is driven by the withdrawal from
New Jersey private passenger auto, which began in 2002, and the Group’s continued effort to narrow the
geographic focus for Personal Lines products.

The following table provides key financial measures for All Lines for each of the last three years:

December 31
2004 2003 2002
All Lines
Loss ratio 53.8% 59.7% 62.2%
Loss adjustment expense ratio 10.7% 12.3% 15.7%
Underwriting expense ratio 33.9% 34.1% 34.9%
Combined ratio 98.4% 106.1% 112.8%

The All Lines combined ratio improved 7.7 points driven by a 7.5 point improvement in the loss and LAE ratios.
The loss and LAE ratio was impacted by favorable prior year reserve development of $21.7 in 2004 compared to
adverse reserve development of $34.1 in 2003, which reduced the 2004 loss and LAE ratio by 1.4 points and
increased the 2003 loss and LAE ratio by 2.4 points. The remaining improvement of 3.7 points in the 2004 loss
and LAE ratio over 2003 was due to improved price adequacy, more disciplined underwriting standards and
improved claims efficiency. The underwriting expense ratio improved 0.2 points as a result of operational
efficiencies implemented throughout 2003 and 2004, somewhat offset by $15.8, or 1.1 points of expense related
to the Proformance surplus guarantee.

The All Lines combined ratio improved 6.7 points in 2003 compared to 2002 with an improved underwriting
expense ratio as well as lower loss and LAE ratios each contributing to the improvement. The All Lines
combined ratio was impacted by $34.1 of adverse prior year reserve development, a $50.3 reduction from 2002.
The 2003 combined ratio benefited from a reduction in personnel and sales related expenses, somewhat offset
by increased expenses for technology including amortization of internally developed software.

The loss and LAE ratio components of the accident year combined ratio measure losses and LAE arising from
insured events that occurred in the respective accident year. The current accident year excludes losses and
LAE for insured events that occurred in prior accident years.

The table below summarizes the impact of changes in provision for all prior accident year losses and LAE for
each of the last three years:

2004 2003 2002
Statutory net liabilities, beginning of period $2,128.9 $2,078.7 $1,982.0
Increase in provision for prior accident
year claims $(21.7) $34.1 $84.4
Increase in provision for prior accident
year claims as % of premiums earned (1.4)% 2.4% 5.8%

In 2004, the impact of the favorable development for prior accident years’ losses and LAE was concentrated in
the Commercial and Specialty Lines operating segments. In 2004, the Specialty Lines segment experienced
significant favorable development for prior years’ losses and LAE, primarily due to a reduction in estimated
future costs for claims adjuster related expenses. The total provision reduction for prior years’ losses and LAE
of $21.7 before-tax represents 1.0% of loss and LAE reserves as of year-end 2003.

During 2003, the Group reported adverse development of $34.1 for prior years' losses and LAE, representing

1.6% of loss and LAE reserves as of year-end 2002. This adverse development was concentrated in the
Commercial and Personal Lines operating segments.
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The comparable amount of adverse development for prior years' losses and LAE recognized during 2002 was
$84.4 before tax. This represents 4.3% of loss and LAE reserves as of year-end 2001. The adverse
development was concentrated in the Commercial Lines operating segment.

The 2002 combined ratio includes a reallocation of LAE reserve estimates related to claims adjuster salaries,
benefits and similar costs from the Commercial and Specialty Lines segments, to the Personal Lines segment.
This increased the 2002 Personal Lines segment combined ratio by 1.5 points and decreased the Commercial
and Specialty Lines segments combined ratios by 0.6 and 2.4 points, respectively.

Catastrophe losses in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $43.5, $43.8 and $20.8, respectively. The Group was
impacted by 22 separate catastrophes in 2004, compared with 21 catastrophes in 2003 and 25 in 2002. The
Group uses the serial number assigned by Property Claims Services, a unit of the Insurance Services Office, to
define and track losses for specific catastrophes. Property Claims Services defines catastrophes as industry
events that cause $25.0 or more in direct insured losses to property. The effects of future catastrophes on the
Corporation’s results cannot be accurately predicted. As such, severe weather patterns, acts of war or terrorist
activities could have a material adverse impact on the Corporation’s results, reinsurance pricing and availability
of reinsurance.

Catastrophe losses, net of reinsurance, for each of the last three years were:

Catastrophe Losses '
(before tax) 2004 2003 2002

Dollar Impact $43.5 $43.8 $20.8
Statutory Combined
Ratio Impact 3.0% 3.1% 1.4%

The seven-year historical catastrophe impact on the loss ratio compared to 2004 actual for alt lines of business
was:

Loss Ratio Point Impact Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual
1997-2003 Historical Average 1.6% 4.7% 3.1% 0.8% 2.6%
2004 Actual 0.8 3.2 6.4 1.5 3.0

The underwriting expense ratio, which measures underwriting expenses as a percentage of net premiums
written, decreased by 0.2 points in 2004. The 2004 underwriting expense ratio was favorably impacted by a
reduction in employee related costs, a non-recurring reduction in assessments, fees and premium taxes and by
other operating efficiencies. These improvements were partially offset by 1.1 points of expense related to the
Proformance surplus guarantee, previously discussed. The employee count continued to decline in 2004 with
an approximate 18.0% reduction from 2003 as a resuit of the CSE initiative. The employee count was 2,190,
2,669 and 3,004 as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The 2003 underwriting expense ratio was favorably impacted by a reduction in employee related costs and lower
sales related expenses as a percentage of premiums, and was partially offset by higher expenses related to
investments in technology. Sales related expenses for 2003 included the resumption of a ceding commission for
certain layers of commercial umbrella reinsurance and agent bonus commission levels which were higher than
2002.

The year 2002 underwriting expense ratio experienced upward pressure due to two factors with a total impact of
approximately 1.6 points. These two factors were the non-renewal of the New Jersey private passenger auto
business, which had lower commission rates and lower variable processing costs than most other business and
the elimination of ceding commissions on umbreila premiums ceded to reinsurers, which had reduced expenses
in previous years. The 2002 commission expense ratio, a component of the underwriting expense ratio, was at a
relatively high level due to higher than expected umbrella net premiums written, which had a relatively high
commission rate on a net of reinsurance basis and to higher than expected accruals for agent bonus
commissions.
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The 2004, 2003 and 2002 statutory underwriting expenses also included $6.3, $5.2 and $2.6 of software
amortization expense before tax, respectively, related to the rollout of P.AR.1.S*". On a statutory accounting
basis, the new application is being amortized over a five-year period (compared to ten-year period under GAAP)
in accordance with statutory accounting principles. The additional amortization expense is expected to be offset
in part by reduced labor costs related to underwriting and policy processing.

In 2001, the Group introduced into operation, after more than three years of development, the Policy
Administration Rating and Issuance System (P.A.R..S.°") for Commercial Lines. At the end of 2004,
P.A.R.1.S.°™ was deployed for the Specialty Lines commercial umbrella excess capacity product line. Further
implementation for other Specialty and Personal Lines products is expected during 2005 and 2006.

The P.AR.I.S.®" system provides the policy administration environment used internally by the Group’s
associates. An extension of P.AR.I.S " called P.AR.l.S. Express®™ leverages the P.AR.LS.* system to
provide functionality to our agents. P.AR.|.S. Express®™ is a proprietary internet interface that uses the
P.AR.IS " system to provide real-time functionality through a web browser to our agents. in addition, the
Group is simultaneously introducing P.A.R.1.S. Connect®™ which allows agents to transact with the Group directly
from their agency management system.

For Commercial Lines, P.AR.L.S. Express®™ and P.A.R.L.S. Connect®™ currently provide agents with on-line
quoting capability. In February of 2005 P.A.R.1.S. Express™™ was extended to support issuance and
endorsement processing for selected pilot agents; nationwide roll-out is expected during 2005. Personal Lines
currently offers on-line and real time quoting and issuance for new business and endorsements through existing
(non- P.AR.L.S.®™) systems.

Agents want a cost effective, timely and simple system for issuing and maintaining insurance policies. P.AR.1.S.
Express®™ and P.A.R.I.S. Connect™™ are the cornerstone in the Group’s strategy of focusing on superior agent
service. The success of this strategic plan depends in part on the ability to provide agents with the technological
advantages of these tools. If they do not work as expected, or fail to satisfy agents’ needs, the Group may lose
business to insurers with preferred technologies.

Segment Discussion

The Corporation is organized around three business units: Commercial, Specialty and Personal Lines. These
business units represent the Corporation's operating segments as well as its reportable segments. Within each
operating segment are distinct insurance product lines that generate revenues by selling a variety of
commercial, surety and personal insurance products. The Commercial Lines operating segment sells
commercial multiple peril, commercial auto, general liability and workers’ compensation insurance as its primary
products. The Specialty Lines operating segment sells commercial umbrella, excess insurance and fidelity and
surety insurance as its primary products. The Personal Lines operating segment sells personal automobile and
homeowners insurance as its primary products. The Corporation also has an all other segment, which derives
its revenue from investment income. The following table provides key financial measures for each of the
property and casuality reportable segments and product lines:
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Statutory Earned Premium and Combined Ratios
' Combined Ratios

2004 Accident Accident . Accident

(by operating segment, including Earned Year Year Year
selected major product lines) Premium 2004 2004(a) 2003 2003(a) 2002 2002(a)
Commercial Lines $ 8079 99.3% 101.1% 112.3% 103.7% 115.1% 100.0%
Workers’ compensation 132.6 115.4% 112.3% 123.0% 111.8% 129.2% 112.9%
Commercial auto 229.6 90.3% 98.2% 105.5% 101.1% 1102%  94.9%
General liability 86.6 105.0% 105.6% 1226% 109.5% 171.3% 109.9%
CMP, fire & inland marine 359.1 97.5% 97.7% 109.7% 100.8% 95.8% 84.6%
Specialty Lines 150.3 97.2% 103.3% 772%  88.5% 94.0% 87.1%
Commercial umbrelia 105.1 103.8% 108.7% 80.5% 926% 97.7% 92.2%
Fidelity & surety 45.2 78.9% 88.1% 68.1% 76.0% 81.7% 71.9%
Personal Lines 488.4 97.6% 97.2% 105.6% 101.4% 114.1% 111.5%

Personal auto incl. personai

umbrelia 295.7 104.7% 103.3% 107.0% 102.8% 116.5% 113.5%
Personal property 192.7 86.8% 87.6% 103.3% 98.9% 108.6% 107.2%
Total All Lines $1,446.6 98.4% 99.8% 106.1% 101.2%  112.8% 103.5%

(a) The loss and LAE ratio component of the accident year combined ratio measures losses and LAE arising from insured events that occurred in the respective
accident year. The current accident year excludes losses and LAE for insured events that occurred in prior accident years. Accident year 2004 as of December
31, 2004 measures insured events for the twelve months of 2004. Accident year 2003 as of December 31, 2004 measures insured events for the twelve months
of 2003 with remaining related liabilities estimated as of December 31, 2004. Accident year 2002 as of December 31, 2004 measures insured events for the
twelve months of 2002 with remaining related liabilities estimated as of December 31, 2004. Accident periods may not be comparable due to seasonality, claim
reporting and development pattems, claim settlement rates and other factors.

Commercial Lines Segment

2004 2003 2002
Commercial Lines Segment

Loss ratio 52.9% 61.4% 60.8%
Loss adjustment expense ratio 12.1% 14.5% 18.0%
Underwriting expense ratio 34.3% 36.4% 36.3%
Combined ratio 99.3% 112.3% 115.1%

The Commercial Lines combined ratio for the year 2004 decreased 13.0 points due to a significantly lower loss
ratio as a result of improved pricing and underwriting quality in addition to favorable development on prior year
reserves. Favorable claim frequency trends, driven in part by underwriting actions, and improved pricing helped
to offset the Commercial Lines claim severity trend. The 2004 combined ratio included 1.9 points of favorable
development on loss and LAE reserves from prior years, compared to adverse development of 5.3 points in
2003 on loss and LAE reserves from prior years. The decline in the combined ratio also included a 2.1 point
improvement in the underwriting expense ratio primarily as a result of staff reductions and employee benefit
changes.

The combined ratio improved from 2002 to 2003 by 2.8 points, in spite of $41.0 or 5.3 points of adverse
development on loss and LAE reserves. The 2002 combined ratio was impacted by $73.9 or 10.2 points of
adverse prior year development of loss and LAE reserves. Of this amount, approximately $51.6 related to
construction defect issues, which added 7.1 points to the combined ratio for 2002,

Commercial Lines results for 2004 included higher than expected catastrophe losses which added 2.4 points to
the Commercial Lines combined ratio in 2004, compared to 2.6 points and 0.5 points in 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The workers' compensation product line combined ratio was 115.4% in 2004 a decline of 7.6 points compared to

123.0% in 2003 and 129.2% in 2002. Although the Group has taken actions to improve workers’ compensation
results with higher pricing and a conservative underwriting posture, this product line continues to perform at an
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unprofitable level. The current results continue to be negatively impacted by assessments for the National
Workers’ Compensation Pool (NWCP) residual market. The impact of the NWCP residual market added 4.8
points to the workers’ compensation combined ratio in 2004 compared to 4.5 points in 2003. The NWCP
residual market lowered the 2002 combined ratio by 1.5 points. The Group's assessments have a larger
percentage impact than those reported by the industry due to historical concentration of business in states with
inactive pools. In addition, the concentration of the Group’s business in a few states with limited pricing flexibility
provides less opportunity to address issues specific to the workers' compensation product line. These issues
are offset by the Group’s approach to writing workers' compensation as part of an overall Commercial Lines
account, where underwriters look to ensure that the pricing for the entire account is adequate.

The general liability product line combined ratio was 105.0% in 2004 a decline of 17.6 points compared to
122.6% in 2003 and 171.3% in 2002. This line is exposed to construction defect issues which are being
addressed through strict underwriting standards for certain classes of business that are more prone to
construction defect claims. In addition, the Group has introduced policy language changes to limit exposure to
‘broadening court interpretations of additional insured and contractual general liability provisions within the policy.

Specialty Lines Segment

2004 2003 2002
Specialty Lines Segment
Loss ratio 42.7% 28.7% ' 39.0%
Loss adjustment expense ratio 4.8% 5.0% 11.0%
Underwriting expense ratio - 49.7% 43.5% 44.1%
Combined ratio 97.2% 77.2% 94.1%

Specialty Lines combined ratio for 2004 increased 20.0 points. Given the volume and nature of the coverage,
the Specialty Lines combined ratio is subject to more volatility than the other product lines. The 2004 combined
ratio included $9.3, or 6.2 points, of favorable development on prior year loss and LAE reserves compared to
$21.3, or 13.1 points, in 2003 and $2.2, or 1.4 points, in 2002.

The fidelity and surety product lines contributed to the favorable results for this segment. The fidelity and surety
combined ratio increased to 78.9% in 2004, compared with 68.1% in 2003 and 81.7% in 2002. The 2004 fidelity
and surety combined ratio included $4.2 of favorable development on prior accident year loss and LAE reserves
compared to $5.5 in 2003 and $1.2 in 2002. The 2003 fidelity and surety combined ratio also benefited from
lower overall losses (in both frequency and severity) for this product line. in 2002, there was a return of ceded
premium of $5.3 million before tax for the fidelity and surety business, which lowered the combined ratio by 10.8
points. This return of ceded premium was due to the exercise of a contractual option on the bond reinsurance
treaty based on highly favorable bond combined ratios over the past fourteen years.

The 2004 commercial umbrella combined ratio was 103.8% compared to 80.5% and 97.7% in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The 2004 combined ratio included 4.8 points of favorable development on prior year loss and LAE
reserves compared to 12.7 points and 1.1 points in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in the
commercial umbrella combined ratio over 2003 is also the result of a $6.1 reinstatement accrual, which
increased the 2004 combined ratio by 6.2 points and a reduction in net premiums written of 28.0%, putting
upward pressure on the combined and component ratios for this product line.

Personal Lines Segment

2004 2003 2002
Personal Lines Segment

Loss ratio 58.7% 67.5% 70.5%
Loss adjustment expense ratio 10.0% 11.0% 14.0%
Underwriting expense ratio 28.9% 27.1% 28.6%
Combined ratio 97.6% 105.6% 114.1%
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The Personal Lines combined ratio for 2004 decreased 8.0 points. The 2004 improvement was partially driven
by increased pricing and improved underwriting such as increased deductibles on homeowner's policies. In
addition, adverse prior years reserve development was 0.5 points in 2004 compared to 3.0 points in 2003 and
2.2 points in 2002. Offsetting these improvements was the addition of 3.2 points of expense for the Proformance
guarantee, as discussed previously. In 2004, the Group completed its withdrawal of Personal Lines business
from Florida, Georgia and Texas.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management of the Corporation has identified the policies listed below as significant accounting policies that are
critical to the Corporation’s business operations and influence the consolidated results of operations and
financial performance. The policies listed below were selected as they require a higher degree of complexity or
use subjective judgements or assessments. Changes in these judgements, assessments or estimates could
have a material adverse impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. These policies follow
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. A brief summary of each critical accounting policy
follows. Management discusses the development and selection of these accounting policies with the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed the Corporation’'s MD&A. For a
complete discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see ltem 15, Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 1 on pages 54-56 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The Group establishes reserves for losses and LAE equal to the estimated amount required to settie both
reported and incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) claims. For each reported claim, a case reserve is
established within the parameters of coverage provided in the specific insurance policy. For IBNR claims,
additional loss amounts needed for reported claims and LAE, reserves are estimated using generally accepted
actuarial methods. Estimates for loss and LAE reserves are developed using the facts in each case, the
Group’s experience with similar cases, the effects of current developments and anticipated trends. The methods
and assumptions used in making such estimates are continually reviewed and updated when considered
appropriate. Reserves established in prior years are adjusted as loss experience develops and new information
becomes available. Adjustments to previously estimated reserves, both positive and negative, are reflected in
the consolidated financial statements in the periods in which they are made and are referred to as prior period
development. Because of the high degree of uncertainty involved in estimating loss and LAE reserves, revisions
to estimated reserves could have a material impact on the results of operations of the Group.

Investments

All investment securities are classified upon acquisition as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale. Fixed
maturity securities classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost as management has the ability and
positive intent to hold the securities until maturity. Available-for-sale securities are those securities that would
be available to be sold in the future in response to liquidity needs, changes in market interest rates and asset-
liability management strategies, among others. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with
unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported as a component of other comprehensive
income, net of deferred tax. Transfers of fixed maturity securities into the held-to-maturity category from the
available-for-sale category are made at fair value at the date of transfer. The unrealized holding gain or loss at
the date of transfer is retained in other comprehensive income and in the carrying vaiue of the held-to-maturity
securities. Such amounts are amortized over the remaining life of the security. Equity securities are carried at
quoted market values and include non-redeemable preferred stocks and common stocks. The difference
between cost and quoted market value, net of deferred taxes, is classified as other comprehensive income. The
Corporation and the Group closely monitor the fixed maturity and equity portfolios for declines in value that are
deemed to be other than temporary. Investments are regularly evaluated based on current economic conditions,
credit loss experience and other specific developments. If a decline in a security’s fair value is considered to be
other than temporary, the security is written down to the estimated fair value with a corresponding realized Ioss
recognized in the current consolidated statement of income.

Mortgage-backed securities are amortized over a period based on estimated future principal payments, including

prepayments. Prepayment assumptions are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect actual prepayments
and changes in expectations. Upon receipt of payments from such securities, the appropriate amount of the
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funds are allocated between a reduction of principal and interest income. In making this aflocation decision,
investment personnel consider such factors as the origina! estimated average life of the investment, the amount
of funds received to date and the timing of future cash flows. Variations from prepayment assumptions will affect
the life and yield of these securities. These securities are evaluated for impairment by computing the net-
present-value of expected future cash flows and comparing this to the prior period estimate of expected future
cash flows from the security. When the timing and/or amount of cash expected to be received from the security
has changed materially and adversely from the previous valuation, the security is considered to be other than
temporarily impaired and the amortized cost is written down to the estimated fair value with a realized loss
recorded in the current consolidated statement of income.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

The Group establishes a deferred asset for costs that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring property
and casualty insurance business. The acquisition costs deferred consist principally of commissions, brokerage
fees, salaries and benefits and other underwriting expenses to include allocations for inspections, taxes, rent
and other expenses that vary directly with the acquisition of insurance contracts. These costs are amortized
over the life of the underlying policies. Quarterly, an analysis of the asset is performed in relation to the
expected recognition of revenues including investment income to determine if any deficiency exists. No
deficiencies have been indicated for the periods presented.

Agent Relationships

The agent relationships asset is an identifiable intangible asset representing the excess of cost over the fair
value of net assets acquired in connection with the 1998 GAI commercial lines acquisition. This purchase price
was allocated to specifically identifiable intangible assets based on their estimated values as determined by
appropriate valuation models. The agent relationships asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over an
estimated useful life of twenty-five years. The estimated useful life was based on the Group’s actual experience
for agency appointment terms for similar agents, which averaged approximately twenty-five years in length. The
estimated useful life is evaluated on an annual basis or as events or circumstances arise that may impact the
useful life of the asset. The asset is evaluated quarterly as events or circumstances, such as cancellation of
agents, indicate a possible inability to recover the carrying amount. Cancellation of certain agents for reasons
such as lack of revenue production or poor quality of business produced does not necessarily change the
estimated useful life of the remaining agents representing the agent relationships intangible asset. Such
evaluation is based on various analyses, including cash flow and profitability projections that incorporate, as
applicable, the impact on existing company businesses. The analyses involve significant management
judgments to evaluate the capacity of an acquired business to perform within projections. If future undiscounted
cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment ioss is recognized in
income in the period in which the future cash flows are identified to be insufficient in comparison to the carrying
amount of the asset. Due to the inherent uncertainties and judgements involved in developing assumptions for
each agent, further reductions in the valuation of the agent relationships asset are likely to occur in the future.

Internally Developed Software

In accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” the Group capitalizes costs incurred during the application development
stage for the development of internal-use software. These costs primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related
costs for employees along with costs incurred for external consultants who are directly associated with the
internal-use software project. Costs such as maintenance, training, data conversion, overhead and general and
administrative are expensed as incurred. Management believes the expected future value of the asset exceeds
the carrying value. Management evaluates the asset on an annual basis for impairment. The costs associated
with the software are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of ten years commencing
when the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plan Actuarial Assumptions

The Company’s pension and postretirement benefit obligations, related costs and contributions are calculated
using actuarial methods in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (FASB) No. 87,
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” and FASB 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
than Pension.” These actuarial valuations involve key assumptions including discount rates and expected return
on plan assets, which are reviewed by management on a annual basis, or more frequently as needed. Any

32




Item 7. Continued

adjustments to these assumptions are based on considerations of current and future market conditions, which
can result in changes to the future related benefit obligations, related costs and contributions incurred by the
Company. For additional discussion relative to pension and postretirement benefit plan assumptions, see the
section entitled “Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits” of this MD&A on pages 37-39 and item 15, Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 5, pages 59-62 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
For disclosure related to recently issued accounting standards, refer to ltem 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, Footnote 19 on page 71 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flow

Net cash generated from operations was $270.0 compared with $168.7 and $148.2 in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The increase in net cash for the years 2004 and 2003 compared to 2002 is due primarily to a
reduction in paid losses and LAE of $98.0 in 2004 and $57.2 in 2003, a result of the improved loss experience
discussed above. During 2003, the increase in cash was partially offset by an increase in payments to
reinsurers for premium cessions, contingent commission bonus payments to agents and the final payments of
the replacement carrier fee for New Jersey private passenger auto business. The increase in the reinsurance
recoverable asset did not significantly impact cash flow in 2004 and 2003 since there was a corresponding
increase in liabilities for most of the increase in this asset. The reinsurance recoverable asset at December 31
2004 and 2003, increased $73.8 and $172.8 with $73.6 and $144.1 due to increases in loss and LAE reserves
for future loss payments expected to be paid by reinsurers along with other components as shown in Item 15,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 7 on page 64 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Investing activities used net cash of $274.4 in 2004, compared to $175.6 in 2003 and $173.7 in 2002. Cash
used in investing activities increased $98.8 in 2004 due to the net proceeds received from the issuance of the
Senior Notes in June 2004 and reinvestment of the cash generated from operations. Cash used in investing
activities remained relatively flat in 2003 compared to 2002 as fewer fixed maturity securities were purchased as
prepayments on mortgage backed securities were reduced in 2003, leaving less cash inflow to reinvest. Cash
inflows from the sale of property and equipment increased over 2002 as the Group sold a building located in
Lexington, Kentucky including the related office equipment and land for sales proceeds of $4.6.

Total cash generated from financing activities was $200.1 in 2004, compared to $1.6 in 2003 and cash used of
$4.6 in 2002. Cash provided by financing activities in 2004 resulted from net proceeds of approximately $198.0
from the issuance of 7.3% Senior Notes in June 2004, in addition to the exercise of stock options, partially offset
by the repurchase of $12.5 of the Corporation's Convertible Notes and normal principal payments on the State of
Ohio loan. Cash provided by financing activities in 2003 resulted from the exercise of stock options partially
offset by principal payments on the State of Ohio loan. This compares to cash used for financing activities in
2002, which included the repayment of the Corporation's $205.0 credit facility and issuance of the Convertible
Notes with net proceeds of $194.0.

Overall, total cash generated in 2004 was $195.7, compared with net cash used in 2003 and 2002 of $5.3 and
$30.1, respectively. The Corporation did not pay any shareholder dividends for the years presented. On a
reguiar basis management analyzes the profitability and capital position of the Group and the liquidity of the
Corporation, including the Corporation's evaluation of whether to reinstitute a dividend to shareholders of the
Corporation or a share repurchase program.

The Corporation is dependent on dividend payments from its insurance subsidiaries in order to meet operating
expenses and debt obligations. Insurance regulatory authorities impose various restrictions and prior approval
requirements on the payment of dividends by insurance companies. As of December 31, 2004, approximately
$138.3 of statutory surplus was not subject to prior dividend approval requirements. Additional restrictions may
result from the minimum net worth and surplus requirements in the credit agreement as disclosed in ltem 15,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 16 on pages 69 and 70 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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The Corporation has been examined by the Internal Revenue Service for the tax years 1997 through 2001 and is
currently in the process of finalizing a settlement. The Corporation believes that the ultimate settiement of these
years will not have a material adverse impact on its financial position or results of operations and has provided
adequate book reserves for any matters that may not be resolved as part of the settlement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Corporation did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as
defined by Financial Release - 67, “Disclosure in Management's Discussion and Analysis about Off-Balance
Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations.”

The following table presents the Corporation's obligations to make future payments under contractual obligations
as of December 31, 2004:

Payments Due by Period

More than
Less than 1-3 3-5 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years years
Losses and benefits for policyholders* $2,756.4 $664.3 $884.8 $537.5 $669.8
Long-term debt** 342.3 15.3 30.7 30.6 265.7
Operating leases 20.0 54 8.8 4.8 1.0
Purchase obligations 316 18.2 11.3 2.1 -
Other long-term liabilities*** 1176 90.8 18.5 8.3 -
Total contractual cash
obligations $3,267.9 $794.0 $954.1 $583.3 $936.5

* The amounts presented are estimates of the dollar amounts and time periods in which the Group expects to pay its gross loss and LAE reserves. These
amounts are based upon historical payment patterns and do not represent actual contractual obligations. The actual payment amounts and the related timing of
those payments could differ significantly from these estimates. See ltem 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 9 on page 66 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and discussed separately below.

**Excluded from long-term debt obligations are the Convertible Notes with outstanding principal of $188.8 and semi-annual interest payments of $4.7. For
additional disclosure, see Item 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 16 on pages 69 and 70 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the
Debt section below.

**Excluded from other long-term liabilities are pension obligations which are described in ltem 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 5 on
pages 59-62 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and disclosed separately below.

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revised Interpretation No. 46 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(FIN 46), an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51. FIN 46 requires a variable interest entity
(VIE) to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if certain criteria are met. The Corporation
currently holds an equity investment, representing a 49% interest, in APM Spring Grove, inc. (APM), which was
deemed a variable interest entity in accordance with FIN 46. As a result, the entity was consolidated into the
Corporation’s financial statements during the first quarter of 2004, which resulted in a $1.6 loss, net of tax, due
to a cumulative effect of an accounting change. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its
involvement with APM is $3.3. See Item 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 18 on page
71 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Debt

On June 29, 2004, the Corporation issued $200.0 of 7.3% Senior Notes due June 15, 2014 (Senior Notes). The
net proceeds from the issuance after related fees and discount were $198.0. In the fourth quarter 2004, the
Corporation used part of the net proceeds to repurchase $12.5 of the $201.3 aggregate principal amount of its
5.00% Convertible Notes due March 19, 2022, (Convertible Notes) and intends to use the remainder of the net
proceeds to redeem the remainder of its Convertible Notes. The Corporation may also use the net proceeds to
repurchase shares of its common stock in an amount up to the equivalent number of shares issued if holders
convert their Convertible Notes into shares of the Corporation’s common stock. The repayment of the
Convertible Notes will reduce the potential for significant future share and earnings dilution. Until the funds are
needed for such purposes, the Corporation has invested the net proceeds from the Senior Notes in short-term
marketable securities. Interest is payable on the Convertible Notes on March 19 and September 19 and payable
on the Senior Notes on June 15 and December 15.
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The Convertible and Senior Notes are reported on the consolidated balance sheets net of unamortized
issuance-related costs and discount of $8.7 ($6.3 related to the Convertible Notes and $2 .4 related to the Senior
Notes) and $6.9 (all related to the Convertible Notes) at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
Corporation uses the effective interest rate method to record interest expense, amortization of issuance-related
costs and amortization of the discount.

Holders of the Convertible Notes have the option to require the Corporation to purchase all or a portion of the
Convertible Notes on March 19 of 2007, 2012 and 2017 at 100% of the principal amount. Further, if a change in
control, as defined in the indenture, of the Corporation occurs anytime prior to maturity, holders may require the
Corporation to purchase for cash all or a portion of the Convertible Notes at 100% of the principal amount.

Under certain conditions, at the option of the holders, the Convertible Notes may be converted into shares of the
Corporation's common stock at the rate of 44.2112 shares per $1,000 principal amount, subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances. If the closing sale price of the Corporation's common stock for at least twenty of the thirty
consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of a calendar quarter is more than $24.88, then the
Convertible Notes may be converted during the immediately following calendar quarter. Additionally, the
Convertible Notes may be converted when the credit rating of the Convertible Notes is below a specified level or
withdrawn, or when certain corporate transactions occur. At December 31, 2004, if all the outstanding
Convertible Notes were converted, total outstanding common shares would increase by 8.3 million shares
compared to 8.9 million shares at December 31, 2003.

After March 22, 2005, the Corporation has the option to redeem all or a portion of the outstanding Convertible
Notes at the following redemption prices, expressed as percentages of the principal amount of the Notes:

During the twelve Redemption
months commencing Price
March 23, 2005 102%
March 19, 2006 101%

March 19, 2007 until maturity of the notes 100%

On February 22, 2005, the Corporation announced that it has commenced an exchange offer under which the
Corporation is offering to exchange up to 3184.3 of new 5.00% Convertible Notes due 2022 for an equal
principal amount of its currently outstanding Convertible Notes. The exchange offer is being made pursuant to
Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The new notes will have substantially similar terms
to the old notes, except that the new notes will include a net share settlement feature and a cash exchange fee
payable to the holder of the old notes in an amount equal to 0.35% of the principal amount of the old notes
exchanged. The net share settlement feature will require the Corporation upon conversion to pay cash up to the
principal amount of the new notes and pay any conversion consideration in excess of the principal amount in
common shares. The exchange offer will expire at 12:00 midnight EST on March 21, 2005, unless extended or
terminated by the Corporation. The Corporation plans to redeem all or a portion of the new notes and the old
notes, to the extent any remain outstanding, shortly after the completion of this exchange offer. The Corporation
intends to use the proceeds of the Senior Note offering discussed above to accomplish this redemption. In
2005, prior to the commencement of this exchange offer, the Corporation repurchased $4.5 of the Convertible
Notes in unsolicited negotiated transactions.

The impact of the Convertible Notes on diluted earnings per share is based upon the "if-converted" method. In
accordance with EITF 04-8, all diluted earnings per share amounts have been restated since the issuance of the
Convertible Notes in March 2002. See ltem 15, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 10 on
pages 66 and 67 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

On July 31, 2002, the Corporation entered into a revolving credit agreement expiring on March 15, 2005. Under
the terms of the revolving credit agreement, the lenders agreed to make loans to the Corporation in an
aggregate amount up to $80.0 for general corporate purposes. interest is payable in arrears, and the interest
rate on borrowings under the revolving credit agreement is based on a margin over LIBOR or the LaSalle Bank
Prime Rate, at the option of the Corporation. The Corporation has capitalized approximately $0.4 in fees related
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to establishing the line of credit and amortizes the fees over the term of the agreement with a remaining
unamortized balance at December 31, 2004, of less than $0.1 compared to $0.2 at December 31, 2003. In
addition, the Corporation is obligated to pay agency fees and facility fees of up to $0.2 annually. These fees are
expensed when incurred by the Corporation. The revolving credit agreement requires the Corporation to
maintain minimum net worth of $800.0. The credit agreement also includes a minimum statutory surplus for the
Company of $650.0. Additionally, other financial covenants and other customary provisions, as defined in the
agreement, exist. At December 31, 2004, the Corporation was in compliance with all financial covenants and
other provisions of this agreement. There were no amounts outstanding under this revolving credit agreement at
either December 31, 2004 or 2003. In February 2005, the revolving credit agreement was renewed, under
substantially the same terms and conditions, for one year and will expire on March 15, 2006.

In addition to the debt described above, the Corporation has a $6.5 loan with the State of Ohio that is secured by
a mortgage on the Corporation’s home office property. As of December 31, 2004, the loan bears a fixed interest
rate of 3%, compared to an interest rate of 2% at December 31, 2003. The loan requires annual principal
payments of approximately $0.6 and expires in November 2009. The remaining balance at December 31, 2004,
was $3.2 compared to $3.9 at December 31, 2003.

Interest expense incurred for the period ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $17.5, $10.1 and $9.5,
respectively. The increase in interest expense incurred during 2004 is related to the issuance of the Senior
Notes.

Rating Agencies
Regularly the Group's financial strength is reviewed by independent rating agencies. These agencies may
upgrade, downgrade, or affirm their previous ratings of the Group. These agencies may also place an outlock

on the Group’s rating.

On September 6, 2002, AM. Best Company {A.M. Best) affirmed the Group’s financial strength rating of "A-"
and assigned a positive outlook. In addition, A.M. Best assigned an initial rating of “bbb” to the Corporation's
Convertible Notes. On August 22, 2003, A.M. Best revised its debt rating criteria and assigned a "bbb-" to the
Corporation’s Convertible Notes. On December 8, 2003, A.M. Best affirmed the Group’s “A-" financial strength
rating and the Corporation's “bbb-* senior unsecured debt rating and assigned stable outlooks on the ratings.
On June 23, 2004, A M. Best assigned a "bbb-" rating and a stable outlook to the Corporation's 7.3% Senior
Notes.

On March 14, 2002, Fitch, Inc. (Fitch) assigned its “BBB-" rating to the Corporation’s Convertible Notes and
placed a stable cutlook on its rating. On November 5, 2002, Fitch affirmed its “BBB-" rating and stable outlook
on the Corporation’s Convertible Notes. On January 21, 2004, Fitch assigned a financial strength rating of "A-"
to the Group and also affirmed its "BBB-" senior debt and long term issuer ratings. On June 24, 2004, Fitch
assigned a "BBB-" rating to the Corporation’s 7.3% Senior Notes. On December 21, 2004, Fitch affirmed its
financial strength rating of "A-" and re-affirmed its "BBB-" senior debt and long term issuer ratings. The rating
outiook remains at stable.

On March 13, 2002, Moody’s Investor Services (Moody’s) assighed its “Baa2” rating to the Corporation’s
Convertible Notes. On November 27, 2002, Moody’s downgraded the Group’s “A2” financial strength rating to
*A3" and placed a stable outlook on the Group's rating. Moody’s also announced that it placed a “Baa3” rating
on the Corporation’s Convertible Notes. On June 16, 2003, Moody's affirmed its "Baa3" rating on the
Convertible Notes and affirmed the "A3" insurance financial strength ratings on the Group's intercompany pool.
Moody's also placed a stable outlook on its ratings. In addition, Moody's also assigned prospective ratings to the
$500 universal shelf registration filed on May 8, 2003. The prospective ratings for senior unsecured debt,
subordinated debt and preferred stock were "Baa3", "Ba1" and "Ba2", respectively. On June 29, 2004, Moody’s
assigned a "Baa3" rating to the Corporation’s 7.3% Senior Notes.
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On March 11, 2002, Standard & Poor's Rating Services (S&P) removed its negative outiook and placed a stable
outlook on the Group’s “BBB” financial strength rating. S&P also announced that it assigned its “BB” senior debt
rating to the Corporation’s Convertible Notes. Following the Corporation’s announcement of third quarter 2002
results, S&P revised its outlook to negative from stable and indicated that the Group's financial strength rating
would be reviewed for possible downgrade. On April 30, 2003, S&P affirmed its "BBB" financial strength rating
for the Group and maintained its negative outlook. On May 13, 2003, S&P assigned prospective ratings to the
Corporation’s universal shelf. The prospective ratings for senior unsecured debt, subordinated debt and
preferred stock were "BB", "B+" and "B", respectively. On February 13, 2004, S&P revised its outlook to stable
and affirmed its financial strength and debt ratings on the Group and the Corporation. On June 28, 2004, S&P
assigned a "BB" rating to the Corporation’s 7.3% Senior Notes. On December 29, 2004, S&P revised its outiook
to positive from stable, affirmed its "BBB" financial strength rating on the Group's intercompany pool, and
affirmed its "BB" senior unsecured debt rating on the Corporation.

Following is a summary of the Corporation’s current ratings and rating outlooks as of December 31, 2004:

A.M. Best Fitch Moody's S&P
Financial strength rating A- A- A3 BBB
Senior unsecured debt rating bbb- BBB- Baa3 BB
Rating outlook Stable Stable Stable Positive

Generally, credit ratings affect the cost and availability of debt financing. Often, borrowers with investment
grade credit ratings can borrow at fower rates than those available to similarly situated companies with ratings
that are below investment grade, and the availability of certain debt products may be greater for borrowers with
investment grade credit ratings. Currently, the Corporation is a “split-rated” borrower, having investment grade
ratings from A.M. Best, Fitch and Moody’s and below investment grade debt rating from S&P. While influenced
by conditions in the credit markets, it is reasonable to anticipate that the Corporation’s split rating will result in a
higher cost of borrowing as compared to borrowers with only investment grade credit ratings. The recent
improvement in the rating outlook by S&P is a positive development in the Corporation’s rating profile.

Statutory Surplus

Statutory surplus, a traditional insurance industry measure of financial strength and underwriting capacity, was
$972.0 at December 31, 2004, compared with $867.6 at December 31, 2003. Statutory surplus increased 12.0%
from 2003 resulting primarily from statutory net income.

The ratio of net premiums written to statutory surplus is one of the measures used by insurance regulators to
gauge the financial strength of an insurance company and indicates the ability of the Group to grow by writing
additional business. At December 31, 2004, the Group's net premiums written to surplus ratio was 1.5 to 1
compared to 1.7 to 1 in 2003.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) has developed a "Risk-Based Capita!" formula for
property and casualty and life insurers. The formula is intended to measure the adequacy of an insurer's capital
given the asset and liability structure and product mix of the company. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, all
insurance companies in the Group exceeded the necessary capital requirements.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company sponsors a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan and a contributory postretirement
healthcare plan. Several statistical and other factors, which attempt to anticipate future events, are used in
calculating the expense and liability related to the plans. Key factors include assumptions about the expected
rates of return on plan assets, discount rates, rate of compensation increases and health care cost trend rates,
as determined by the Company, within certain guidelines. Management reviews the assumptions used in the
valuations on an annual basis, or more frequently as needed. The Company considers market conditions,
including changes in investment returns, interest rates and inflation in making these assumptions.
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The Company determines the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets based on the geometric method,
which represents the average compound return of the plan assets. Plan assets are comprised primarily of
investments in mutual funds, common stocks, corporate bonds, U.S. government securities, real estate
investment trusts and other investments. The Company considers the current level of expected returns on risk
free investments, primarily government bonds, the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other
asset classes, current and expected asset allocation and the expectations for future returns of each asset class
when developing the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption. The expected return for each
asset class is weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on
assets assumption for the portfolio. This resulted in the selection of the 8.75% assumption for 2004 and 2003.
The expected rate of return on plan assets is a long-term assumption and generally does not change annually.
Holding all other assumptions constant, a one-percentage-point increase or decrease in the assumed rate of
return on plan assets would decrease or increase, respectively, 2005 net periodic pension expense by
approximately $2.5.

In determining the discount rate assumption, the Company utilizes current market information including analysis
of the Moody's "Aa" Corporate Bond Index Rate, analysis provided by plan actuaries and independent survey
data on similarly positioned companies. As regards to the analysis provided by plan actuaries, a discounted
cash flow model of the plan’s benefit obligations was developed using an interest rate yield curve to make
judgments regarding the appropriate discount rate for both its pension and postretirement medical benefit
obligations. The yield curve is comprised of bonds with at least an "Aa" rating with maturities primarily between
zero and thirty years. This resulted in the selection of 5.95% for 2004 and 6.15% for 2003.

Unrecognized losses of approximately $49.7 are being recognized over approximately a 13-year period, which
represents the average future service period of active participants. Unrecognized gains and losses arise from
several factors including experience and assumption changes in the obligations and from the difference between
expected and actual returns on plan assets. These unrecognized losses will be systematically recognized as an
increase in future net periodic pension expense in accordance with FASB Statement No. 87, "Employers’
Accounting for Pensions.”

The Company expects to contribute approximately $8.0 to fund the pension plan during 2005. The source for
the funding will be cash flow from operating activities.

Key assumptions used in determining the amount of the obligation and expense recorded for postretirement
benefits other than pensions (OPEB), under FASB Statement No. 106, "Employers’ Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” including the assumed discount rate and the assumed rate of
increases in future health care costs, are reviewed by management on an annual basis, or more frequently as
needed. In estimating the health care cost trend rate, the Company considers its actual health care cost
experience, future benefit structures, industry trends and advice from its third-party actuaries. The Company
assumes that the relative increase in health care costs will generally trend downward over the next several
years, reflecting assumed increases in efficiency in the health care system and industry-wide cost containment
initiatives. At December 31, 2004, the expected rate of increase in future health care costs was 10% for 2005,
declining to 5% in 2014 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed heaith care cost trend by one percentage point
in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004, by
approximately $5.1 and increase the postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $0.9. Likewise, decreasing the
assumed health care cost trend by one percentage point in each year would decrease the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004, by approximately $4.6 and decrease the
postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $0.7.

The actuarial assumptions used by the Company in determining its pension and OPEB retirement benefits may
differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower turnover
and retirement rates or longer or shorter life spans of participants. While the Company believes that the
assumptions used are appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may materially
affect the Company'’s financial position or results of operations.
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In 2004, the Company announced changes to its defined benefit retirement plan and defined postretirement
health care plans. The Company’s traditional defined benefit retirement plan was amended to freeze accrued
benefits effective June 30, 2004, and to incorporate a new benefit formula beginning July 2004. As a resuit of
this change in the defined benefit retirement plan, the Company recognized a reduction in net periodic pension
cost of $1.9 in 2004 attributable to the amortization of unrecognized prior service cost and has a remaining
unrecognized prior service cost of $28.9 at December 31, 2004, which will be ratably recognized over the next
13 years as a reduction of net periodic pension cost. Also effective in July 2004, eligibility for subsidized retiree
medical and dental coverage was restricted to then current retirees and employees with 25 or more years of
continuous service. Other employees are eligible for access to unsubsidized retiree medical and dental
coverage. As a result of this change in the defined postretirement benefit plan, the Company recognized a
reduction in net periodic postretirement cost of $5.0 in 2004 attributable to the amortization of unrecognized prior
service cost and has a remaining unrecognized prior service cost of $54.3 at December 31, 2004, which will be
ratably recognized over the next 9 years as a reduction of net periodic postretirement cost.

For more information on the Company’s pension and other postretirement benefit plans, please refer to Iltem 15,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 5 on pages 59-62 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The Group's largest liabilities are reserves for losses and LAE. Loss and LAE reserves are established for all
incurred claims without discounting for the time value of money and before credit for reinsurance recoverable.
Actual losses and LAE are adjusted upward or downward as new information is received. These reserves
amounted to $2.8 billion and $2.6 billion at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31,
2004, the reserves by operating segment were as follows: $1.7 billion Commercial Lines, $0.7 billion Specialty
Lines and $0.4 billion Personal Lines.

The Group’s actuaries conduct a reserve study using generally accepted actuarial methods each quarter from
which point estimates of ultimate losses and LAE by product line or coverage within product line are selected. In
selecting the point estimates, thousands of data points are reviewed and the judgment of the actuaries is applied
broadly. Each quarter management records its best estimate of the liability for loss and LAE reserves by
considering the actuaries' point estimates. Management's best estimate recognizes that there is uncertainty
underlying the actuarial point estimates.

Estimating the ultimate cost of claims is a complex process. This estimation process is based largely on the
assumption that actuarial reserving methods, using historical loss experience and applied by experienced
reserving actuaries, produces reasonable estimates of future losses on prior insured events. Reserve estimates
can change over time because of unexpected changes in the internal and/or external environment. Assumptions
internal to company operations include: recording of premium and loss statistics in the appropriate detail is
accurate and consistent; claims handling, including the recording of claims, payment and closure rates, and
case reserving is consistent, the quality of business written and the mix of business (e.g. states, limits,
coverages and deductibles) have been consistent; rate changes and changes in policy provisions have been
measured accurately; reinsurance coverage has been consistent and reinsured losses are collectible.
Assumptions related to the external environment include: tort law and the legal environment have been and
remain consistent; coverage interpretation by the courts has been and remains consistent; regulations regarding
coverage provisions have been consistent; and loss inflation is relatively stable. To the extent any of the above
factors have changed over time, attempts are made to adjust for the changes.

The following example is presented to illustrate the sensitivity of loss estimates to a change in the stable loss
inflation assumption. The impact of an unexpected increase in loss inflation was determined by deriving
expected payment patterns for each major product line and applying these patterns to the December 31, 2004,
loss and LAE reserves to generate estimated annual payments for each subsequent calendar year. Then, an
explicit annual incremental inflationary trend of one percent was applied to the annual payments, and revised
loss and LAE payments were calculated. The estimated cumulative impact that this additional unexpected one
percent increase in the inflationary trend would have on our results over the lifetime of the underlying claims is
shown below.
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Product Line Before-tax income Reduction
Homeowners $24
Personal automobile 4.8
Commercial automobile 5.5
Workers' compensation 45.5
Commercial multi-peril 10.6
General liability including umbrella 27.8

This additional unexpected claims inflation trend could arise from a variety of sources such as a general
increase in economic inflation, an increase in tort costs, the introduction of higher cost medical technologies and
procedures, changes in the utilization of medical procedures, or increased life expectancy. Unexpected
changes to other internal and external assumptions could also generate changes to the expected loss and LAE
payments.

The Group has three categories of loss and LAE reserves that it considers highly uncertain, and therefore, could
have a material impact on future financial results: asbestos and environmental liability, construction defect and
commercial umbrella exposures. These categories are described below with relevant historical data.

In recent years, asbestos and environmental liability claims have expanded greatly in the insurance industry.
Historically, the Group has written small commercial accounts with a focus on contracting business. Within the
manufacturing category, the Group has concentrated on light manufacturers. Thus the Group’s exposure to
asbestos is related to installers and distributors as opposed to the large manufacturers. Consequently, the
Group believes it does not have exposure to the primary defendants involved in major ashestos litigation. The
Group’s exposure to environmental liability is due to policies written prior to the introduction of the absolute
pollution endorsement in the mid-80’s, and to underground storage tanks mostly from New Jersey homeowners
policies in recent years. The Group has limited exposures to the national priority list, a list of known or
threatened releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants throughout the United States.

In 2004 and 2003, respectively, the Group increased loss and LAE reserves by $12.3 and $12.0 for
environmental claims. In 2002, the Group re-classified approximately $5.0 of homeowners reserves related to
underground storage tanks as environmental reserves. For 2004 and 2003, respectively, the asbestos and
environmental reserves, prior to the impact of reinsurance, were $90.8 and $78.0. Asbestos reserves were
$38.0 and $37.6, and environmental reserves were $52.8 and $40.4 for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Group defines construction defect exposure as liability for allegations of defective work and completed
operations losses from general liability, commercial multiple peril liability and umbrella liability policies involving
multiple-units (condos/townhouses/apartments/tracts of single family homes), multiple defendants (e.g.
developers, sub-contractors), usually with multiple defect issues, and often involving multiple insurance carriers.
The Group excludes from the definition, claims related to individual single family homes, apartments/townhomes
or other residential properties if the defect issues are limited in scope and volume.

The number of construction defect claims reported in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were 332, 271 and 224, respectively.
Paid losses, net of reinsurance, in 2004 were $9.9, compared to $16.5 in 2003 and $11.4 in 2002. Paid claims
legal related LAE, net of reinsurance, for construction defect claims were $5.1 in 2004, compared with $4.3 in
2003 and $4.1 in 2002. These totals exclude construction defect losses from the state of California. Although
the Group has construction defect losses from California exposure, it excludes California from this data because
the Group stopped writing in the state in 1993 and the remaining claims are minimal.

The Group writes commercial umbrella business with large policy limits that are heavily reinsured. The period of
time between the loss occurrence, the reporting of the claim to the insurer, and the settlement of the claim can
be substantial. The large policy limits coupled with this lengthy time period increase the uncertainty of loss
estimates before the application of reinsurance. For 2004 and 2003 loss and LAE reserves prior to reinsurance
were $637.1 and $496.0, respectively. For losses occurring in 2004, reinsurance purchased by the Group limits
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its retention of losses to 100% of the first $1.0, 3.5% of $4.0 excess of $1.0 and 7% of $20 excess of $5.0. The
reinsurance purchased in 2003 and 2002 was comparable to that purchased in 2004. For 2004 and 2003 loss
and LAE reserves net of reinsurance were $236.1 and $198.5, respectively.

Results for the year 2004 were favorably impacted by losses and LAE incurred for prior accident years totaling
$21.8 before tax on an All Lines basis. This amount and those stated below are net of reinsurance, including
change in the allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverables. Losses and LAE incurred for prior accident
years were recognized during the year 2004 due to new information that caused a revision to prior estimates for
loss and LAE reserves.

The foliowing table provides the before-tax amount of prior accident year loss and LAE reserve development by
reportable segment:

(Favorable) Unfavorable 2004 2003 2002
Commercial Lines $(15.0) $41.0 $73.9
Specialty Lines (9.4) (21.3) (2.2)
Personal Lines 2.6 14.4 12.7

Total Prior Accident Years' Development $(21.8) $34.1 $84.4

For the Commercial Lines operating segment, the favorable loss and LAE development for prior accident years
recorded during 2004 was concentrated in the commerciai automobile product line. In 2003, the adverse
development was concentrated in the general liability, commercial multi-peril and workers' compensation product
lines. In 2002, the adverse development was concentrated in the general liability product line, and was heavily
impacted by construction defect losses. Commercial automobile and workers' compensation also contributed to
the 2002 adverse development.

For the Specialty Lines operating segment, the favorable loss and LAE development for prior accident years
recorded during 2004 was concentrated in the commercial umbrella and bonds product lines. In 2003, the
favorable development was concentrated in the commercial umbrella product line.

For the Personal Lines operating segment, the adverse loss and LAE development for prior accident years
recorded during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was concentrated in the personal automobile including personal umbrella
product line.

The following table provides prior year development for loss and LAE by accident year:

2004 2003 2002
Accident Year 2003 $(36.9) $ - $ -
Accident Year 2002 (10.4) (39.0) -
Accident Year 2001 {0.9) 8.0 {15.8)
Accident Year 2000 0.4 29.8 10.2
Accident Year 1999 & prior 26.0 35.3 90.0
Total Prior Accident Years' Development $(21.8) $34.1 $844

The amount of statutory loss and LAE reserves by accident year at the beginning of 2004 was $602.8 for
accident year 2003, $401.8 for accident year 2002 and $1,124.3 for accident year 2001 and prior.

In the opinion of management, the reserves recorded at December 31, 2004, represent the Group's best
estimate of its ultimate liability for losses and LAE. However, due to the inherent complexity of the estimation
process and the potential variability of the assumptions used, final claim settiements may vary significantly from
the amounts recorded. Furthermore, the timing, frequency and extent of adjustments to the estimated liabilities
cannot be predicted since conditions and events which established historical loss and LAE reserve development
and which serve as the basis for estimating ultimate claim costs may not occur in exactly the same manner, if at
all.
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Reinsurance Programs
The Group maintains several programs that provide reinsurance coverage. The programs in effect for 2004 and
key changes in these programs for 2005 are summarized below.

The Group's 2004 property per risk program covers property losses in excess of $1.5 for a single insured, for a
single event. This property per risk program covers up to $13.5 in losses in excess of the $1.5 retention ievel for
a single event. The retention on the property per risk excess of loss treaty increased to $2.0 in 2005. The
Group's casualty per occurrence program covers liability losses. For 2004, workers’ compensation, umbrella
and other casualty reinsurance cover losses up to $58.8, $22.4 and $22.8, respectively, in excess of the $1.0
retention level for a single insured event. The 2004 casualty reinsurance treaty includes a layer of coverage of
$5.0 in excess of $1.0 that consists of a reinsurance treaty fund managed by the Group, and the Group has title
to the assets held in this fund. Ceded premiums are paid by the Group into the reinsurance treaty fund and
reinsured losses are paid to the Group under the terms of the reinsurance agreement with various reinsurers.
The reinsurers bear the risk of losses in excess of the assets held in the reinsurance treaty fund. The Group's
ability to manage the investments of the fund reduces credit risk related to reinsurers. The balance of the
reinsurance treaty fund as of December 31, 2004, was approximately $195.0. For 2005, the casualty $5.0 layer
excess of $1.0 retention was replaced by two treaties. For casualty other than commercial umbrella, a $4.0
layer excess of $2.0 retention was purchased; the Group retains 15% of the $4.0 layer. For commercial
umbrella, a $3.0 layer excess of $2.0 retention was purchased; the Group retains 25% and 50% of the $3.0 layer
for supported and unsupported policies, respectively.

The property catastrophe reinsurance program protects the Group against an accumulation of losses arising
from one defined catastrophic occurrence or series of events. The 2004 program provided $80.0 of coverage in
excess of the Group’s $25.0 retention level. The catastrophe excess of loss treaty changed to $100.0 in excess
of $25.0 for 2005. Over the last 20 years, only two events triggered coverage under the catastrophe reinsurance
program. Both of these losses exceeded the prior retention amount of $13.0, resulting in significant recoveries
from reinsurers. Reinsurance limits are purchased to cover exposure to catastrophic events having the
probability of occurring approximately every 250 years.

GAI agreed to maintain reinsurance on the commercial lines business that the Group acquired from GAIl and its-
affiliates in 1998 for loss dates prior to December 1, 1998. GAI is obligated to reimburse the Group if GAl's
reinsurers are unable to pay claims with respect to the acquired commercial lines business.

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Group of their obligations to policyholders. The collectibility of
reinsurance depends on the solvency of the reinsurers at the time any claims are presented. The Group
monitors each reinsurer's financial health and claims settlement performance because reinsurance protection is
an important component of the Corporation’s financial plan. Each year, the Group reviews financial statements
and calculates various ratios used to identify reinsurers who no longer meet appropriate standards of financial
strength. Reinsurers who fail these tests are reviewed and those that are determined by the Group to have
insufficient financial strength are removed from the program at renewal. Additionally, a large base of reinsurers
is utilized to mitigate concentration of risk. The Group also records an estimated allowance for uncollectible
reinsurance amounts as deemed necessary. During the last three fiscal years, no reinsurer accounted for more
than 15 percent of total ceded premiums. As a result of these measures, amounts of uncollectible reinsurance
have not been significant. For more discussion on the reinsurance recoverable asset, see ltem 15, Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, Footnote 7 on page 64 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

42



Item7. Continued
Investment Portfolio

The following table sets forth the distribution and other data of invested assets for the years ended December
31, 2004 and December 31, 2003.

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
Average Amortized  Carrying % of Amortized  Carrying % of
Rating Cost Value Total Cost Value Total

U.S Government:
Available-for-sale AAA $ 319 § 334 08 $ 409 $ 432 1.2
States, municipalities, and political
subdivisions:
Investment grade:
Available-for-sale AA+ 1,018.4 1,0346 24.4 76.8 79.1 21
Corporate securities:
Investment grade:

Available-for-sale A 1,562.8 1,686.4 39.7 1,863.6 2,001.4 534
Held-to-maturity A+ 164.7 164.7 39 167.7 167.7 45

Below Investment grade:
Available-for-sale BB- 51.6 58.4 1.4 77.5 84.0 2.2
Total corporate securities 1,779.1 1,808.5 45.0 2,108.8 2,253.1 60.1

Mortgage-backed securities:
Investment grade:

Available-for-sale AAA 505.2 524.7 12.4 778.3 799.8 21.3
Held-to-maturity AAA 136.7 136.7 3.2 188.4 188.4 5.0
Below Investment grade:

Available-for-sale CCC+ 6.9 8.6 0.2 141 14.7 04
Total mortgage-backed

securities 648.8 670.0 15.8 980.8 1,002.9 26.7

Total fixed maturities 3,478.2 3,647.5 86.0 3,207.3 3,378.3 90.1

Equity securities 98.9 357.4 8.4 77.9 329.0 8.8

Short-term investments 239.9 239.1 5.6 40.4 40.4 1.1

Total investment portfolio $3,817.0 $4,244.0 100.0 $3,3256  $3,747.7 100.0

The fixed maturity portfolio is allocated between investment grade and below investment grade as follows:

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
Amortized  Carrying % of Amortized  Carrying % of
Cost Value Fixed Cost Value Fixed
Total investment grade $3,419.7 $3,580.5 98.2 $3,115.7  $3,2796 971
Total below investment grade 58.5 67.0 1.8 916 98.7 29

The fixed maturity portfolio is allocated between available-for-sale and held-to-maturity as fotlows:

Total available-for-sale fixed
securities $3,176.8 $3,346.1 917 $2,851.2 $3,022.2 89.5
Total held-to-maturity fixed securities 3014 301.4 8.3 356.1 356.1 105

The excess of market value over cost was $427.0 compared with $422.1 at year-end 2003. The increase in
2004 was attributable to the increase in the market value of certain equity securities.

During 2004, the Corporation and Group, as a result of improved profitability, changed its investment strategy to
increase its investment into tax exempt securities.

The consolidated fixed maturity portfolio, including short-term securities, has an intermediate duration and a
laddered maturity structure. The duration of the fixed maturity portfolio was approximately 5.1 and 4.6 years as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Corporation and the Group remain fully invested and do not
time markets.
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Fixed maturity securities are classified as investment grade or non-investment grade based upon the higher of
the ratings provided by S&P and Moody's. When a security is not rated by either S&P or Moody's, the
classification is based on other rating services, including the Securities Valuation Office of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners. The market value of available-for-sale split-rated fixed maturity
securities (i.e., those having an investment grade rating from one rating agency and a below investment grade
rating from another rating agency) was $31.5 and $24.0 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Investments in below investment grade securities have greater risks than investments in investment grade
securities. The risk of default by borrowers that issue below investment grade securities is significantly greater
because these borrowers are often highly leveraged and more sensitive to adverse economic conditions,
including a recession or a sharp increase in interest rates. Additionally, investments in below investment grade
securities are generally unsecured and subordinate to other debt. Investment grade securities are also subject
to significant risks, including additional leveraging, changes in control of the issuer or worse than previously
expected operating results. In most instances, investors are unprotected with respect to these risks, the
negative effects of which can be substantial.

Following is a table displaying available-for-sale non-investment grade and non-rated securities in an unrealized
loss position at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

Amortized Fair Unrealized

Cost Value Loss

2004 $15 $14 $(0.1)
2003 23.5 226 (0.9)

The majority of mortgage-backed security holdings within the fixed maturity portfolio are in sequential structures,
planned amortization class and agency pass-through securities. Of this portfolio, $0.2, and $6.2 were invested
in more volatile bond classes (e.g. interest-only securities which do not return principal at maturity, super-fioater
securities which pay interest at a formula rate that is a function of LIBOR and inverse-floater securities which
pay interest per a formula that adjusts inversely to changes in LIBOR rates) at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Equity securities are carried at fair market value on the consolidated balance sheets. As a result, shareholders'
equity and statutory surplus fluctuate with changes in the value of the equity portfolio. As of December 31, 2004,
the equity portfolio consisted of stocks in a total of 50 separate entities in 38 different industries. Of this total,
31.2% was invested in five companies and the largest single position was 7.3% of the equity portfolio. At
December 31, 2003, the equity portfolio consisted of stocks in 44 separate entities in 35 different industries. Of
this total, 32.3% was invested in five companies and the largest single position was 8.1% of the equity portfolio.

In June 2004, the Corporation invested the proceeds of the June 2004 Senior Note offering in short-term
instruments. Short-term investments are carried at fair market value on the consolidated balance sheets and
produce a lower yield.

The investment portfolio also includes non-publicly traded securities such as private placements, non-exchange
traded equities and limited partnerships which are carried at fair value. Fair values are based on valuations from
pricing services, brokers and other methods as determined by management to provide the most accurate price.
The carrying value of this portfolio at December 31, 2004, was $310.8 compared to $318.8 at December 31,
2003.

The Corporation and Group use assumptions and estimates when valuing certain investments and related
income. These assumptions include estimations of cash flows and interest rates. Although the Corporation and
Group believe the values of its investments represent fair value, certain estimates could change and lead to
changes in fair values due to the inherent uncertainties and judgements involved with accounting
measurements.
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item 7. Continued

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Ohio Casualty Corporation publishes forward-looking statements relating to such matters as anticipated financial
performance, business prospects and plans, regulatory developments and similar matters. The statements
contained in this MD&A that are not historical information, are forward-looking statements. The Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor under the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for forward-looking statements. The operations, performance and development
of the Corporation's business are subject to risks and uncertainties, which may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in or supported by the forward-looking statements in this release. The risks and
uncertainties that may affect the operations, performance, development and results of the Corporation's
business include the following: changes in property and casualty reserves; catastrophe losses; premium and
investment growth; product pricing environment; availability of credit; changes in government regulation;
performance of financial markets; fluctuations in interest rates; availability and pricing of reinsurance; litigation
and administrative proceedings; rating agency actions; acts of war and terrorist activities; ability to appoint
and/or retain agents; ability to achieve targeted expense savings; ability to achieve premium targets and
profitability goals; and general economic and market conditions.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Market Risk Disclosures for Financial instruments

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from adverse changes in interest rates. In addition to market risk, the
Corporation and the Group are exposed to other risks such as equity price risk, credit, reinvestment and liquidity
risk. Credit risk refers to the financial risk that an obligation will not be paid and a loss will result. Reinvestment
risk is the risk that interest rates will fall causing the reinvestment of interim cash flows to earn less than the
original investment. Liquidity risk describes the ease with which an investment can be sold without substantially
affecting the asset’s price. The sensitivity analysis below summarizes only the exposure to market risk and
equity price risk.

The Corporation and the Group strive to produce competitive returns by investing in a diversified portfolio of
securities issued by high-quality companies.

Market Risk - The Corporation and the Group have exposure to losses resulting from potential volatility in
interest rates. The Corporation and the Group attempt to mitigate the exposure to interest rate risk through
active portfolio management, periodic reviews of asset and liability positions and through maintaining a laddered
fixed maturity portfolio with an intermediate duration. Estimates of cash flows and the impact of interest rate
fluctuations relating to the fixed maturity investment portfolio are modeled quarterly and reviewed regularly.

Equity Price Risk - Equity price risk can be separated into two elements. The first, systematic risk, is the portion
of a portfolio or individual security's price movement attributed to stock market movement as a whole. The
second element, nonsystematic risk, is the portion of price movement unique to the individual portfolio or
security. This risk can be further divided between characteristics of the industry and of the individual issuer.
The Corporation and the Group attempt to manage nonsystematic risk by maintaining a portfolio that is
diversified across industries and companies.

The following tables illustrate the hypothetical effect of an increase in interest rates of 100 basis points (1%) and
a 10% decrease in equity values at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The changes selected
above reflect management's view of shifts in rates and values that are quite possible over a one-year period.
These rates should not be considered a prediction of future events.

Interest rates may, in fact, be much more volatile in the future. This analysis is not intended to provide a precise
forecast of the effect of changes in interest rates and equity prices on income, cash flow or shareholders' equity.
In addition, the analysis does not take into account any actions that may be taken to reduce the exposure in
response to market fluctuations.
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item 7A. Continued

Estimated Adjusted Market Value
December 31, 2004 Fair Value as indicated above
Iinterest Rate Risk:
Fixed maturities $3,649.2 $3,463.1
Short-term investments 2391 239.1
Equity Price Risk:
Equity securities 3574 321.7
Totals $4,245.7 $4,023.9
December 31, 2003
Interest Rate Risk:
Fixed maturities $3,378.3 $3,222.9
Short-term investments 40.4 40.4
Equity Price Risk:
Equity securities 329.0 296.1
Totals $3,747.7 $3,559.4
December 31, 2002
Iinterest Rate Risk:
Fixed maturities $3,139.8 $2,997.5
Short-term investments 49.8 49.8
Equity Price Risk:
Equity securities 312.5 281.1
Totals $3,502.1 $3,328.4

Certain assumptions are inherent in the above analysis. An instantaneous and parallel shift in interest rates and
a simultaneous decline of 10% in equity prices at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, are assumed. Also, it is
assumed that the change in interest rates is reflected uniformly across all financial instruments. The adjusted
market values are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis and duration modeling.

ltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Item 15 for Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, including the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, and Schedules on page 49 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financia!l Officer have evaluated the Corporation's

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report and they have
concluded that these controls and procedures are effective.

46



Item 9A. Continued

{b & c) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of the Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. The Corporation’s internal control system was designed to provide
reasonable assurance to the Corporation's management and board of directors regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2004, the
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The Corporation’s independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This report appears on page 73
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no significant changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the fourth quarter of 2004, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Corporation's internal controt over financial reporting.

item 9B. Other Information

None

PART Il

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Incorporated by reference herein from those portions of the Corporation's Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation for 2005 under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Other Matters,"
"Meetings of the Board of Directors and Committees of the Board,” "Shareholder Proposals and Nominations"
and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” Additionally, incorporated by reference is the
"Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers” disclosed on the Corporation's website at www.ocas.com.

The following table provides information for executive officers of the Corporation who are not separately reported
in the Corporation’s Proxy Statement:
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Iltem 10. Continued
Executive Officers of the Registrant

Position with Company and/or
Principal Occupation or Employment

Name Age During Last Five Years
Ralph G. Goode 59 Senior Vice President of the Corporation's insurance subsidiaries

since December 1998. Mr. Goode served as Vice President of
the Corporation's insurance subsidiaries from October 1995
through November 1998.

John S. Kellington 43 Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of the
Corporation’s insurance subsidiaries since December 2002.
Chief Technology Officer of the Corporation's insurance
subsidiaries since April 2001. Mr. Kellington served as Chief
Architect and Principal, National Insurance Practice of IBM
Global Services from 1996 to April 2001.

Thomas E. Schadler 54 Senior Vice President and Chief Actuary of the Corporation's
insurance subsidiaries since April 2001. Mr. Schadler served as
Vice President and Chief Actuary of Grange Insurance Company
from September 1997 to Aprit 2001 and as Vice President and
Chief Actuary of Shelby/Anthem/Vesta Companies from
September 1988 to September 1997.

Howard L. Sloneker lll 48 Senior Vice President of the Corporation’s insurance subsidiaries
since December 1998. Mr. Sloneker also served as Senior Vice
President of the Corporation from December 1998 to April 2002
and as Secretary of the Corporation and its subsidiaries from
April 1988 to April 2002.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference herein from those portions of the Corporation's Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation for 2005 under the headings “Executive Compensation,”
“Employment and Separation Agreements,” "Change in Control Agreements,” "Pension Plans,” "Report of the
Executive Compensation Committee,” and "Report of the Audit Committee."

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
Incorporated by reference herein from those portions of the Corporation's Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation for 2005 under the headings “Principal Shareholiders,” and

“Shareholdings of Directors, Executive Officers and Nominees for Election as Director,” and "Equity
Compensation Plans.”

item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Incorporated by reference herein from these portions of the Corporation's Proxy Statement from the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation for 2005 under the heading "Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions.”

item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Incorporated by reference herein from those portions of the Corporation's Proxy Statement from the Annuai
Meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation for 2005 under the heading "Principal Accountant Fees" and

"Policies and Procedures Regarding Pre-Approval of Accountant Fees.”

48




PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements Schedules

(a) Financial statements and financial statement schedules required to be filed by Iltem 8
of this Form and Regulation S-X

(1) The following statements are included herein:

Page Number

in this Report
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 50
Consolidated Statements of income for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 51
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 52
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 53
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 54-71
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 72-73
(2) The following financial statement schedules are included herein:
Schedulel - Consolidated Summary of Investments Other
than Investments in Related Parties at December 31, 2004 75
Schedule ll - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 76
Schedule lll - Consolidated Supplementary Insurance
Information for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 77-79
Schedule IV - Consolidated Reinsurance for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 80
Schedule V - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 81
Schedule VI - Consolidated Supplemental information
Concerning Property and Casualty Insurance Operations for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 82
(b) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits on pages 83 and 84 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 15. Continued

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (in millions, except share data) 2004 2003
Assets
Investments, at fair value:
Fixed maturities:
Available for sale, at fair value
(amortized cost: $3,176.8 and $2,851.2) 3,346.1 9 3,022.2
Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost
(fair value: $303.1 and $354.2) 3014 356.1
Equity securities, at fair value
(cost: $98.9 and $77.9) 357.4 329.0
Short-term investments, at fair value 2391 40.4
Total investments 4,244.0 3,747.7
Cash 13.5 16.5
Premiums and other receivables, net of allowance 350.8 347.9
Deferred policy acquisition costs 159.8 169.3
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 82.9 89.2
Reinsurance recoverable, net of allowance 666.5 592.7
Agent relationships, net of accumulated amortization 122.0 142.6
Interest and dividends due or accrued 49.9 47.5
Other assets 25.6 15.5
Total assets 57150 $ 5,168.9
Liabilities
Insurance reserves;
Losses 2,2696 3 2,163.7
Loss adjustment expenses 486.8 464 1
Unearned premiums 715.5 703.0
Debt 383.3 198.0
Reinsurance treaty funds held 195.0 150.5
Deferred income taxes 21.9 12.8
Other liabilities 348.0 331.0
Totat liabilities 4,420.1 4,0231
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, $.125 par value
Authorized shares: 150,000,000
Issued shares: 72,418,344 and 72,418,344 9.0 9.0
Accumulated other comprehensive income 259.1 2547
Retained earnings 1,161.5 1,033.4
Treasury stock, at cost:
(Shares: 10,209,215 and 11,461,301) (134.7) (151.3)
Total shareholders' equity 1,294.9 1,145.8
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 57150 § 5,168.9

See notes to consolidated financial statements

50




item 15. Continued
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended December 31 (in millions,

except share and per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Premiums and finance charges earned $ 14468 3 14244 3 14505
Investment income, less expenses 201.2 208.7 207.1
Investment gains realized, net 23.0 359 452

Total revenues 1,671.0 1,669.0 1,702.8
Losses and benefits for policyholders 777.6 852.5 902.7
Loss adjustment expenses 158.7 174.9 2271
General operating expenses 504.9 488.7 499.4
Amortization of agent relationships 6.9 7.4 10.2
Write-down of agent relationships 13.7 11.3 69.5
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs 365.2 384.0 376.2
Deferral of policy acquisition costs (355.7) (372.0) (390.7)
Depreciation and amortization expense 13.2 14.6 15.1

Total expenses 1,484.5 1,561.4 1,709.5
Income (loss) before income taxes 186.5 107.6 6.7
income tax expense (benefit):

Current 50.0 21.2 (13.9)
Deferred 6.5 10.6 8.1

Total income tax expense {benefit) 56.5 31.8 (5.8)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of an accounting change 130.0 75.8 (0.9)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax (1.6) - -
Net income (loss) $ 1284 § 758 § (0.9)
Average shares outstanding - basic 61,509,128 60,848,718 60,494,104
Earningé per share - basic
Net income (loss), per share $ 209 $ 125 § (0.01)
Average shares outstanding - diluted 71,508,519 70,224 196 60,494,104
Earnings per share - diluted
Net income (loss), per share $ 1.89 § 118 § (0.01)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Item 15. Continued

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Accumulated
Additiona! stock other Total

(in millions, except Common paid-in purchase comprehensive Retained Treasury shareholders'
share data) stock capital warrants income earnings stock equity
Balance,
January 1, 2002 $ 118 $ 42 % 211§ 2744 % 12215 $ (453.0) $ 1,080.0
Net loss (0.9) (0.9)
Change in unrealized gain,

net of deferred income tax

benefit of $10.0 (18.6) (18.6)
Change in minimum pension

liability, net of deferred income

tax benefit of $5.2 (9.6) (9.6)
Other comprehensive loss (29.1)
Net issuance of restricted stock

(6,000 shares) 0.1 01
Net issuance of treasury

stock (613,283 shares) 0.1 0.3) 8.1 7.7
Retirement of treasury stock

(22,000,000 shares) (2.8) (4.1) (283.6) 290.5 -
Balance,
December 31, 2002 $ 90 & - 3% 211§ 2462 §$ 9367 $ (1543) $  1,058.7
Net income 75.8 75.8
Change in unrealized gain,

net of deferred income tax

expense of $14.8 274 27.4
Change in minimum pension

liability, net of deferred income

tax benefit of $10.2 (18.9) (18.9)
Other comprehensive income 84.3
Expiration of warrants (21.1) 21.1 -
Net issuance of restricted stock’

(11,000 shares) 0.1 0.1
Net issuance of treasury

stock (220,675 shares) (0.2) 29 27
Balance,
December 31, 2003 $ 90 $ - $ - § 2547 $ 1,0334 $ (151.3) $ 1,145.8
Net income 128.4 128.4
Change in unrealized gain,

net of deferred income tax

expense of $2.0 29 2.9
Change in minimum pension

liability, net of deferred

income tax expense of $0.8 1.5 1.5
Other comprehensive income 132.8
Net issuance of restricted stock

(565,284 shares) (0.5) 0.7 0.2
Net issuance of treasury

stock (1,196,802 shares) 0.2 15.9 16.1
Balance,
December 31, 2004 $ 9.0 $ - § - $ 2591 $ 11615 $ (134.7) $ 1,294.9

See notes fo consolidated financial statements
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Item 15. Continued

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31 (in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ 128.4 758 $ (0.9)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash from operations:
Changes in:
Insurance reserves 1411 228.4 284.9
Reinsurance treaty funds held 4.5 211 22.3
Income taxes 12.0 11.56 29
Premiums and other receivables (2.9) (23.2) 17.2
Deferred policy acquisition costs 9.5 12.0 (14.5)
Reinsurance recoverable (73.8) (172.8) (182.2)
Other assets (13.5) 0.5 25
Other liabilities 13.9 18.0 (33.8)
Amortization and write-down of agent relationships 20.6 18.7 79.7
Depreciation and amortization 13.2 14.6 15.1
Investment gains realized, net (23.0) (35.9) (45.2)
Net cash provided by operating activities 270.0 168.7 148.2
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of securities:
Fixed maturity, available-for-sale (1,702.3) (1,207.9) (1,249.2)
Fixed maturity, held-to-maturity (1.9) (7.7) -
Equity (43.3) (6.1) (19.5)
Proceeds from sales of securities:
Fixed maturity, available-for-sale 1,262.5 883.5 948.3
Equity 56.8 39.8 100.9
Proceeds from maturities and calls of securities:
Fixed maturity, available-for-sale 103.6 95.5 62.4
Fixed maturity, held-to-maturity 533 17.4 -
Equity 34 13.7 -
Property and equipment:
Purchases (8.3) (9.9) (17.0)
Sales 1.8 6.1 0.4
Net cash used in investing activities (274.4) (175.6) (173.7)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Debt:
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes - - 2013
Proceeds from the issuance of senior notes 199.3 - -
Repayments (13.0) (0.6) (205.6)
Payment for deferred financing costs - - (0.4)
Payment of issuance costs (1.3) - {7.4)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 15.1 2.2 7.5
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 200.1 1.6 (4.8)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 195.7 (5.3) {30.1)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 56.9 62.2 92.3
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 252.6 569 $ 62.2
Additional disclosures:
Interest and related fees paid $ 17.0 103 $ 14.9
Income taxes paid (refunded) 44.5 44 (7.0

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(All dollars in millions, except share and per share data, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 1 -- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Nature of Business

Ohio Casualty Corporation (the Corporation) is the holding
company of The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, which
is one of six property-casualty companies that make up Chio
Casualty Group (the Group), whose primary products consist
of insurance for personal auto, homeowners, commercial
property, commercial auto, workers’ compensation and other
miscellaneous lines. The Group operates through the
independent agency system in over 40 states, with 29.5% of
its 2004 net premiums written generated in the states of New
Jersey (11.5%), Pennsylvania (9.1%) and Ohio (8.9%).

B. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States and include the accounts of Ohio Casualty
Corporation and its subsidiaries (The Ohio Casualty
Insurance Company, West American Insurance Company,
Ohio Security Insurance Company, American Fire and
Casualty Company, Avomark Insurance Company and Ohio
Casualty of New Jersey, Inc.). In accordance with the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(FASB) Interpretation 46 (FIN 46) a variable interest entity
has also been included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Corporation. See Note 18 for further
details on the variable interest entity. Certain
reclassifications have been made to prior years to conform
to the current year's presentation. All significant inter-
company transactions have been eliminated.

C. Investments

Investment securities are classified into either the held-to-
maturity category or available-for-sale category. Fixed
maturity securities classified as held-to-maturity are carried
at amortized cost because management has the ability and
positive intent to hold the securities until maturity. Available-
for-sale securities are those securities that would be
available to be sold in the future in response to liquidity
needs, changes in market interest rates and asset-liability
management strategies, among others. Available-for-sale
securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains
and losses excluded from earnings and reported as a
component of other comprehensive income, net of deferred
tax. Mortgage-backed securities are amortized over a period
based on estimated future principal payments, including
prepayments. Prepayment assumptions are reviewed
periodically and adjusted to reflect actual prepayments and
changes in expectations. Variations from prepayment
assumptions will affect the life and yield of these securities.
Transfers of fixed maturity securities into the held-to-maturity
category from the available-for-sale category are made at
fair value at the date of transfer. The unrealized holding gain
or loss at the date of transfer is retained in other
comprehensive income and in the carrying value of the held-
to-maturity securities. Such amounts are amortized over the
remaining life of the security. Fair values of fixed maturities
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are determined on the basis of dealer or market quotations
or comparable securities on which quotations are available.
Equity securities are carried at quoted market values and
include nonredeemable preferred stocks and common
stocks.

The Corporation regularly evaluates all investments
based on current economic conditions, credit loss
experience and other specific developments. The
Corporation monitors the difference between the cost and
estimated fair value of investments to determine whether a
decline in value is temporary or other than temporary in
nature. The assessment of whether a decline in fair value is
considered temporary or other than temporary includes
management’'s judgement as to the financial position and
future prospects of the entity issuing the security. If a decline
in the net realizable value of a security is determined to be
other than temporary, it is treated as a realized loss and the
cost basis of the security is reduced to its estimated fair
value.

Short-term investments include securities with maturities
of 90 days or less at the date of acquisition and are stated at
fair value, which approximates cost.

Realized gains or losses on disposition of investments
are determined on the basis of the cost or amortized cost of
specific investments sold on the trade date basis.

D. Fair Value of Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s financial
instruments include cash and short-term investments which
approximate fair value at December 31, 2004 and 2003. The
fair value of the convertible and senior notes is based on
quoted market prices. As of December 31, 2004, the fair
value of the convertible and senior notes was $201.3 and
$215.2, respectively. The carrying value of the convertible
and senior notes as of December 31, 2004 was $182.5 and
$197.6, respectively. The fair value of the convertible notes
as of December 31, 2003 was $210.3, compared to a
carrying value of $194.3.

E. Premiums

Property and casualty insurance premiums are earned
principally on a monthly pro rata basis over the term of the
policy; the premiums applicable to the unexpired terms of the
policies are included in unearned premium reserve.
Premiums receivable represents amounts due on insurance
policies. The premiums receivable balance is presented net
of bad debt allowances determined by management of $4.3
and $4.2 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

F. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Acquisition costs incurred at policy issuance net of
applicable reinsurance ceding commissions are deferred and
amortized over the term of the policy in order to facilitate a
matching of revenues and expenses. Acquisition costs
which are deferred consist principally of commissions,
brokerage fees, salaries and benefits and other underwriting
expenses to include allocations for inspections, taxes, rent
and other expenses which vary directly with the acquisition
of insurance contracts. Quarterly, an analysis of the




deferred policy acquisition costs is performed in relation to
the expected recognition of revenues including investment
income to determine if deferred costs can be recovered
through future revenue streams. No recoverability issues
were indicated in the periods presented.

G. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation of $167.4 and $152.9 at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. Depreciation is computed principally
on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Buildings are depreciated over an estimated
useful life of 32 years, furniture and equipment over a three
1o seven year useful life.

H. Internally Developed Software

In accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obtained for Internal Use,” the Corporation capitalizes
costs incurred during the application development stage for
the development of internal-use software. These costs
primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related costs for
employees along with costs incurred for external consultants
who are directly associated with the internal-use software
project. Costs such as maintenance, training, data
conversion, overhead and general and administrative are
expensed as incurred. Management believes the expected
future value of the asset exceeds the carrying value.
Management evaluates the asset on an annual basis for
impairment. The costs associated with the software are
amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful
life of 10 years commencing when the software is
substantially complete and ready for its intended use.
Capitalized software costs and accumulated amortization in
the consolidated balance sheets were $55.2 and $11.4 at
December 31, 2004, and $52.0 and $7.2 at December 31,
2003, respectively.

. Agent Relationships

The agent relationships asset is an identifiable intangible
asset acquired in connection with the 1998 Great American
Insurance Company (GAI) commercial lines acquisition. The
asset represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net
assets acquired. Agent relationships are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a twenty-five year period. Agent
relationships are evaluated quarterly in accordance with
FASB 144 "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” as events or circumstances, such as
cancellation of agents, indicate a possible inability to recover
their carrying amount. Such evaluation is based on various
analyses, including cash flow and profitability projections that
incorporate, as applicable, the impact on existing company
businesses. The analyses involves significant management
judgments to evaluate the capacity of an acquired agent
relationship to perform within projections. If future projected
undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is
recognized (See Note 14).
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J. Loss Reserves

The reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses (LAE) are based on estimates of ultimate claim
costs, including claims incurred but not reported (IBNR),
salvage and subrogation and inflation without discounting.
For reported losses, a case reserve is established within the
parameters of coverage provided in the insurance policy.
Reserves are reviewed quarterly using generally accepted
actuarial technigues and any resulting adjustments are
reflected in current earnings. The estimates are developed
using the facts in each case, experience with similar cases
and the effects of current developments and anticipated
trends. Accordingly there can be no assurance that the
ultimate liability will not vary from such estimates.

K. Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Group seeks to
diversify risk and reduce the loss that may arise from
catastrophes or other events that cause unfavorable
underwriting results by reinsuring certain levels of risk in
various areas of exposure with other insurance enterprises
or reinsurers. The Group records its ceded reinsurance
transactions on a gross basis and records an asset as
reinsurance recoverable for estimates of paid and unpaid
losses, including estimates for losses incurred but not
reported. The Group evaluates the financial condition of its
reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk to
minimize exposure to significant losses from reinsurer
insolvencies. To the extent that any reinsuring companies
are unable to meet obligations under the agreements
covering the reinsurance ceded, the Group would remain
liable. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are calculated
in a manner consistent with the reinsurance contract and are
reported net of an allowance of $2.3 and $2.4 as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Group is
also required to maintain a reinsurance treaty fund as
stipulated by the first layer casualty treaty. The Group
deposits premium into the fund and makes withdrawals to
pay claims that qualify for that contract of reinsurance.
Interest from the securities is shared with the reinsurers.
The securities held by the fund are recorded as assets with a
corresponding liability on the Corporation’s consolidated
balance sheets. The ceded reinsurance transactions are
recorded in the same manner as all other cessions.

L. Income Taxes

The Corporation files a consolidated federal income tax
return. The Corporation records deferred tax assets and
liabilities based on temporary differences between the
financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect in the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. The principal assets
and liabilities giving rise to such differences are net
unrealized gains/losses on securities, loss reserves,
unearned premium reserves, deferred policy acquisition
costs and accruals not currently deductible. The Corporation
reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability. At
December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Corporation is able to



demonstrate that the benefit of its deferred tax assets is fully
realizable.

M. Stock Options
The Corporation accounts for stock options issued to

employees in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Under APB 25, the Corporation recognizes
expense based on the intrinsic value of options. See Note
19 for the Corporation’s disclosure regarding the adoption of
FASB 123(R). Had the Corporation adopted income
statement recognition requirements of FASB 123
"Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” the
Corporation's net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per
share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts
disclosed below:

2004 2003 2002
Net income (loss)
As reported: $128.4 $75.8 $(0.9)
Add: Stock-based employee
compensation reported in
net income (loss), net of
refated tax effect 03 0.1 0.1
Deduct: Total stock-based
employee compensation,
net of related tax effects 6.4 58 4.8
Pro Forma: $122.3 $70.1 $(5.4)
Basic EPS
As reported: $2.09 $1.25 $(0.01)
Pro Forma: $1.99 $1.15 $(0.09)
Diluted EPS*
As reported: $1.89 $1.18 $(0.01)
Pro Forma: $1.81 $1.08 $(0.09)

*Diluted EPS has been adjusted for the effect of EITF Issue No. 04-8 in 2004,
2003 and 2002. Also see Note 10.

N. Insurance Assessments

The Group accrues a liability for insurance related
assessments in accordance with SOP 97-3 "Accounting by
Insurance and Other Enterprises for Insurance-Related
Assessments.” As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
undiscounted liability for these assessments was $8.8 and
$8.9, respectively. A portion of these assessments are
recoupable by the Group based upon premium tax credits or
policyholder surcharges. In accordance with SOP 97-3, the
Corporation has established an asset of $1.7 at December
31, 2004. There was no such asset recorded at December
31, 2003. These amounts are expected to be realized in the
near future as premium tax credits are used on the tax
returns for the respective states and/or policyholder
surcharges are collected.

O. Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share of common stock is presented using
basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per
share is calculated using the weighted average number of
common stock shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share includes the effect of the assumed
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exercise of dilutive common stock options and the
convertible debt impact based upon the "if-converted”
method as prescribed in EITF 04-8.

P. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Short-term investments are comprised of highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash. Such investments have maturities of 90 days or
less from the date of purchase. Short-term investments are
deemed to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2004
and 2003, the Group had $8.6 and $7.7, respectively, of
cash held in escrow or otherwise subject to withdrawal
restrictions.

Q. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and .
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

The insurance industry is subject to regulation that
differs by state. A dramatic change in reguiation in a given
state may have a material adverse impact on the
Corporation.

NOTE 2 -- Investments
Investment income is summarized as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Investment income from:
Fixed maturities $208.3 $210.9 $207.0
Equity securities 9.1 84 86
Short-term securities 24 0.5 0.8
Total investment income 219.8 219.8 216.4
Investment expenses 18.6 111 9.3

Investment income, less
expenses $201.2 $208.7 $207.1

The gross realized gains and iosses from sales of
securities were as follows:

Gross Gross Net

Realized Realized Realized

December 31 Gains (Losses) Gains
2004 $50.6 $(27.6) $23.0

2003 573 (21.4) 359

2002 923 {47.1) 452

included in realized losses were the write-down of
securities for other than temporary declines in market value
of $8.7, $10.5 and $10.9, in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Corporation transferred
$368.8 of its fixed maturity securities from the available-for-
sale classification into the held-to-maturity classification,




which resulted in a $20.9 unrealized holding gain. The
remaining unamortized unrealized holding gain of $12.7 and
$17.7 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, is
retained in other comprehensive income and in the carrying
value of the held-to-maturity securities. This transfer was
made as the Corporation has both the ability to hold
investments to maturity and the positive intent to do so. As
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the amortized cost of the
held-to-maturity portfolio was $301.4 and $356.1,
respectively. The reduction for the year was a result of
scheduled payments and maturities on the securities held in
this classification.

Changes in unrealized gains (losses) on investments in
securities are summarized as follows:

2004 2003
Unrealized gains (losses):
Fixed maturity
securities, available-for-sale $(1.7) $(12)
Equity securities 7.4 3141
Short-term investments (0.8) -
Transfer of securities to
held-to-maturity - 12.3
Deferred tax loss (2.0) (148)
Net unrealized gains $29 $274

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of
investments in available-for-sale fixed maturity and equity
securities are as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
2003 Cost Gains L0osses Value
Securities :
U.S. Govemment $ 409 $ 24 $ (0.1) $ 432
States, municipalities
and political
subdivisions 76.8 25 0.2) 791
Corporate securities 1,941.1 152.7 8.4) 2,0854
Mortgage-backed
securities:
U.S. Government
Agency 126 06 - 132
Other 779.8 29.5 (8.0) 801.3
Total fixed maturities 28512 187.7 (16.7) 3,022.2
Equity securities 778 2511 - 329.0
Short-term
investments 40.4 - - 40.4
Total securities $2,969.5 $438.8 $(16.7) $3,391.6

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of
investments in held-to-maturity securities are as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
2004 Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities:
Corporate securities $164.7 $29 $(1.0) $1666
Mortgage-backed
securities:
Other 136.7 0.6 (0.8) 136.5
Total held-to-maturity
securities $301.4 $3.5 $(1.8) $303.1
Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
2003 Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities:
Corporate securities $167.7 $2.1 $(2.0) $167.8
Mortgage-backed
securities:
Other 188.4 05 (2.5) 186.4
Total held-to-maturity
securities $356.1 $2.6 $(4.5) $354.2

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
2004 Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities:
U.S. Government $ 319 $ 15 $ - $ 334
States, municipalities
and political
subdivisions 1,018.4 16.9 0.7 1,034.6
Corporate securities 1,614.4 131.8 (14) 1,744.8
Mortgage-backed
securities:
U.S. Govemment
Agency 72 0.4 . 76
Other 504.9 223 (1.5) 525.7
Total fixed maturities 3,176.8 1729 (3.6) 3,346.1
Equity securities 98.9 259.2 0.7) 3574
Short-term
investments 239.9 - (0.8) 2391
Total securities $3,515.6 $432.1 $(5.1) $3,942.6
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For securities in an unrealized loss position, the
Corporation evaluates the difference between the
cost/amortized cost and estimated fair value of the security
to determine whether a decline in value is temporary or other
than temporary in nature. Securities that had a reiatively
high degree of decline in value and/or securities that had
been in unrealized loss positions for longer, continuous
periods of time are more closely reviewed. This assessment
includes many factors such as the issuing entity's financial
position, financial flexibility, future prospects, management
competence, and industry fundamentals. Based on this
review, the Corporation makes a judgement as to whether
the decline in value is temporary or other than temporary.



The following table summarizes, for ail securities in an
unrealized loss position, the gross unrealized loss by the
length of time the securities have continuously been in an
unrealized loss position as of December 31:

2004
Available-for-sale:
Less than 12 months 12 months of longer Total
Fair Value Unrealized  FairValue Unrealized  FairValue Unrealized
Losses Losses Losses
Securities:
States, municipal-
ities and poiiical
subdivisions $187.8 $(0.7) $ - $- $187.8 $0.7)
Corporate securities 97.7 {1.1) 9.8 0.3) 107.5 (1.4)
Mortgage-backed
securities:

Other 88.4 (1.2) 16.5 0.3) 104.9 {1.5)
Total fixed maturities 3739 (3.0) 263 (0.6) 400.2 (3:5)
Equity securities 9.6 0.7) - - 9.6 0.7
Short-term 14 {0.8) - - 1774 (0.8)
Total temporarily

impaired securities $560.9 ${4.5) $26.3 $(0.6) $587.2 $(5.1)

these securities were temporary declines in value. in the
December 31, 2004 tables above, there are approximately
180 securities represented. Of this total, 7 securities have
unrealized loss positions greater than 5% of their market
values at December 31, 2004 with none exceeding 25%.
This group represents $0.8, or 11.6% of the total unrealized
loss position of the Corporation. Of this group, 3 securities,
representing approximately $0.6 in unrealized losses, have
been in an unrealized loss position for less than twelve
months. Of the remaining 4 securities in an unrealized loss
position for longer than twelve months totaling $0.2 million,
the Corporation believes that it is probable that all contract
terms of the security will be satisfied; the unrealized loss
position is due to the changes in the interest rate
environment; and that the Corporation has positive intent
and ability to hold the securities until they mature or recover
in value.

Gross gains of $11.8, $19.7 and $15.7 and gross losses
of $27.5, $18.2 and $40.9 were realized on the sales of fixed
maturity securities in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Group is required to hold investments on deposit

Held-to-maturity:
Y Less than 12 months 12 months or fonger Total with regulatory authorities in various states. As of December
Fair Value Urirealized Fair Value U[ma|ked Fair Value Urlirealized 31 , 2004 and 2003' these investments had a fair value of
0sses 055eS 0S5eS .
" $60.9 and $59.6, respectively.
Corporate securities 858 1.0 $- . 858 1.0 ' ) .
Monga;e-:::ed ; o \ ; 1.0 The amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed
securities: maturity securities at December 31, 2004, by contractual
Otter §6.8 0.7) 89 U] 767 (08 maturity are shown below. Expected maturities will differ
Total temporariy from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the
impaired securities $152.6 $(1.7) $9.9 $0.9) 81625 $(18)  right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties.
2003 Estimated
Available-for-sale: Amortized Fair
Less than 12 months 12 months o longer Total Available-for-sale Cost Value
Fair Value Unrealized  Fair Value Unrealized  Fair Value Unrealized Due in one year or less $ 730 s 75.0
Securtes: Losses Losses Losses Due after one year through five years 494.5 525.9
US.Govemment  § 148§ (0.) $ - 3 - $148 § (o)  Dueafterfive years through ten years 1,262.3 1,334.9
States, municipak Due after ten years 834.9 877.0
s and poieal 00 02 ] ) . 0z  Mortgage-backed securities:
Corporate securites  248.4 (6.5) 370 (19) 2854 (84) gtﬁ Govemnment Agency Soz.g 52;-5
Mortgage-backed er , .
securities: "
Otrer 22 68) 192 12 14 Ty Total fixed maturities $3,176.8 $3,346.1
Total fixed maturities 5144 (135) 56.2 (3.1) 5706 (16.7)
Equity securities 07 - 18 - 23 - Estimated
Amortized Fair
Total temporariy Held-to-maturity Cost Value
impaired securities $5151  § (136) $57.8 $(3.1)  $5729  $(16.7) Due in one year or s S 24 $ 21
Held-to-maturity: Due after one year through five years 29.5 29.4
Less than 12 months 12 months o fonger Total Due after five years through ten years 96.2 95.8
FarValue Unreaized FairValue Unealized Farvae Umeaizea  Due afterten years 36.9 39.3
Losses Losses Losses Mortgage-backed securities:
matebs:::ges $106.0 $(1.8) $50 $(0.2) $111.0 $(2.0) Other 136.7 136.5
socuties Total fixed maturities $301.4 $303.1
Other 1157 {1.9) 277 {06) 1434 (25
Total temporarily

impaired securities $221.7 $(3.7) $32.7 $(0.8) §$254.4 $(4.5)

Based on a review of each security at December 31
2004, the Corporation believes that unrealized losses on
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NOTE 3 -- Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs
Changes in deferred policy acquisition costs are summarized
as follows:

2004 2003
Deferred, January 1 $169.3 $181.3
Additions:
Commissions and brokerage 244.6 2436
Salaries and employee benefits 51.8 56.2
Other 59.3 722
Deferral of expense 355.7 3720
Amortization to expense 365.2 3840
Deferred, December 31 $159.8 $169.3

NOTE 4 -- Income Tax

The effective income tax rate is less than the statutory
corporate tax rate of 35% for 2004, 2003 and 2002 for the
following reasons:

2004 2003 2002

Tax at statutory rate $65.3 $37.7 $(2.3)
Tax exempt interest (5.8) (1.3 (0.9
Dividends received deduction

(DRD) (1.8) 2.1 22
Proration of DRD and {ax

exempt interest 1.0 0.4 0.2
Other 22) (29 (0.6)
Actual tax expense

(benefit) $56.5 $31.8 $(5.8)

Income taxes payable were $9.8 and $4.4 at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

The components of the net deferred tax liability were as
follows:

2004 2003
Uneamed premium proration $ 455 $ 353
Accrued expenses 14.5 399
NOL and AMT camyforward . 1.8
Postretirement benefits 36.0 377
Discounted loss and loss expense reserves 921 83.9
Total deferred tax assets 188.1 198.6
Deferred policy acquisition costs (55.9) (59.3)
Unrealized gains on investments (154.1) (152.1)
Total deferred tax liabilities {210.0) (211.4)
Net deferred tax liability $ (21.9) $ (12.8)

The Corporation is required to establish a valuation
allowance for any portion of the deferred tax asset that
management believes will not be realized. Management has
determined that no such valuation allowance is necessary
for either period presented.
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The Corporation has been examined by the Internal
Revenue Service for the tax years 1997 through 2001 and is
currently in the process of finalizing a settlement. The
Corporation believes that the ultimate settlement of these
years will not have a material adverse impact on its financial
position or results of operations and has provided adequate
book reserves for any matters that may not be resclved as
part of the settlement.

NOTE 5 -- Employee Benefit Plans

The Corporation has a non-contributory defined benefit
retirement plan, a contributory health care plan, life and
disability insurance plans and a savings plan covering
substantially all employees. Benefit expenses for these plans
are as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Employee benefit costs:
Retirement plan $38 $42 $02
Postretirement plan 0.1 10.5 10.6
Health care insurance 149 144 18.2
Life and disability
insurance 20 19 1.7
Savings plan 29 30 28
Total $23.7 $34.0 $33.5

Non-Contributory Defined Benefit Retirement Plan
Retirement benefits accrued through June 30, 2004
under the Employees Retirement Plan are generally payable

to eligible employees upon retirement at age 65 so long as
they have completed five years of vesting service or in
reduced amounts upon retirement prior to age 65 so long as
they have completed ten years of vesting service.
Retirement benefits accrued after June 30, 2004 are
generally payable to eligible employees upon termination of
employment so long as they have completed five years of
vesting service. A retiree’s benefit amount is based upon
their June 30, 2004 benefit, if any, the years of credited
service after June 30, 2004 and before age 50, if any, the
years of credited service after June 30, 2004 and after
attaining age 50, if any, and final average compensation for
the five consecutive calendar years of highest salary during
the last ten years of service immediately prior to age 65 or, if
greater, the average annual compensation paid during the
60 consecutive month period immediately preceding
retirement or other termination of employment.

{in 2004, the Corporation announced changes to the
defined benefit retirement plan which froze accrued benefits
under the plan's then current formula and incorporated a
new benefit accrual formula beginning July 2004, As a result
of these changes and staff reductions announced during the
year, the Corporation recognized a curtailment charge of
$0.1 in accordance with FASB 88 “Employers’ Accounting for
Settlements and Curtaiiments of Defined Benefit Pensions
Plans and for Termination Benefits.”



The net periodic pension cost is determined as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Service cost eamed during the

year $ 7.7 $ 72 $ 67
Interest cost on projected

benefit obligation 16.8 184 179
Expected retum on plan assets (21.6) {21.6) (22.9)
Amortization of unrecognized

net asset - - (1.7)
Amortization of accumulated

losses 27 - -
Amortization of unrecognized

prior service cost (19) 0.2 0.2
Curtailment 0.1 - -
Net periodic pension cost $ 38 $ 42 $ 02

The following data in the tables below are measured as
of September 30, 2004 and 2003. Changes in the benefit
obligation during the year:

2004 2003
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $318.2 $270.9
Service cost 7.7 7.2
Interest cost 16.8 18.4
Actuarial loss 19.4 39.1
Benefits paid (77 (17.4)
Amendment {32.7) -
Curtaitment {12.2) -
Benefit obligation at end of year $299.5 $318.2

Changes in retirement plan assets during the year:

2004 2003

Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year $241.7 $235.1
Actual retum on plan assets 313 240
Benefits paid (17.7) (17.4)
Employer contributions as of

measurement date 7.5 -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $262.8 $241.7

A summary of the projected benefit obligation,
accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets
as of the measurement date is as follows:

2004 2003
Projected benefit obligation $299.5 $318.2
Accumulated benefit obligation 299.0 284.8
Fair value of plan assets 262.8 2417

The Corporation contributed approximately $7.5 to its
retirement plan prior to the measurement date and
contributed an additional $1.9 during the fourth quarter of
2004. The Corporation did not make any contributions to the
retirement plan in 2003. The Corporation expects to
contribute approximately $8.0 during the fiscal year 2005.
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Retirement plan funding at December 31:

2004 2003

Funded status $(36.7) $(76.5)
Unrecognized net gain (loss) 724 (77.3)
Unrecognized prior service cost (29.8) (1.3)
Employer contribution after

measurement date 1.9
Accrued pension asset, net of accrued

liability $75 $ 21

The net accrued pension asset at December 31, 2004
and 2003 consist of an accrued prepaid asset of $8.6 and
$3.0, respectively, for the retirement plan and an accrued
liability of $1.1 and $0.9, respectively for the Benefit
Equalization Plan, a non-qualified plan.

Total benefit payments expected to be paid to retirement
plan participants, which includes estimated future service,
are as follows:

2005 $ 185
2006 18.5
2007 185
2008 18.5
2009 187
2010 - 2014 97.8
Total 2005-2014 $1906

Management of the Corporation reviews the
assumptions used in the actuarial valuation on an annual
basis, or more frequently as needed. Management believes
the assumptions listed below are reasonable and
appropriate based upon the current level of interest rates for
high-quality debt securities, average future rate of return on
the plan's target asset aflocation and underlying
compensation levels and merit increases.

2004 2003 2002
Measurement date 9/30/04 9/30/03 9/30/02
Expected long-term retum on plan
assets 8.75% 8.75% 8.50%
Discount rate on plan benefit
obligations 5.95% 6.15% 7.00%
Expected future rate of salary
increases 4.00% 4,00% 4.00%

The Corporation considers the current level of expected
returns on risk free investments, primarily government
bonds, the historical level of the risk premium associated
with the other asset classes and the expectations for future
returns of each asset class when developing the expected
long-term rate of return on assets assumption. The
expected return for each asset class is weighted based on
the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term
rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio. This
resulted in the selection of the 8.75% assumption.

In determining the discount rate assumption, the
Corporation utilized current market information including
analysis of the Moody’s Aa Corporate Bond Index Rate,
analysis provided by plan actuaries and independent survey




data on similarly positioned companies. As regards to the
analysis provided by plan actuaries, a discounted cashflow
model of the plan’s benefit obligations was developed using
an interest rate yield curve to make judgments regarding the
appropriate discount rate for both its pension and post-
retirement medical benefit obligations. The yield curve is
comprised of bonds with at least an Aa rating with maturities
primarily between zero and thirty years.

The Corporation considers future changes attributed to
general price levels, productivity, seniority, promotion, and
other factors when developing the salary increase
assumption. In addition, the Corporation compares long-
term salary increase estimates to its actual history. Based
on 2005 budgeted salary and merit increases, as well as
future estimated increases, the Corporation maintained its
expected future rate of salary increase at 4.0%.

The Corporation’s targeted ranges of asset alliocation for
the retirement plan at December 31 by asset category are as
follows:

2004 2003
Equity securities 55-719% 55-79%
Debt securities 22-30% 22-30%
Real estate 4-10% 4-10%
Other 0-5% 0-5%

The retirement plan's weighted-average asset allocation
at September 30, 2004 and 2003, the measurement date, by
asset category is as follows:

pension liability of approximately $41.6 and $45.2, of which
$1.3 was recognized as an intangible asset in 2003. There
was no such intangible asset in 2004. The remaining before
tax amounts of $41.6 and $43.9, respectively, represent
components of accumulated other comprehensive loss
reported in the December 31, 2004 and 2003 consolidated
balance sheets.

Contributory Postretirement Health Care Plan

The Corporation’s health care plan is a predominately
managed care plan. Prior to July 1, 2004, retired employees
with four or more years of service with the Corporation were
eligible to continue to participate in the heaith care and life
insurance plans of the Corporation. In July 2004, the
Corporation announced changes related to its postretirement
health care plan that limits eligibility for subsidized retiree
coverages to the then current retirees and employees with
25 or more years of service as of July 1, 2004 and
subsequently then retire. Other employees who retire from
the organization are eligible for access to unsubsidized
retiree medical and dental coverage until age 65. As a resuit
of these changes and staff reductions announced during the
year, the Corporation recognized a curtailment charge of
$0.1. Contributions to the health care plan have been
established as a flat dollar amount with periodic adjustments
as determined by the Corporation. The health care planis
unfunded. Benefit costs are accrued based on actuariai
projections of future payments. There are approximately
2,200 active employees and 1,920 retired employees

2004 2003 covered by these plans.
Equity securities 59.8% 61.4% The components of the Corporation's net periodic
Debt securities 28.7% 21.8% postretirement benefit cost at December 31:
Real estate 8.9% 9.3%
Other 2.6% 7.5% 2004 2003 2002
Total 100.0% 100.0% Service cost $0.8 $29 $28
Interest cost 4.0 74 76
Investments are diversified among capitatization and Amortization of unrecognized
style within the equity portfolio. Up to 18% of the equity prior service costs (5.0) 0.2 0.2
portfolio may be invested in financial markets outside of the Amortization of net loss 0.2 -
United States. In order to minimize equity risk, limitations Curtailment 0.1 - -
are placed on the overall amount that can be invested in a Net periodic postretirement
single stock at both cost and market value. Equity benefit cost $04 $105 $106

investments are also diversified across the various economic
sectors. Approximately 9.0% of the portfolio is allocated to
real estate to further diversify risk.

Retirement plan assets at December 31, 2004 include
$12.4 of the Corporation’s common stock at market value
compared to $13.5 at December 31, 2003. The retirement
plan held 534,464 and 771,964 shares of the Corporation's
common stock at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The retirement plan purchased no additional
shares and sold 237,500 shares of the Corporation's
common stock during 2004. The retirement pian purchased
no additional shares and sold 565,000 shares of the
Corporation’s common stock during 2003.

The fair value of the retirement plan assets was less
than the accumulated benefit obligation as of September 30,
2004 and 2003, resuiting in the recognition of a minimum
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Changes in the postretirement benefit obligation during
the year:

2004 2003

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $126.4 $108.2
Service cost 0.8 29
Interest cost 40 74
Benefits paid net of plan

participants’ contributions (4.9) (5.2)
Increase due to actuarial (gain) loss,

change in discount rate, or other

assumptions (9.9) 131
Amendment (61.5) -
Curtailment (0.9) -
Benefit obligation at end of year $54.5 $126.4




The accrued postretirement benefit liability at December

31:
2004 2003

Accumulated postretirement

benefit obligation $ 545 $126.4
Unrecognized net loss (6.9) (17.6)
Unrecognized prior service

benefit (cost) 553 (1.2)
Accrued postretirement

benefit liability $102.9 $107.6

The postretirement benefit trend and discount rate
assumptions are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Measurement date 9/30/04 9/30/03 12/31/02
Medical trend rate 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate health care trend rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate trend rate reached 2014 2013 2012
Dental trend rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Discount rate 5.75% 6.15% 7.00%

Management of the Corporation reviews the
assumptions used in the actuarial valuation on an annual
basis, or more frequently as needed. Management reviews
external data and its own historical trends for health care
costs to determine the medical and dental trend rates.
Management reviews market rates for high quality corporate
bonds and fixed income investments consistent with the
duration of its liabilities to determine the discount rate.
Management believes the assumptions are reasonable and
appropriate.

Increasing the assumed health care cost trend by one
percentage point in each year would increase the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2004 by approximately $5.1 and increase the
postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $0.9. Likewise,
decreasing the assumed health care cost trend by one
percentage point in each year would decrease the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2004 by approximately $4.6 and decrease the
postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $0.7.

Total benefit payments expected to be paid to
participants are as follows:

2005 $53
2006 47
2007 4.1
2008 41
2009 41
2010 - 2014 20.0
Total 2005-2014 $42.3

Employee Savings Plan

Employees can contribute a percentage of their eligible
compensation to the Employee Savings Plan, a defined
contribution plan. During 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, the Corporation matched 3% of the first 6% of a
participant’s contribution to the plan. This match is invested
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according to the investment direction chosen by the
participant. The Corporation contributed $2.9, $3.0 and $2.8
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively for the participant
match. In 2004, the Employee Savings Plan added a profit
sharing contribution feature for all eligible employees based
upon a profitability target established by the Corporation.
The profit sharing contribution for 2004 was approximately
$3.7, which was accrued at December 31, 2004 and will be
contributed to the plan in the first quarter of 2005. Effective
January 1, 2005, the provisions of the Corporation’s
matching contribution was changed to what is known as a
'safe harbor' match. The Corporation's match is $1 for each
$1 contributed for the first 3% of a participant's salary
contributed and $0.50 for each $1 contributed for the next
2% of a participant's salary contributed. The maximum
company match is 4%.

NOTE 6 - Stock Based Compensation

The Corporation has several stock based incentive programs
that are utilized to facilitate the Corporation’s long-term
financial success including the 1999 and 2002 Broad-based
Employee Stock Option Plans and a 2002 Stock Incentive
Plan. The Corporation’s stock based incentive programs are
accounted for under APB 25 "Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.”

Broad-based Employee Stock Option Plans

The Corporation is authorized under provisions of the
1899 and 2002 Broad-based Employee Stock Option Plans
to grant options to purchase 1,500,000 and 2,000,000
shares, respectively, of the Corporation's common stock to
full time employees and certain part time employees at a
price not less than the fair market value of the shares on
dates the options are granted.

The options granted under the 1999 and 2002 Broad-
based Employee Stock Option Plans are nonqualified
options. The options under both plans are exercisable at
any time after the vesting requirements are met. The options
also have accelerated vesting provisions for participant
retirement, death, or disability, subject to a holding period of
twelve months for the 1999 program. Option expiration
dates are ten years from the grant date. As of December 31,
2004, there are 293,900 and 2,000,000 remaining options
available to be granted for the 1999 and 2002 Broad-based
plans, respectively, compared to 259,850 and 2,000,000
remaining options available to be granted as of December
31, 2003, respectively.

2002 Stock Incentive Plan

The 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2002 Plan") was
established by the Corporation and is available to employees
of the Corporation. The 2002 Plan reserved for issuance an
aggregate of 3,000,000 shares. Pursuant to the provisions
of the 2002 Plan, 471,537 shares available for issuance
under the 1993 plan as well as shares previously awarded
and subsequently forfeited under the 1993 plan were made
available for issuance under the 2002 Pian. Options are no
longer available to grant under the 1993 plan.




The options granted under the 2002 Plan may be either
incentive or non-qualified options as defined by the Internal
Revenue Code. The difference affects treatment of the
options for income tax purposes by the individual employee
and the Corporation. The options under the plan are
exercisable at any time after the vesting requirements are
met. The plan provides for accelerated vesting for participant
retirement, death or disability. Option expiration dates are
ten years from the grant date. As of December 31, 2004,
there were 1,431,535 remaining options available to be
granted under the 2002 Pian compared to 2,362,273
remaining options available to be granted as of December
31, 2003.

In addition, the 2002 Plan also provides for the grant of
Freestanding and/or Tandem Stock Appreciation Rights
(SAR) and Restricted Stock. The exercise price of a
Freestanding SAR is equal to the fair market value of a
share of the Corporation’s stock on the grant date.
Freestanding SARs provide the recipient with the right to
receive payment in cash, stock or a combination of both
equal to appreciation in value of a share of stock from the
date of grant. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were
no outstanding Freestanding SARs.

The exercise price of a Tandem SAR is equal to the
exercise price of the related stock option on the grant date.
Tandem SARs provide the recipient with the right to receive
in cash, stock or a combination of both, equal to the
appreciation in value of the optioned stock from the date of
grant in lieu of exercise of the stock options held. At
December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no outstanding
Tandem SARs.

Grants of restricted stock provide the recipient with the
right to receive shares of the Corporation’s stock, upon
satisfying the restrictions imposed as a condition 1o the
award, during a specified restriction period. During the
restriction period, which is determined at the time of grant,
the recipient may exercise full voting rights and is entitled to
receive dividends and other distributions paid to
shareholders. If dividends or other distributions are paid in
shares of stock, those shares are subject to the same
restrictions as the underlying restricted stock. Shares of
restricted stock may not be sold, transferred, pledged,
assigned or otherwise alienated until the end of the
applicable restriction period. At the discretion of the
Corporation's Executive Compensation Committee, all
shares of restricted stock may either be held by the
Corporation as escrow agent during the restriction period or
issued to the recipient in the form of certificates with a
legend describing the restrictions imposed on the shares.
During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
there were 55,284, 11,000 and 6,000 restricted shares
issued under either the 1993 plan or 2002 Plan. These
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grants were made at a weighted average grant date fair
value of $19.08, $12.26 and $17.70 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. At December 31, 2004, there are 55,284
restricted shares which are under the restriction period.
Unearned stock compensation is recognized for the fair
value of the restricted shares when granted and is
accounted for as a reduction of shareholders’ equity. The
balance is amortized into compensation expense over the
restriction period. Unearned stock compensation of $0.8
was recorded as a reduction of shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2004. There was no unearned stock
compensation at December 31, 2003. The Corporation has
recognized compensation expense on the grants of
restricted shares of $0.3, $0.1 and $0.1 in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Stock Option Plans for Senicr Executive Officers
Pursuant to the employment agreements of the Chief
Executive Officer and the prior Chief Financial Officer, the
Corporation established specific stock option plans for each
of these individuals. Under each of these specific plans, the
aggregate amount of options granted to purchase shares of
the Corporation’s common stock was 400,000 in 2002.
There were no options granted in 2004 and 2003. The
options were granted as nonqualified options. Option
expiration dates are ten years from the grant date. The
stock options granted vest at 33% per year for three
consecutive years. The total amount of stock options
granted under the two plans was 1,400,000. There are no
additional remaining shares to be granted under these plans.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Corporation introduced an employee stock
purchase plan in 2003 that is available to eligible employees
as defined in the plan. Under the plan, shares of the
Corporation’s common stock may be purchased at a
discount of up to 85% of the lesser of the closing price of the
Corporation's common stock on the first trading day or the
last trading day of the offering period. The offering period
(currently six months) and the offering price are subject to
change. Participants may purchase no more than twenty-
five thousand dollars of Corporation stock in a calendar year.
During 2004, 54,030 shares were purchased under the plan
compared to 43,618 shares purchased under the plan in
2003. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were
1,902,352 and 1,956,382 shares available for future
issuance, respectively.



The following table summarizes information about the
stock-based compensation plans as of December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, and changes that occurred
during the respective years:

2004 2003 2002
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Avg Avg Avg
Shares  Exercise Shares Exercise Shares Exercise
{000) Price (000) Price (000) Price
Qutstanding
Beginning of year 5,108 $13.26 4,491 $13.40 4230 © 1287
Granted 895 18.58 936 1244 1,088 15.85
Exercised (1,133) 13.24 (175) 12.08 (611) 12.42
Forfeited (1) 14.74 (144) 149 (216) 17.83
Outstanding end of
year 4,173 $14.23 5108 $13.26 4,491 $13.40
Options exercisable
at year end 3,255 §13.34 3174 $13.28 2,479 $13.41
Avg Remaining
contractual life 6.97 yrs 743 yrs 8.00 yrs
Weighted-Avg fair
valus of options
granted during the
year $2.36 $6.32 $8.36

The following table summarizes the status of stock
options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004:

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Avg Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining Avg Avg
Range of Exercise ~ Shares  Contractual Exercise Shares Exercise
Prices Per Share __ (000) _ Life(Yeas)  Price {000)  Pree
$8.60-89.75 846 6.19 $9.36 846 $9.36
$11.20- $11.46 110 6.69 1.22 110 1.2
§12.26- $12.26 689 812 12.26 226 12.26
$12.38- 81238 620 5.16 12.38 620 12.38
§12.82-$13.26 493 7.53 13.23 359 13.21
$1345-$17.50 487 6.40 14.69 486 14.70
$17.70- 318.42 27 7.18 17.73 225 17.73
$18.51-318.51 766 9.36 18.51 5 18.51
$18.68- 32347 459 5.18 2042 372 2077
$23.63 - $23.63 6 341 23.63 [ 23.63
$8.60 - $23.63 4,773 6.97 $14.23 3,255 $13.34

Under the provisions of FASB 123, as amended by
FASB 148, and further revised by FASB 123(R), which is
effective July 1, 2005, the Corporation is required to estimate
on the date of grant the fair value of each option using an
option-pricing model. Accordingly, the Biack-Scholes option
pricing model is used with the following weighted-average
assumptions: dividend yield of 1.8%, expected volatility
ranging from 34.84% to 45.39% for 2004, 52.81% for 2003
and 54.98% for 2002, risk free interest rate ranging from
3.6% to 4.6% for 2004, 3.81% for 2003 and 4.74% for 2002,
and expected life ranging from five to eight years for 2004
and eight years for 2003 and 2002. During 2004, the
Corporation, on a quarterly basis, reviewed and revised the
assumptions indicated above, thus resulting in the
assumption range in 2004. Had the Corporation adopted the
income statement recognition requirements of FASB 123,
the additional amount of before-tax compensation expense
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that would have been recognized in 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $8.0, $7.7 and $6.2, respectively.

NOTE 7 -- Reinsurance

A reconciliation of direct to net premiums, on both a written
and earned basis and a recongciliation of incurred losses is
as follows:

Direct  Assumed Ceded Net

2004
Premiums written $1,581.3 $23.1 $(150.5) $1,453.9
Premiums eamed 1,570.8 214 (145.4) 1,446.8
Losses incurred 8731 514 (146.9) 776

2003
Premiums written $1,570.4 $20.0 $(148.8) $1.4416
Premiums eamed 1,539.7 16.4 (131.7) 1424 4
Losses incurred 1,039.1 380 (224.6) 8525

2002
Premiums written $1,536.1 $16.3 $(103.8) $1,448.6
Premiums eamed 1,535.9 14.5 {99.9) 1,450.5
Losses incurred 1,081.2 283 {206.8) 802.7

During the last three fiscal years, no reinsurer accounted for
more than 15% of total ceded premiums.

The following components of the reinsurance
recoverable asset at December 31, are:

2004 2003
Reserve for uneamned premiums $ 65.6 $ 60.6
Reserve for losses 529.9 4733
Reserve for loss adjustment expenses 427 257
Allowance for reinsurance recoverable 2.3) (2.4)
Reinsurance recoveries on paid losses 30.6 355
Reinsurance recoverable $666.5 $592.7

NOTE 8 -- Other Contingencies and Commitments
Annuities are purchased from other insurers to pay certain
claim settlements. These payments are made directly to the
claimants; should such insurers be unable to meet their
obligations under the annuity contracts, the Group would be
liable to claimants for the remaining amount of annuities.
The claim reserves are presented net of the related annuities
on the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets. The total
amount of unpaid annuities was $19.0 and $19.4 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Corporation leases certain equipment and many of
its operating and office facilities for various terms under long-
term, cancelable and non-cancelable operating lease
agreements. The leases expire at various dates through
2010 and provide for renewal options ranging from one
month to five years. The facility leases provide for increases
in future minimum annual rental payments based on such
measures as increases in operating expenses and pre-
negotiated rates. Also, the facility agreements generally
require the Corporation to pay executory costs (utilities, real
estate taxes, insurance and repairs). The equipment leases
generally require the Corporation to pay taxes as determined
by the local taxing authority. Lease expense and related




items totaled $5.7, $5.9 and $7.0 during 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

The following is a schedule by year of future minimum
rental payments required under the operating lease
agreements:

Year Ending

December 31 Amount
2005 $ 54
2006 5.2
2007 37
2008 27
2009 and thereafter 3.0
Total rental payments $20.0

Total minimum lease payments do not include
contingent rentals that may be paid under certain leases.
Contingent rental payments were not significant in 2004,
2003, or 2002.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, Ohio Casualty of New
Jersey Inc. (OCNJ) entered into an agreement to transfer its
obligations to renew private passenger auto business in New
Jersey to Proformance Insurance Company (Proformance).
The transaction effectively exited the Group from the New
Jersey private passenger auto market. The Group continues
to write private passenger auto in other markets. The
contract stipulates that a premiums-to-surplus ratio of 2.5 to
1 must be maintained by Proformance on the transferred
business during the periods of March 2002 through
December 2004. If this criteria is not met, OCNJ will have to
pay up to a maximum cumutative amount of $15.6 to
Proformance to maintain this premiums-to-surplus ratio.
Based on data through December 31, 2003 as provided by
Proformance in the first quarter of 2004, the Group estimated
and accrued $9.0 (of which $6.8 was paid in July 2004)
related to this obligation. During the second half of 2004,
the Group accrued an additional $6.6. At December 31,
2004, the Group has $8.8 accrued in the consolidated
financial statements for any possible additional liability that
may be incurred based upon the final liability calculation
using Proformance's 2004 results. This amount, which is
management’s best estimate of the liability, reflects the
maximum additional amount that could be paid to
Proformance. The Corporation expects to resolve the final
setftlement to be paid to Proformance relative to the surplus
guarantee in the first half of 2005.

A proceeding entitied Carol Murray v. Ohio Casualty
Corporation, The Ohio Casualty Insurance Co., Avomark
Insurance Co., Ohio Security Insurance Co., West American
Insurance Co. (West American), American Fire and Casuaity
Insurance Co., and OCNJ was filed in the United States
District Court for the District of Columbia on February 5,
2004. A motion to change venue was granted on May 25,
2004 with the proceeding assigned to the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
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Columbus, Ohio. The plaintiff, a former automobile physical
damage claim adjuster, originally sought to certify a
nationwide collective action consisting of all current and
former salaried empioyees since February 5, 2001 who
are/were employed to process claims by policyholders and
other persons for automobile property damage. The plaintiff
has filed motions to expand the definition to include claim
specialists, representative trainees, and representatives
performing claims adjusting services. The complaint seeks
overtime compensation for the plaintiff and the class of
persons plaintiff seeks to represent. The defendants deny
the aliegations made in the complaint and are vigorously
defending themselves.

A proceeding entitied Carol Lazarus v. The Ohio
Casualty Group was brought against West American in the
Court of Common Pleas Cuyahoga County, Ohio on October
25, 1999. The Court ordered the case to proceed solely
against West American on July 10, 2003. The complaint
alleges West American improperly charged for uninsured
motorists coverage following an October 1994 decision of
the Supreme Court of Ohio in Martin v. Midwestern
Insurance Company. The Martin decision was overruled
legisliatively in September 1997. West American filed a
motion for summary judgment on December 16, 2003.
Plaintiff filed a motion for class certification on February 23,
2004. West American has responded to the motion for class
certification stating the motion is untimely (filed more than
four years after the initial complaint) and that Carol Lazarus
failed to provide sufficient evidence to satisfy the
requirements for class certification.

A proceeding entitied Douglas and Carla Scott v. The
Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, West American,
American Fire and Casualty Company, and Ohio Security
Company was filed in the District Court of Tulsa County,
State of Oklahoma and served on January 3, 2005. The
proceeding challenges the use of a certain vendor in valuing
total loss automobiles. Plaintiff alleges that use of the
database results in valuations to the detriment of the
insureds. Plaintiff is seeking class status and alleges breach
of contract, fraud and bad faith. The lawsuit is in its early
stages and will be vigorously defended.

The proceedings described above and various other
legal and regulatory proceedings are currently pending that
involve the Corporation and specific aspects of the conduct
of its business. The outcome of these proceedings is
currently unpredictable. However, at this time, based on
their present status, it is the opinion of management that the
ultimate liability, if any, in one or more of these proceedings
in excess of amounts currently reserved is not expected to
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
liquidity or results of operation of the Corporation.



NOTE 9 -- Losses and Loss Reserves
The following table presents a reconciliation of liabilities for
losses and LAE, net of reinsurance:

2004 2003 2002

Balance as of January 1, net of

reinsurance recoverables of

$496.5, $354.4 and $168.7 $2,1313 $2,079.3 $1,982.0
incurred related to:

Current year 958.1 993.3 1,045.4

Prior years (21.8) 341 844
Total incurred 936.3 1,027.4 1,129.8
Paid related to:

Current year 354.1 388.6 4236

Prior years 527.4 586.8 608.9
Total paid 881.5 975.4 1,032.5
Balance as of December 31,

net of reinsurance

recoverables of $570.3,

$496.5 and $354.4 $2,186.1 $2,131.3 $2,079.3

Each quarter management records its best estimate of
the liability for loss and LAE reserves. However, because of
the uncertainty inherent in the estimation process, the
estimate can change over time as new information is
received.

The 2004 incurred loss and LAE for prior accident years
was favorably impacted by $21.8 which includes a $0.1
change in allowance for uncollectible reinsurance. This
favorable development was concentrated in the commercial
automobile product line in the Commercial Lines operating
segment and commercial umbrella and bond product lines in
the Specialty Lines operating segment. The 2003 and 2002
incurred loss and LAE for prior accident years were
negatively impacted by $34.1 and $84.4. For the year 2003,
this development was concentrated in the general liabiiity,
workers' compensation and commercial multiple peril product
lines of the Commercial Lines operating segment and in the
personal auto product line of the Personal Lines operating
segment. For the year 2002, this was concentrated in the
general liability and commercial auto product lines of the
Commercial Lines operating segment and in the personal
auto including personal umbrelia product line of the Personal
Lines operating segment. Approximately $62.0 of loss and
LAE, net of reinsurance, was recognized in the third quarter
of 2002 related primarily to construction defect claims.

The following table presents before-tax catastrophe
losses incurred and the respective impact on the statutory
loss ratio;

2004 2003 2002

Incurred losses $43.5 $43.8 $20.8
Statutory loss

ratio effect 3.0% 3.1% 1.4%

In 2004, 2003 and 2002 there were 22, 21 and 25
catastrophes, respectively. The largest catastrophe in each
year was $8.0, $11.5 and $7.5, respectively, in incurred
losses. Additional catastrophes with over $1.0 in incurred
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losses numbered ten, nine and six in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The effect of catastrophes on the Corporation’s results
cannot be accurately predicted. Consequently, severe
weather events, acts of war or terrorist activities could have
a material adverse impact on the Corporation’s results.

The Group has three categories of loss and LAE
reserves that it considers highly uncertain, and which
therefore could have a material impact on future financial
results. These are asbestos and environmental liability
exposures, construction defect exposures, and commercial
umbrella exposures.

Loss and LAE reserves, net of reinsurance, for asbestos
and environmental exposure totaled $81.0 and $68.0 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Loss and
allocated LAE reserves, net of reinsurance, for construction
defect exposure totaled $78.3 and $86.7 at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Reserves, net of reinsurance,
for loss and LAE related to commercial umbrella totaled
$236.1 and $198.5 at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

NOTE 10 -- Earnings Per Share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are summarized as
follows:

2004 2003 2002

Net income (loss) $128.4 $758 $ (0.9
Average shares

outstanding - basic 61,509,128 60,848,718 60,494,104
Basic income (loss) per

average share $ 2.09 $1.25 $(0.01)
Net income (loss) $128.4 $ 758 $ (0.9
Effect of EITF 04-8 on net

income using “if-

converted” method 6.9 6.7 -
Adjusted net income using

“if-converted” method $135.3 $ 825 $ (0.9
Average shares

outstanding 61,509,128 60,848,718 60,494,104
Effect of dilutive securities 1,152,349 477,974 -
Effect of EITF 04-8 8,847,042  8.897,504 -
Average shares

outstanding - diluted 71,508,519 70224196 60,494,104
Diluted income (loss) per

average share $ 1.89 $1.18 _$(0.01)

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, 351,418 and
1,485,388 stock options were not included in earnings per
share calculations for 2004 and 2003, respectively, as they
were anti-dilutive. Stock options are considered anti-dilutive
under the “treasury stock method” when the average market
price of the stock for the year is less than the exercise price
of the stock options. At December 31, 2002, the Corporation
reported a net loss per share and therefore all outstanding
stock options were considered anti-dilutive as any assumed




redemption of stock options using the “treasury stock
method” would decrease the reported net loss per share.

In September 2004, the FASB finalized Emerging Issues
Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 04-8, “The Effect of
Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Earnings per
Share”. The EITF is effective for financial periods ending
after December 15, 2004. Under the new guidance, the
earnings per share treatment of those securities that contain
a contingent canversion feature require all of the shares
underlying the convertible security to be treated as
outstanding using the “if-converted” method. As a result of
this EITF, the Corporation has included approximately 8.9
million shares into its diluted earnings per share calculation
using the "if-converted" method. As required by the EITF, all
prior period earnings per share amounts have been restated
for periods presented subsequent to the March 2002
Convertible Notes issuance. The adoption of EITF 04-8
reduced previously reported diluted earnings per share by
$0.06 for the full year 2003. The adoption of EITF 04-8 did
not impact the reported diluted earnings per share for the full
year 2002 due to the reported net loss as discussed above.

NOTE 11 -- Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

2004 First Second Third Fourth
Premiums and finance

charges earmned $361.1 $367.2 $356.8 $361.7
Net investment income 50.5 48.6 44.9 57.2
Investment gains

(losses) realized 3.7 3.2 {4.3) 204
Income before

cumulative effect of

an accounting

change 20.8 32.7 19.6 56.9
Net income 19.2 327 19.6 56.9
Basic income per share

before cumulative

effect of an

accounting change 0.34 0.53 0.32 0.92
Basic net income per

share 0.31 0.53 0.32 0.92
Diluted net income per

share before

cumulative effect of

an accounting

change 0.34 0.52 0.31 0.90
Diluted net income per

share - as reported 0.31 0.52 0.31 0.90
Effect of EITF 04-8 (0.04) (0.01) (0.08)
Dituted net income per

share - as restated 0.31 0.48 0.30 0.82
2003 First Second Third Fourth
Premiums and finance

charges eamed $349.3 $351.2 $360.4 $363.5
Net investment income 53.2 51.4 51.0 53.1
Investment gains

realized 19.3 6.8 59 39
Net income 19.9 11.0 17.2 27.7
Basic net income per

share 0.33 0.18 0.28 0.46
Diluted net income per

share - as reported 0.33 0.18 0.28 0.45
Effect of EITF 04-8 (0.02) (0.01) {0.03)
Diluted net income per

share - as restated 0.31 0.18 0.27 0.42
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The quarterly diluted earings per share amounts have
been restated for 2004 and 2003 for the adoption of EITF 04-
8 as disclosed in Note 10.

NOTE 12 -- Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of changes in unrealized
gains (losses) on securities and a minimum pension liability
as detailed below:

2004 Gross Tax Net
Net income $184.9 $56.5 $128.4
Components of other
comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains arising

during the period 38.7 13.8 249

Reclassification

adjustment for gains

included in net income (33.8) (11.8) (22.0)

Minimum pension liability 2.3 0.8 1.5
Other comprehensive income 7.2 2.8 4.4
Comprehensive income $192.1 $59.3 $132.8
2003 Gross Tax Net
Netincome $107.6 $31.8 $75.8
Components of other
comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains arising

during the period 785 26.8 49.7

Reclassification

adjustment for gains

included in net income (34.3) (12.0) (22.3)

Minimum pension liability (29.1) (10.2) (18.9)

Other comprehensive income 131 46 85

Comprehensive income $1207 §36.4 $84.3
2002 Gross Tax Net
Net loss $(6.7) $ (58 $ (0.9)
Components of other
comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains arising

during the period 547 18.1 356

Reclassification

adjustment for gains

included in net income (83.4) (29.2) {54.2)

Minimum pension liability (14.8) (5.2 {9.6)
Other comprehensive loss (43.5) (15.3) (28.2)
Comprehensive loss $(50.2) $(21.1) $(28.1)

NOTE 13 -- Segment Information

The Corporation reviews and determines its reportable
segments based upon its method of internal reporting, which
is organized by product line. The Corporation aggregates
similar insurance products into product lines by accessing
the nature of the product. The property and casualty



reportable segments are Commercial Lines, Specialty Lines
and Personal Lines. These segments generate revenues by
selling a wide variety of commercial, surety and personal
insurance products. The Corporation also has an all other
reportable segment which derives its revenue from
investment income.

Each segment of the Corporation is managed
separately. The property and casualty reportable segments
are managed by assessing the performance and profitability
of the segments through analysis of industry financial
measurements including statutory loss and LAE ratios,
statutory combined ratio, premiums written, premiums
earned and statutory underwriting gain/loss. The following
tables present information by segment as it is reported
internally to management. Asset information by reportable
segment is not reported, since the Corporation does not
produce such information internally.

Reconciliation of Revenues 2004 2003 2002

Net premiums eamed for

reportable segments $1,446.6 $14244 $1,450.4
Net investment income 185.2 2049 205.8
Realized gains, net 14.0 31.9 53.0
Total property and casualty

revenues (Statutory basis) 1,645.8 1,661.2 1,709.2
Property and casualty statutory

to GAAP adjustment 17.0 3.0 (7.6)
Total revenues property and

casualty (GAAP basis) 1,662.8 1,664.2 1,701.6
Other segment revenues 8.2 48 1.2
Total revenues $1,671.0 $1,669.0 $1,702.8
Recanciliation of Underwriting

Gain/(Loss) {before tax) 2004 2003 2002
Property and casualty under-

writing gain/(loss) (before tax)

(Statutory basis) $216 $ (92.3) $(185.1}
Statutory to GAAP adjustment (15.9) (13.9) 16.3
Property and casualty under-

writing gain/(loss) (before tax)

(GAAP basis) 57 {106.2) (168.8)
Net investment income 2012 2087 2071
Realized gains, net 230 359 452
Write-down and amortization of

agent relationships (20.6) (18.7) (79.7)
Other expenses (22.8) (12.1) (10.5)
Income (loss) before income taxes

and cumulative effect of an

accounting change $186.5 $1076 $ 6.7

Commercial Lines Segment 2004 2003 2002
Net premiums written $828.2 $7926 $762.2
% change 4.5% 4.0% 10.5%
Net premiums eamed 807.9 7774 725.6
% change 3.9% 71% 25%
Underwriting loss (before tax) (0.9) (101.4) (123.1)
Specialty Lines Segment 2004 2003 2002
Net premiums written $135.5 $164.9 $179.9
% change (17.8)% (8.3)% 322%
Net premiums eamed 150.3 162.7 158.5
% change 7.6)% 26% 214%
Underwriting gain (before tax) 11.5 36.1 -
Personal Lines Segment 2004 2003 2002
Net premiums written $490.2 $484.1 $506.5
% change 1.3% 4.4)% (21.6)%
Net premiums eamed 4884 484.3 566.3
% change 0.8% (14.5% (15.2)%
Underwriting gain/{loss) (before tax) 11.0 {27.0) (62.0)
Total Property & Casuatty 2004 2003 2002
Net premiums written $1,453.9 $1,4416 $1,448.6
% change 0.8% (0.5)% (1.6)%
Net premiums eamed 1,446.6 14244 14504
% change 1.5% (1.8)% (3.71)%
Underwriting gain/(loss} (before tax) 216 (92.3) (185.1)
All Other 2004 2003 2002
Revenues $ 82 $ 48 $ 12
Write-down and amortization of
agent relationships (20.6) (18.7) (79.7)
Other expenses (22.8) (12.1) (10.5)
Net loss before income tax $(35.2) $(26.0) $(89.0)
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NOTE 14 -- Agent Relationships

The agent relationships asset is an identifiable intangible
asset acquired in connection with the GAlI commercial lines
acquisition. The Corporation follows the practice of
allocating purchase price to specifically identifiable intangible
assets based on their estimated values as determined by
appropriate valuation methods. In the GAl acquisition, the
purchase price was allocated to agent relationships and
deferred policy acquisition costs. Agent relationships are
evaluated quarterly as events or circumstances indicate a
possible inability to recover their carrying amount. As a
result of the evaluation, the agent relationship asset was
written down before tax by $13.7, $11.3 and $69.5 in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, for agency cancellations and
for certain agents determined to be impaired based on
updated estimated future undiscounted cash flows that were
insufficient to recover the carrying amount of the asset for
the agent. The agent relationships asset balance was
$122.0 and $142.6, net of accumulated amortization of $41.4
and $39.1, at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, the remaining portion of the agent
relationships asset will be amortized on a straight-line basis
over the remaining useful period of approximately 19 years.




Based on historical data the remaining agents have
been profitable. Future cancellation of agents included in
the agent relationships asset or a diminution of certain
former Great American agents’ estimated future revenues or
profitability is likely to cause further impairment losses
beyond the quarterly amortization of the remaining asset
value over the remaining useful lives.

NOTE 15 -- Statutory Accounting Information

The following information has been prepared on the basis of
statutory accounting principles which differ from generally
accepted accounting principles. The principal differences
relate to deferred policy acquisition costs, reinsurance,
assets not admitted for statutory reporting, agent
relationships and the treatment of deferred income taxes.

2004 2003 2002

Statutory net income $163.7 $119.1 $75.1
Statutory policyholders’

surplus 972.0 867.6 725.7

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company (the Company),
domiciled in Ohio, prepares its statutory financial statements
in accordance with the accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by the Ohio Insurance Department. Prescribed
statutory accounting practices include a variety of
publications of the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (NAIC), as well as state laws, regulations
and general administrative rules. Permitted statutory
accounting practices encompass all accounting practices not
so prescribed.

For statutory purposes, the agent relationships asset
related to the GAIl acquisition was taken as a direct charge to
surplus.

The NAIC has developed a "Risk-Based Capital"
formula for property and casualty insurers and life insurers.
The formula is intended to measure the adequacy of an
insurer's capital given the asset and liability structure and
product mix of the company. As of December 31, 2004 and
2003, all insurance companies in the Group exceeded the
necessary capital requirements.

The Corporation is dependent on dividend payments
from its insurance subsidiaries in order to meet operating
expenses, debt obligations and to pay shareholder
dividends. Insurance regulatory authorities impose various
restrictions and prior approval requirements on the payment
of dividends by insurance companies and holding
companies. At December 31, 2004, approximately $138.3 of
the Company's statutory surplus is not subject to restriction
or prior dividend approval requirements compared to
approximately $86.8 at December 31, 2003. Additional
restrictions limiting the amount of dividends paid by the
Company to the Corporation may result from the minimum
net worth and surplus requirements in the credit agreement.

The Group paid dividends to policyholders of $1.4, $2.9
and $5.6 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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NOTE 16 -- Debt
The following table represents outstanding debt of the
Corporation at December 31:

2004 2003
Convertible Debt (net of issuance costs
of $6.3 and $6.9, respectively) $182.5 $194.3
Senior Debt (net of discount and
issuance costs of $2.4) 197.6 -
Ohio Loan 32 39
Other - 0.2)
Total Debt $383.3 $198.0

On June 29, 2004, the Corporation issued $200.0 of
7.3% Senior Notes due June 15, 2014 (Senior Notes). The
net proceeds from the issuance after related fees and
discount were $198.0. In the fourth quarter 2004, the
Corporation used part of the net proceeds to repurchase
$12.5 of the $201.3 aggregate principal amount of its 5.00%
Convertible Notes due March 19, 2022 (Convertible Notes)
and intends to use the remainder of the net proceeds to
redeem the balance of its Convertible Notes. The
Corporation may also use the net proceeds to repurchase
shares of its common stock in an amount up to the
equivalent number of shares issued if holders convert their
Convertible Notes into shares of the Corporation’s common
stock. The repayment of the Convertible Notes will reduce
the potential for significant future share and earnings
dilution. Until the funds are needed for such purposes, the
Corporation has invested the net proceeds from the Senior
Notes in short-term marketable securities. Interestis
payable on the Convertibie Notes on March 19 and
September 19 and payable on the Senior Notes on June 15
and December 15.

The Convertible and Senior Notes are reported on the
consolidated balance sheets net of unamortized issuance-
related costs and discount of $8.7 ($6.3 related to the
Convertible Notes and $2.4 related to the Senior Notes) and
$6.9 (all related to the Convertible Notes) at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The Corporation uses the
effective interest rate method to record interest expense,
amortization of issuance-related costs and amortization of
the discount.

Hotders of the Convertible Notes have the option to
require the Corporation to purchase all or a portion of the
Convertible Notes on March 19 of 2007, 2012 and 2017 at
100% of the principal amount. Further, if a change in control
of the Corporation occurs anytime prior to maturity, holders
may require the Corporation to purchase for cash all or a
portion of the Convertible Notes at 100% of the principal
amount.

Under certain conditions, at the option of the holders,
the Convertible Notes may be converted into shares of the
Corporation's common stock at the rate of 44.2112 shares
per $1,000 principal amount, subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances. If the closing sale price of the Corporation's
common stock for at least twenty of the thirty consecutive
trading days ending on the last trading day of a calendar
quarter is more than $24.88, then the Convertible Notes may
be converted during the immediately following calendar



guarter. Additionally, the Convertible Notes may be
converted when the credit rating of the Convertible Notes is
below a specified level or withdrawn, or when certain
corporate transactions occur. At December 31, 2004, if all
the outstanding Convertible Notes were converted, total
outstanding common shares would increase by 8.3 million
shares compared to 8.9 million shares at December 31,
2003.

After March 22, 2005, the Corporation has the option to
redeem all or a portion of the outstanding Convertible Notes
at the following redemption prices, expressed as
percentages of the principal amount of the Convertible
Notes:

During the twelve Redemption
months commencing Price
March 23, 2005 102%
March 19, 2006 101%
March 19, 2007 until maturity of the notes 100%

On February 22, 2005, the Corporation announced that
it has commenced an exchange offer under which the
Corporation is offering to exchange up to $184.3 of new
5.00% Convertible Notes due 2022 for an equal principal
amount of its currently outstanding Convertible Notes. The
exchange offer is being made pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The new notes will
have substantially similar terms to the old notes, except that
the new notes will include a net share settlement feature and
a cash exchange fee payable to the holder of the old notes
in an amount equal to 0.35% of the principal amount of the
old notes exchanged. The net share settlement feature will
require the Corporation upon conversion to pay cash up to
the principal amount of the new notes and pay any
conversion consideration in excess of the principal amount in
common shares. The exchange offer will expire at 12:00
midnight EST on March 21, 2005, uniess extended or
terminated by the Corporation. The Corporation plans to
redeem all or a portion of the new notes and the old notes, to
the extent any remain outstanding, shortly after the
completion of this exchange offer. The Corporation intends
to use the proceeds of the Senior Note offering discussed
above to accomplish this redemption. In 2005, prior to the
commencement of this exchange offer, the Corporation
repurchased $4.5 of the Convertible Notes in unsolicited
negotiated transactions.

The impact of the Convertible Notes on diluted earnings
per share is based upon the "if-converted" method. In
accordance with EITF 04-8, all diluted earnings per share
amounts have been restated since the issuance of the
Convertible Notes in March 2002. (See Note 10).

On July 31, 2002, the Corporation entered into a
revolving credit agreement expiring on March 15, 2005.
Under the terms of the credit agreement, the lenders agreed
to make loans to the Corporation in an aggregate amount up
to $80.0 for general corporate purposes. Interest is payable
in arrears, and the interest rate on borrowings under the
credit agreement is based on a margin over LIBOR or the
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LaSalle Bank Prime Rate, at the option of the Corporation.
The Corporation has capitalized approximately $0.4 in fees
related to establishing the line of credit and amortizes the
fees over the term of the agreement with a remaining
unamortized balance at December 31, 2004 of less than
$0.1 compared to $0.2 at December 31, 2003. n addition,
the Corporation is obligated to pay agency fees and facility
fees of up to $0.2 annually. These fees are expensed when
incurred by the Corporation. The agreement requires the
Corporation to maintain minimum net worth of $800.0. The
credit agreement also includes a minimum statutory surplus
for The Ohio Casualty insurance Company of $650.0.
Additionally, other financial covenants and other customary
provisions, as defined in the agreement, exist. At December
31, 2004, the Corporation was in compliance with all
financial covenants and other provisions. There were no
barrowings outstanding under the revolving line of credit at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In February
2005 the revolving credit agreement was renewed, under the
same terms and conditions, for one year and wili expire on
March 15, 2006.

In addition to the debt described above, the Corporation
has a $6.5 loan with the State of Ohio that is secured by a
mortgage on the Corporation's home office property. As of
December 31, 2004, the loan bears a fixed interest rate of
3%, compared to an interest rate of 2% at December 31,
2003. The loan requires annual principal payments of
approximately $0.6 and expires in November 2009. The
remaining balance at December 31, 2004 was $3.2
compared to $3.9 at December 31, 2003.

Interest expense incurred for the years ending
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $17.5, $10.1 and
$9.5, respectively. The increase in interest expense incurred
during 2004 was related to the issuance of the Senior Notes
in June 2004,

NOTE 17 -- Shareholders Rights Plan

In February 1998, the Board of Directors adopted an
amended and restated Shareholders Rights Agreement (the
Agreement). The Agreement is designed to deter coercive
or unfair takeover tactics and to prevent a person(s) from
gaining control of the Corporation without offering a fair price
to all shareholders.

Under the terms of the Agreement, each outstanding
common share is associated with one half of one common
share purchase right, expiring in 2009. Currently, each
whole right, when exercisable, entitles the registered holder
to purchase one common share of the Corporation at a
purchase price of $125 per share.

The rights become exercisable for a 60 day period
commencing eleven business days after a public
announcement that a person or group has acquired shares
representing 20 percent or more of the outstanding shares of
common stock, without the prior approvat of the Board of
Directors; or eleven business days following commencement
of a tender or exchange of 20 percent or more of such
outstanding shares of common stock.




if after the rights become exercisable, the Corporation is
involved in a merger, other business consolidation or 50
percent or more of the assets or earning power of the
Corporation is sold, the rights will then entitle the
rightholders, upon exercise of the rights, to receive shares of
common stock of the acquiring company with a market vaiue
equal to twice the exercise price of each right.

The Corporation can redeem the rights for $0.01 per
right at any time prior to becoming exercisable.

NOTE 18 -- Variable Interest Entity

The Corporation currently holds an equity investment in APM
Spring Grove, Inc. (APM), which was deemed a variable
interest entity in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 46
- Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46). As a
result, APM was consolidated into the Corporation's financial
statements effective January 1, 2004, in accordance with the
provisions of FIN 46, which resulted in a $1.6 (net of tax)
loss due to a cumulative effect of an accounting change.
The investment relates to an agreement in 1984, which
created APM, whose largest asset is an office building
located in Cincinnati, Ohio. APM's only source of revenue is
derived from leasing the office building. The rental income
on the office building is used by APM to repay principal and
interest on bonds owned by the Corporation that were issued
to purchase the building. The Corporation’s maximum
exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with APM is
$3.3. As of December 31, 2004, APM had total assets and
total liabilities of $0.7 and $2.1, respectively.

NOTE 19 -- Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the FASB finalized Statement 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment,” effective for public companies for
interim and annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005.
Statement 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and amends
FASB Statement No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” FASB
123R requires all share-based payments to employees,
including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized
as compensation expense in the income statement at fair
value. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative. The
Corporation will adopt the provisions of FASB 123(R)
effective July 1, 2005.

FASB 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its
requirements using one of two methods: (1) modified
prospective or (2) modified retrospective. The Corporation
plans to adopt using the modified prospective method in
which compensation expense is recognized beginning July
1, 2005 (a) based on the requirements of FASB 123(R) for
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all share-based payments granted after the July 1, 2005 and
(b) based on the requirements of FASB 123 for all awards
granted to employees prior to July 1, 2005 that remain
unvested on that date.

The adoption of FASB 123(R) fair value method is
expected to increase the Corporation's compensation
expense by $3.0 to $4.0 in 2005. This impact could change
materially from the estimate based upon the Corporation’s
use of share-based payments granted in the future. Had the
Corporation adopted FASB 123(R) in prior periods, the
impact of that standard would have approximated the impact
of FASB 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net
income and earnings per share in Note 6.

FASB 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense
to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow as required under current accounting
literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash
flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after
the adoption.

In March 2004, the FASB approved the consensus
reached on the EITF Issue No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-
Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain
Investments.” The objective of this consensus is to provide
guidance for identifying impaired investments. EITF 03-1
also provides new disclosure requirements for investments
that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. Originally, the
accounting provisions of EITF 03-1 were effective for all
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004, while the
disclosure requirements are effective only for annual periods
ending after June 15, 2004. In September 2004, the FASB
issued two FASB Staff Positions (FSP), FSP EITF 03-1-a
and FSP EITF 03-1-1, which delayed the measurement and
recognition paragraphs of the consensus for further
discussion. The disclosure requirements remain effective as
originally issued under EITF 03-1 and have been adopted by
the Corporation. The Corporation has evaluated the impact
of the adoption of EITF 03-1, as written, and does not
believe the impact is significant to the Corporation's overall
results of operations or financial position at December 31,
2004. However, as currently written, the consensus could
have a significant impact on future results. The Corporation
will continue to monitor the developments of the FASB and
EITF regarding the measurement and recognition
paragraphs of this consensus.



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders, Ohio Casualty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Ohio Casualty Corporation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedules listed in the
Index at ltem 15(a). These financial statements and
schedules are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and schedules based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Ohio Casualty
Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the
information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Ohio Casualty
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 1, 2005,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Samt ¥ MLLP

Ernst & Young LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
March 1, 2005




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders, Ohio Casualty Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Ohio
Casualty Corporation maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). Ohio Casualty Corporation’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal controi over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
inciuded obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, evaluating management's
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company'’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are
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recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generaily accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Ohio
Casualty Corporation maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly
stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in our opinion, Ohio Casualty Corporation
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of
Ohio Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004 and our report dated March 1,
2005, expressed an unquaiified opinion thereon.

St ¥

Ernst & Young LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
March 1, 2005

LLP
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Ohio Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Summary of investments
Other than Investments in Related Parties
(In millions)

December 31, 2004

Schedule |

Amount shown
Type of investment Cost Value in balance sheet
Fixed maturities: Available-for-sale
Bonds:
U.S. Government $ 319 $ 334 $ 334
States, municipalities and
political subdivisions 1,018.4 1,034.6 1,034.6
Corporate securities 1,614.4 1,744.8 1,744.8
Mortgage-backed securities:
U.S. government guaranteed 7.2 7.6 76
Other 504.9 525.7 525.7
Total fixed maturities
Available-for-sale 3,176.8 3,346.1 3,346.1
Fixed maturities; Held-to-maturity
Corporate securities 164.7 166.6 164.7
Mortgage-backed securities:
Other 136.7 136.5 136.7
Total fixed maturities
Held-to-maturity 301.4 303.1 301.4
Equity securities:
Common stocks:
Banks, trust and insurance
companies 21.8 110.6 110.6
Industrial, miscelianeous and
all other 771 246.8 246.8
Total equity securities 98.9 357.4 357.4
Short-term investments 239.9 2391 239.1
Total investments $ 38170 $ 42457 $ 42440
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Schedule Il
Onio Casualty Corporation
Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
(In millions)

2004 2003 2002
Condensed Balance Sheet:
Investment in wholly-owned
subsidiaries, at equity $ 13422 $ 12850 $ 11978
Investment in fixed maturities and equity
securities, at fair value 133.2 442 40.7
Cash and other assets 209.6 18.8 21.0
Total assets 1,685.0 1,348.0 1,259.5
Notes payable 383.3 198.0 198.3
Other liabilities 6.8 42 2.5
Total liabilities 390.1 202.2 200.8
Shareholders' equity $ 12949 $ 11458 $ 1,0587
Condensed Statement of Income:
Dividends from subsidiaries $ 86.7 $ - $ 250
Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 52.0 79.8 (19.3)
Operating expenses (10.3) (4.0) (6.6)
Net income (loss) $ 128.4 $ 75.8 $ (0.9)
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows:
Operating activities
Net distributed income (loss) $ 76.4 3 (4.0) $ 18.4
Other 2.7 5.4 1.6
Net cash provided by operating activities 79.1 1.4 20.0
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed maturity and equity securities (134.2) (29.1) (55.5)
Sales of fixed maturities and equity securities 45.5 26.1 30.5
Net cash used in investing activities (88.7) (3.0) (25.0)
Financing activities
Debt:
Proceeds 199.3 - 201.3
Repayments (13.0) (0.6) (205.6)
Payment for deferred financing costs - - (0.4)
Payment for issuance costs (1.3) - (7.4)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 151 2.2 7.5
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities 200.1 1.6 (4.6)
Net change in ¢cash 190.5 - (9.6)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 0.4 0.4 10.0
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 190.9 $ 0.4 $ 04
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Ohio Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Reinsurance
(In millions)

December, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Schedule IV

Percent of
amount
Ceded to Assumed assumed
Gross other from other Net to net
amount companies companies amount amount
Year Ended December 31, 2004
Premiums written
Property and casualty insurance $ 15812 $ 1504 $ 231 $ 14539 1.6%
Accident and health insurance 0.1 0.1 - - -
Total premiums written 1,581.3 150.5 231 1,453.9 1.6%
Change in unearned premiums and finance charges (7.3)
Total premiums and finance charges eamed 1,446.6
Miscellaneous income 0.2
Total premiums and finance charges eamed $ 14468
Year Ended December 31, 2003
Premiums written
Property and casualty insurance $ 15703 $ 1487 $ 20.0 $ 14416 1.4%
Accident and health insurance 0.1 0.1 - - -
Total premiums written 1,570.4 148.8 20.0 1,441.6 1.4%
Change in unearned premiums and finance charges (17.2)
Total premiums and finance charges earned $ 14244
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Premiums written
Property and casualty insurance $ 15360 $ 1037 $ 16.3 $ 14486 1.1%
Accident and health insurance 0.1 0.1 - - -
Total premiums written 1,536.1 103.8 16.3 1,448.6 1.1%
Change in uneamned premiums and finance charges 1.7
Total premiums and finance charges eamed 1,450.3
Miscellaneous income 0.2
Total premiums and finance charges earned $ 14505
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Ohio Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Year ended December 31, 2004
Reserve for bad debt
Reserve for uncollectible

reinsurance recoverable

Year ended December 31, 2003
Reserve for bad debt
Reserve for uncollectible

reinsurance recoverable

Year ended December 31, 2002
Reserve for bad debt
Reserve for uncollectible

reinsurance recoverable

(in millions)

Balance at
beginning
of period

$4.2

2.4

$4.3

0.5

$8.4

81

Charged to
expenses

$0.1

(0.1)

($0.1)

1.9

(34.1)

0.5

Schedule V

Balance at
end of
period

$4.3

2.3

$4.2

24

$4.3

0.5
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Exhibit 4a

Exhibit 10.1

Exhibit 10.2

Exhibit 10.3

Exhibit 21

Exhibit 23

Exhibit 31.1

Exhibit 31.2

Exhibit 32.1

Exhibit 32.2

Form 10-K
Ohio Casualty Corporation
index to Exhibits
Certificate of Adjustment by the Registrant dated as of July 1, 1899
Form of Change in Control Agreement entered into between the Registrant and Mike E. Sullivan

Amended and Restated Ohio Casualty Corporation Directors Deferred Compensation Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement entered into between the Registrant and Dan R. Carmichael
for stock options granted on December 12, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm to incorporation of their opinion by
reference in Registration Statements on Forms S-3 (Nos. 333-29483, 333-88532, and 333-
105092) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-42944, 333-73738, 333-73740, 333-88398 and 333-91906)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Ohio Casualty Corporation in accordance with SEC
Rule 13(a)-14(a)/15(d)-14(a)

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Ohio Casualty Corporation in accordance with SEC
Rule 13(a)-14(a)/15(d)-14(a)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Ohio Casualty Corporation in accordance with Section
1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Ohio Casualty Corporation in accordance with Section
1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Exhibits incorporated by reference:

Exhibit 3(i)

Exhibit 3(ii)

Exhibit 4b

Exhibit 4c

Exhibit 4d

Exhibit 4e

Exhibit 4f

Articles of Incorporation, as amended, filed as Exhibit 3 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on
March 27, 2003

Code of Regulations, as amended, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-Q on
May 13, 2003

First amendment to the Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of February 19,
1998, signed November 8, 2001, filed as Exhibit 4b to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on
March 5, 2002

Ohio Casualty Corporation’s Registration Statement for Convertible Notes due 2022 filed on
Form S-3 (333-88532) on May 17, 2002

First Amendment to the Ohio Casualty Corporation’s Registration Statement for Convertible
Notes due 2022 filed on Form S-3A (333-88532) on June 4, 2002

Ohio Casualty Corporation's Registration Statement for Universal Shelf filed on Form S-3 (333-
105092) on May 8, 2003

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 29, 2004, between Ohic Casualty Corporation
and Citibank, N.A. as trustee, relating to the Senior Notes, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's
SEC Form 8-K on June 30, 2004
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Exhibit 10a

Exhibit 10b

Exhibit 10¢c

Exhibit 10d

Exhibit 10e

Exhibit 10f

Exhibit 10g

Exhibit 10h

Exhibit 10i

Exhibit 10j

Exhibit 10k

Exhibit 10l

Exhibit 10m

Exhibit 10n

Exhibit 100

Exhibit 10p

Form 10-K
Ohio Casualty Corporation
Index to Exhibits, Continued

Employment Agreement with Dan R. Carmichael dated December 12, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10
to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 30, 2001

Separation Agreement with Donald F. McKee dated May 10, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant's SEC Form 8-K on May 10, 2004

Stock Option Agreement for Directors' year 2000 grant, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
SEC Form 10-Q on May 15, 2000

Stock Option Agreement for Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer dated
September 19, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 27, 2003

Replacement carrier agreement between Ohio Casualty of New Jersey, Inc. and Proformance
Insurance Company and its parent, National Atlantic Holdings Carporation, filed as Exhibit 10k
to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 5, 2002

Ohio Casualty Corporation 2002 Stock Incentive Program, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant's SEC Form 10-Q on May 14, 2002

Chio Casualty Corporation 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant's SEC Form 10-Q on May 14, 2002

Credit Agreement dated as of July 31, 2002 between Ohio Casualty Corporation and LaSalle
Bank National Association and certain other lenders, filed as Exhibit 10 to the Registrant's SEC
Form 10-Q on August 14, 2002

Amended and Restated Ohio Casualty Corporation Director's Deferred Compensation Plan filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 27, 2003

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company Supplemental Executive Savings Plan, amended
effective June 1, 2002 filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 27,
2003

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company 2002 Officer Annual Incentive Program filed as Exhibit
10.3 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 27, 2003

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company 2003 Executive Management Team Annual Incentive
Program filed as Exhibit 10 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-Q on August 3, 2004

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company Benefit Equalization Plan filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 27, 2003

The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company Deferred Compensation Plan (Dan R. Carmichael) filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 27, 2003

Form of Amended Change in Control Agreement entered into between the Registrant and each
of the following executive officers: John S. Busby, Debra K. Crane, Ralph G. Goode, John S.
Kellington, Elizabeth M. Riczko, Thomas E. Schadler, Michael A. Winner, Derrick D. Shannon
and Howard L. Sloneker Il filed as Exhibit 1e to the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 12,
2004

Ohio Casualty Corporation Agent Share Plan on Form S-3 (333-29483) filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
the Registrant's SEC Form 10-K on March 12, 2004
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Directors and Officers®

Ohio Casualty Corporatios

Lead Director
Ohio Casualty Corporation; Chairman of
the Board for subsidiary companies

Staniey N. Pontius

Former President and Chief Executive
Officer, First Financial Bancorp and its
Principal Subsidiary, First Financial Bank

Directors

Terrence J. Baehr

Managing Director, Prudential Financial
Account, and Vice President, Sales,
Americas East Region, IBM Corporation

William P. Boardman
Former Senior Advisor to Goldman Sachs;
Retired executive of Bank One Corporation

Jack E. Brown
Executive Vice President,
Global AC Nielsen

Dan R. Carmichael, CPCU
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Ohio Casualty Corporation

Catherine E. Dolan
Senior Vice President,
Community Development Finance,
Wachovia Bank, N.A.

Philip G. Heasley
Former Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, First USA

Ralph S. Michael lll
Executive Vice President and Manager,
West Commercial Banking US Bank, N.A.

Robert A. Dakley
Arthur Shepard Executive-in-Residence,
‘sher College of Business, The Ohio
ste University; Former Executive Vice
sident and CFQ, Nationwide Mutuat
rance Company and Nationwide
cial Services, Inc.
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LJIT@CTOrS (continued)
Jan H. Suwinski

Professor of Business Operations,
The Johnson Graduate Schoal of
Management, Cornell University;
Former Executive Vice President,
Optoelectronics Group, Corning, Inc.

Michael L. Wright
Chief Operating Officer, Morris Associates

Execulive O cers
Dan R. Carmichael, CPCU - President
and Chief Executive Officer

Elizabeth M. Riczko, FCAS, MAAA,
CPCU - President, Insurance Operations

Michael A. Winner, CPA — Exccutive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Debra K. Crane — Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

John 8. Bushy, CPCU - Executive Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer,
Specialty Lines

Derrick D. Shannon, FCAS, MAAA,
CPCU - Senior Vice President,
Personal Lines

Michael E. Sullivan, Jr. — Senior Vice
President, Commercial Lines

Ralph G. Goode, CPCU - Senior Vice
President, Claims

John 8. Kellington — Senior Vice
President and Chief Technology Officer

Thomas E. Schadler, FCAS, MAAA —
Senior Vice President and Chief Actuary

Howard L. Sloneker Il — Senior Vice
President, Human Resources

*As of January 31, 2005

Ohio Casualty Corporation is committed to sound

~ principles of corporate governance and we believe

+ that they are important to gain and retain the trust

- of investors, employees and customers. The

Corporation has taken several actions to demon-
strate that commitment.

|

\
We rely on our independent directors to bring us [
diverse business experience and knowledge as well
as sound judgment. Ten of our current eleven direc- |
tors are considered independent under Nasdaq's
listing standards. Our Corporate Governance
Principles provide guidance and insight into the
Corporation's system of corporate governance and
also guides the Board in remaining informed and
involved. Our Board of Directors has standing Audit,
Finance, Governance, Executive Compensation and
Executive Committees. In addition to the Code of |
Fthics for Senior Financial Officers, the Corporation |
has also adopted the Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, which every director and employee of the
Corporation is bound to follow. All employees were
required to complete a training session on the

¢ Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

. during 2004. Recognizing the evalving dynamic

© views about corporate governance, the Board

. intends t0 review its governance documents on an

ongaing basis. Chio Casualty Corporation also has
in place an Ethics & Compliance Hotline at 1-888-
270-5938 as a reporting mechanism for employees,
shareholders, agents and the general public regard-
ing issues and concerns about employee and busi-
ness practices. Callers to the hotline may remain

. anonymous. These are the guidelines by which we
' goverm ourselves.

. We take corporate governance seriously and will
" continue to serve the long-term interests of our

shareholders. You can access our Corporate
Governance Principles, information about our Board

' of Directors and Board Committees, current charters

for our Audit, Executive Compensation, Finance and
Governance Committees, and Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics in the “Corporate Governance”
section of www.ocas.com or by writing to:

Corporate Communications Department
Ohio Casualty Corporation

9450 Seward Road, Fairfield OH 45014
Phone: 1-800-THE-OHIO

Shareholders may also communicate with the Board
or any of the directors by calling 1-888-270-5939 or
sending written communications addressed to the
Board or any of the directors, ¢/o Secretary, Ohio
Casualty Corporation, 9450 Seward Road, Fairfreld,
OH 45014. All shareholder communications are
compiled by the Secretary for Board review.




Shareholder Information

i

The Form 10-K Annual Report for 2004, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, is available with-
out charge upon written request to:

Ohio Casualty Corporation

Office of the Chief Financial Officer
9450 Seward Road

Fairfield, Ohio 45014

EquiServe Trust Cbmpany, N.A.
P.O. Box 43069
Providence, RI 02940-3069

1-800-317-4445
Hearing impaired: 1-800-952-9245

Registered holders of common stock may make
voluntary cash payments of up to $60,000 yearly
toward the purchase of Ohio Casualty Corporation
shares. Participation is entirely voluntary.

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at
10:30 a.m. on Wednesday, May 18, 2005, in the Ohio
Casualty University Auditorium of the Ohio Casualty :
Corporation Headquarters, 9450 Seward Road, Fairfield, |
Ohio 45014.

The site contains current governance information,
financial information and related press releases issued
by Ohio Casualty Corporation, as well as other corpo-
rate, stockholder and bondholder information. The
Website includes information about the Webcast of quar-
terly earnings release shareholder and analyst conference
calls. Shareholders are welcome to access the calls
through the Webcast. The site also provides links to the
Corporation’s documents filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC).

OHIO CASUALTY
CORPORATION




